REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 14, 2013 TO MAY 30, 2013

Last amendment in force on May 14, 2013
This document has official status

chapter V-1.1,r. 24

REGULATION 51-102 RESPECTING CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS(b
Securities Act (19

(chapter V-1.1, s. 331.1) Q .
PART 1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION ~\(b
1.1. Definitions and Interpretation @v

(2) In this Regulation: &O

"acquisition date" has the same meaning as IR% issuer's GAAP;

"AlIF" means a completed Form 51-10?§égxnnual Information Form or, in the
case of an SEC issuer, a completed Form 51-342F2 or an annual report or transition
report under the 1934 Act on Form 10-K or Bgrm 20-F;

"approved rating organization;hsans each of DBRS Limited, Fitch Ratings Ltd.,

Moody's Investors Service, Standa?& oor's and any of their successors;

flows of a discrete pool rtgages, receivables or other financial assets, fixed or
revolving, that by their convert into cash within a finite period and any rights or
other assets design@. ssure the servicing or the timely distribution of proceeds to
securityholders;

"asset-backed securi:§"$ns a security that is primarily serviced by the cash

"boar #ectors” means, for a person that does not have a board of directors,
an individ roup that acts in a capacity similar to a board of directors;

mess acquisition report” means a completed Form 51-102F4 Business
Acq%itlon Report;

\e "class" includes a series of a class;

"common share"” means an equity security to which are attached voting rights
exercisable in all circumstances, irrespective of the number or percentage of securities
owned, that are not less, per security, than the voting rights attached to any other
outstanding securities of the reporting issuer;
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"corporate law" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 54-101
respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer
(chapter V-1.1, r. 29);

"date of transition to IFRS" means the date of transition to IFRSs as that term_s
defined in Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises; ,\

"electronic format" has the same meaning as in Regulation 13-101 re@ting
System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (SEDAR) (chapter V-1.1¥r. 2);

)
"equity investee” means a business that the issuer has irﬁ}e}ted in and
accounted for using the equity method; 4

"exchange-traded security” means a security that is@ on a recognized
exchange or is quoted on a recognized quotation and trade ting system or is listed
on an exchange or quoted on a quotation and trade repg ystem that is recognized
for the purposes of Regulation 21-101 respeCt Marketplace Operation
(chapter V-1.1,r.5) and Regulation 23-10}\‘5respecting Trading Rules
(chapter V-1.1, r. 6); Q

"executive officer" means, for a reporting ig8uer, an individual who is
)
(@) achair, vice-chair or presidexy;

(a.1) a chief executive offi ~kchief financial officer;

including sales, finance or ction; or

(b) a vice-presideg i@arge of a principal business unit, division or function

(© perforn@g)olicy-making function in respect of the issuer;

"financia L%Ok" means forward-looking information about prospective financial

< é "financial statements" includes interim financial reports;

"first IFRS financial statements" has the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP
applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;

"FOFI", or "future-oriented financial information”, means forward-looking
information about prospective financial performance, financial position or cash flows,
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based on assumptions about future economic conditions and courses of action, and
presented in the format of a historical statement of financial position, statement of
comprehensive income or statement of cash flows;

"form of proxy" means a document containing the information required under
section 9.4 that, on completion and execution by or on behalf of a securityholdgy,
becomes a proxy; '\a:)

"forward-looking information” means disclosure regarding possibldﬁnts,
conditions or financial performance that is based on assumptions about future edénomic
conditions and courses of action and includes future-oriented financial i ation with
respect to prospective financial performance, financial position or ¢a lows that is
presented either as a forecast or a projection; i

"information circular" means a completed Form 51-102F@Xr~naﬁon Circular;

"informed person" means ,@

(@) a director or executive officer of a reporf@ issuer;

(b) a director or executive officer of ?-&on that is itself an informed person
or subsidiary of a reporting issuer;
)

(c) any person who beneficimwns, or controls or directs, directly or
indirectly, voting securities of a repagtg issuer or a combination of both carrying more
than 10% of the voting rights a?,;; ed to all outstanding voting securities of the
reporting issuer other than voti ecurities held by the person as underwriter in the
course of a distribution; and

(d) a reportin er that has purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired
any of its securities, ong as it holds any of its securities;

"Iinter-de egond broker" means a person that is approved by the Investment
Industry Re &ofy Organization of Canada under its Rule 36 Inter-Dealer Bond
Brokerage ms, as amended, and is subject to its Rule 36 and its Rule 2100 Inter-
Dealer rokerage Systems, as amended;

Q"lnterim period" means,
\ @) in the case of a year other than a non-standard year or a transition year, a

period commencing on the first day of the financial year and ending 9, 6 or 3 months
before the end of the financial year,
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(a.1) in the case of a non-standard year, a period commencing on the first day
of the financial year and ending within 22 days of the date that is 9, 6 or 3 months
before the end of the financial year; or

(b) in the case of a transition year, a period commencing on the first day of
the transition year and ending

0] 3, 6, 9 or 12 months, if applicable, after the end of the old fi@%ial

year; or (1/

(i) 12, 9, 6 or 3 months, if applicable, before the end ?B@’transition
year;

"issuer's GAAP" has the same meaning as in Regulay 2-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (ch -1.1, r. 25);

"MD&A" means a completed Form 51-102F%{{@gement's Discussion &
Analysis or, in the case of an SEC issuer, a CoNpleted Form 51-102F1 or
management's discussion and analysis prepared'\ﬁbaccordance with Item 303 of
Regulation S-K under the 1934 Act;

Q
"marketplace" means (l/
o

(b)  aquotation and tradev;grting system;

(a)  anexchange;

(c) any other pe

%
0] con S, maintains or provides a market or facility for bringing
together buyers and @. of securities;

(i

sellers; and C)

iii)  uses established, non-discretionary methods under which the
order, ract with each other, and the buyers and sellers entering the orders agree to
the éms of a trade; or

% rings together the orders for securities of multiple buyers and

(d)  adealer that executes a trade of an exchange-traded security outside of a
marketplace, but does not include an inter-dealer bond broker;

"material change" means
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(@) a change in the business, operations or capital of the reporting issuer that
would reasonably be expected to have a significant effect on the market price or value
of any of the securities of the reporting issuer; or

(b)  adecision to implement a change referred to in paragraph (a) made by the
board of directors or other persons acting in a similar capacity or by senior managemegt
of the reporting issuer who believe that confirmation of the decision by the boa %
directors or any other persons acting in a similar capacity is probable; Q

"material contract” means any contract that an issuer or any of its subsﬁjlfries is
a party to, that is material to the issuer; (.b 4

"mineral project” has the same meaning as in Regulation%-lOl respecting
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (chapter V-1.1, r. 15!;?

"new financial year" means the financial year of a repor'@ suer that immediately

follows a transition year; &

"non-standard year" means a financial yeat, er than a transition year, that
does not have 365 days, or 366 days if it includeséﬁ&ruary 29;

"non-voting security” means a restricte(rlécurity that does not carry the right to
vote generally, except for a right to vote thB‘is mandated, in special circumstances, by

law;
S |

"notice-and-access” has same meaning as in section 1.1 of
Regulation 54-101 respecting unication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a

Reporting Issuer;
"old financial ysmeans the financial year of a reporting issuer that
immediately precede, Ansition year;

"operati%ixme" means gross revenue minus royalty expenses and production

costs;
O

! nce share" means a security to which is attached a preference or right
over curities of any class of equity securities of the reporting issuer, but does not
incl an equity security;

\e "principal obligor" means, for an asset-backed security, a person that is obligated
to make payments, has guaranteed payments, or has provided alternative credit support
for payments, on financial assets that represent one-third or more of the aggregate
amount owing on all of the financial assets servicing the asset-backed security;
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"private enterprise" has the same meaning as in Part 3 of Regulation 52-107
respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards;

"profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent” has the same meaning as in
Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;

"profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to owners of the parent"'{;b

the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable entegoRse®s;

securityholder has appointed a person as the securityholder's nominee t il and act
for the securityholder and on the securityholder's behalf at a meetingi rityholders;

"proxy-related materials” means securityholder materiaz@ing to a meeting of
b

"proxy" means a completed and executed form of proxy bié ich a

securityholders that a person that solicits proxies is require r corporate law or
securities legislation to send to the registered holders 6 eficial owners of the

securities; &

"publicly accountable enterprise” has the e meaning as in Part 3 of
Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable %&unting Principles and Auditing

Standards; (l/

"recognized exchange" means \b‘ﬂ

(@) in Ontario, an exchangglrecognized by the securities regulatory authority
to carry on business as a stock ex e;

(a.1) in Québec, a e$authorized by the securities regulatory authority to
carry on business as an e@ge; and

(b) in eveu&ar jurisdiction, an exchange recognized by the securities

regulatory authori an exchange, self-regulatory organization or self-regulatory
body, or a legapy pedson, a partnership or any other entity authorized by the securities
regulatory fty to carry on securities trading in accordance with securities
legislation;

Q ognized quotation and trade reporting system" means
€) in every jurisdiction other than British Columbia, a quotation and trade
orting system recognized by the securities regulatory authority under securities
legislation to carry on business as a quotation and trade reporting system; and

(b) in British Columbia, a quotation and trade reporting system recognized by
the securities regulatory authority under securities legislation as a quotation and trade
reporting system or as an exchange;
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“restricted security” means an equity security of a reporting issuer, if any of the
following apply:

(@) there is another class of securities of the reporting issuer that, to a
reasonable person, appears to carry a greater number of votes per security relative {o
the equity security;

N
(b) the conditions attached to the class of equity securities, the @IOI‘]S
attached to another class of securities of the reporting issuer, or the reporting ¥Ssuer’s
constating documents have provisions that nullify or, to a reasonable pe Appear to
significantly restrict the voting rights of the equity securities; or

(c) the reporting issuer has issued another class of eqyi curities that, to a
reasonable person, appears to entitle the owners of securiti that other class to
participate in the earnings or assets of the reporting issuer jaa Yreater extent, on a per
security basis, than the owners of the first class of equity,@lties;

"restricted security term" means each of terms "non-voting security",
"subordinate voting security” and "restricted votin urity";

“restricted voting security" means a restripfed security that carries a right to vote
subject to a restriction on the number or pfgentage of securities that may be voted by
one or more persons, unless the restricticﬂ\s

@) permitted or prescrib statute; and

or that are otherwise consi as a result of any law applicable to the reporting issuer

(b) is applicable ogly persons that are not citizens or residents of Canada
to be non-Canadians; O

"restructurirq nsaction" means
@) C) rse takeover;
n amalgamation, merger, arrangement or reorganization;

g(c a transaction or series of transactions involving a reporting issuer
iring assets and issuing securities that results in

0] new securityholders owning or controlling more than 50% of the
reporting issuer’s outstanding voting securities; and

(i) a new person, a new combination of persons acting together, the
vendors of the assets, or new management
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(A) being able to materially affect the control of the reporting
issuer; or

(B) holding more than 20% of the outstanding voting securities
of the reporting issuer, unless there is evidence showing that the holding of thoge
securities does not materially affect the control of the reporting issuer; and '\5,)

(d) any other transaction similar to the transactions listed in paragra@) to
(c), but does not include a subdivision, consolidation, or other transaction that dbes not
alter a securityholder’s proportionate interest in the issuer and the issuer, @portionate
interest in its assets; (3

"retrospective” has the same meaning as in Canadia P applicable to
publicly accountable enterprises; é\

"retrospectively"” has the same meaning as in /@ian GAAP applicable to
publicly accountable enterprises; ('b

"reverse takeover" means Q

(@) areverse acquisition, which has th$same meaning as in Canadian GAAP
applicable to publicly accountable enterpris& or

(b) a transaction where_% issuer acquires a person by which the
securityholders of the acquired pe , at the time of the transaction, obtain "control" of
the issuer, where, for purpose ’?'IDS paragraph, control has the same meaning as in
Canadian GAAP applicable tg icly accountable enterprises;

"reverse takeove f@o iIree” means the legal parent in a reverse takeover;

"reverse ta@@r acquirer" means the legal subsidiary in a reverse takeover;

"SEC'C)%V' means an issuer that
as a class of securities registered under section 12 of the 1934 Act or is
I’qu ile reports under section 15(d) of the 1934 Act; and
(b) is not registered or required to be registered as an investment company
er the Investment Company Act of 1940 of the United States of America, as

amended;

"solicit", in connection with a proxy, includes
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(@) requesting a proxy whether or not the request is accompanied by or
included in a form of proxy;

(b) requesting a securityholder to execute or not to execute a form of proxy or
to revoke a proxy;

(© sending a form of proxy or other communication to a securityholder u &0
circumstances that to a reasonable person will likely result in the giving, WithhoI@
revocation of a proxy; or (1/

(d)  sending a form of proxy to a securityholder by managemer‘;@a‘?eporting

issuer; !

but does not include

(e) sending a form of proxy to a securityholder s onse to a unsolicited
request made by or on behalf of the securityholder; &

) performing ministerial acts or professm@serwces on behalf of a person
soliciting a proxy; Q

() sending, by an intermediary as é}ﬂned in Regulation 54-101 respecting
Communication with Beneficial Owners cb‘Securltles of a Reporting Issuer, of the
documents referred to in that regulatlon

(h)  soliciting by a persovv'n, espect of securities of which the person is the
beneficial owner;

0] publicly anno@hg by a securityholder, how the securityholder intends to
vote and the reasons fo decision, if that public announcement is made by

Q% eech in a public forum; or

a press release, an opinion, a statement or an advertisement
provided h a broadcast medium or by a telephonic, electronic or other
comm n facility, or appearing in a newspaper, a magazine or other publication
gené vailable to the public;

communicating for the purposes of obtaining the number of securities

U|red for a securityholder proposal under the laws under which the reporting issuer is

incorporated, organized or continued or under the reporting issuer’s constating or
establishing documents; or

(k) communicating, other than a solicitation by or on behalf of the
management of the reporting issuer, to securityholders in the following circumstances:
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0] by one or more securityholders concerning the business and affairs
of the reporting issuer, including its management or proposals contained in a
management information circular, and no form of proxy is sent to those securityholders
by the securityholder or securityholders making the communication or by a person
acting on their behalf, unless the communication is made by (b

(A) a securityholder who is an officer or director of the regrt g
issuer if the communication is financed directly or indirectly by the reporting iss%

(B) a securityholder who is a nominee or w @Oposes a
nominee for election as a director, if the communication relates t election of
directors;

(C) a securityholder whose communlca%r&\ in opposition to an
amalgamation, arrangement, consolidation or other trgagacsion recommended or
approved by the board of directors of the reporting is nd who is proposing or
intends to propose an alternative transaction to which th curityholder or an affiliate or
associate of the securityholder is a party;

(D) a securityholder w cause of a material interest in the
subject-matter to be voted on at a securityholdeg$ meeting, is likely to receive a benefit
from its approval or non-approval, which Wflt would not be shared pro rata by all
other holders of the same class of s rities, unless the benefit arises from the
securityholder’'s employment with the_&portlng issuer; or

(E) anygg; acting on behalf of a securityholder described in

any of clauses (A) to (D)

(i) by gr more securityholders and concerns the organization of a
dissident’s proxy sol% n, and no form of proxy is sent to those securityholders by
the securityholderQ curityholders making the communication or by a person acting
on their behalf;

Gib as clients, by a person who gives financial, corporate governance

or prox g advice in the ordinary course of business and concerns proxy voting

advig

‘a (A) the person discloses to the securityholder any significant
tionship with the reporting issuer and any of its affiliates or with a securityholder who

has submitted a matter to the reporting issuer that the securityholder intends to raise at
the meeting of securityholders and any material interests the person has in relation to a
matter on which advice is given;

10
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(B) the person receives any special commission or remuneration
for giving the proxy voting advice only from the securityholder or securityholders
receiving the advice; and

(C) the proxy voting advice is not given on behalf of any person
soliciting proxies or on behalf of a nominee for election as a director; or (b

(iv) by a person who does not seek directly or indirectly the p(@ to
act as a proxyholder for a securityholder; (1/

"special meeting" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Re yoh 54-101
respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Ripo ng Issuer;

"special resolution” has the same meaning as in section 1 egulation 54-101
respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securitie Reporting Issuer;

"stratification” has the same meaning as in seg@.l of Regulation 54-101
respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of SecONties of a Reporting Issuer;

"subordinate voting security” means a re (? security that carries a right to
vote, if there are securities of another class ou ing that carry a greater right to vote
on a per security basis;

)
"transition year" means the finan&a?‘year of a reporting issuer or business in
which the issuer or business changes_ts financial year-end;

"U.S. AICPA GAAS" haﬁs}me meaning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Pri$ nd Auditing Standards;

"U.S. GAAP" h e same meaning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounti ciples and Auditing Standards;

"U.S. la "&ans the 1933 Act, the 1934 Act, all enactments made under those
Acts and all %&Ieases adopting the enactments, as amended;

"L arketplace” means an exchange registered as a "national securities
excr& under section 6 of the 1934 Act, or the Nasdaq Stock Market; and

"U.S. PCAOB GAAS" has the same meaning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
ceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards;

"venture issuer' means a reporting issuer that, as at the applicable time, did not
have any of its securities listed or quoted on any of the Toronto Stock Exchange, a U.S.
marketplace, or a marketplace outside of Canada and the United States of America
other than the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange or the

11
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PLUS markets operated by PLUS Markets Group plc where the "applicable time" in
respect of

(@) Parts 4 and 5 of this Regulation and Form 51-102F1, is the end of the
applicable financial period;

(b) Parts 6 and 9 of this Regulation and Form 51-102F6, is the end o;\ﬁb
most recently completed financial year; Q

(c) Part 8 of this Regulation and Form 51-102F4, is the acquisition dag(and
)

(d) section 11.3 of this Regulation, is the date of the rg&ting of the
securityholders. .\

(2) In this Regulation, an issuer is an affiliate of another iss@
(@) one of them is the subsidiary of the other, XO
(b)  each of them is controlled by the samei\@.yon.

3) For the purposes of subsection (2), on (first person) is considered to
control another person (second person) if
)

(@ the first person beneficiahg owns, or controls or directs, directly or
indirectly, securities of the second_ Erson carrying votes which, if exercised, would
entitle the first person to elect a ngsyQrity of the directors of the second person, unless
that first person holds the votin rities only to secure an obligation,

(b)  the second @n is a partnership, other than a limited partnership, and
the first person holds m@ an 50% of the interests of the partnership, or

(c) the séd'person is a limited partnership and the general partner of the
limited partnership 1> the first person.

~

d;;,)s. 1.1; M.O. 2005-25, s. 1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 1; M.O. 2007-08, s. 1;
,S. 1and 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 1; M.O. 2010-17, s. 1; M.O. 2013-01, s. 1;
-04, s. 1.

M.O.
@ 2 APPLICATION

2.1. Application

M.O. 200

This Regulation does not apply to an investment fund.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 2.1.

12
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PART 3 LANGUAGE OF DOCUMENTS

3.1. French or English
(1) A person must file a document required to be filed under this Regulation {
French or in English. '\(g

(2) Despite subsection (1), if a person files a document only in French gy in
English but delivers to securityholders a version of the document in the other laMjuage,
the person must file that other version not later than when it is fir @I’Nered to
securityholders.

3) In Québec, a reporting issuer must comply with linguisti %ations and rights
prescribed by Québec law. é

M.O. 2005-03, s. 3.1; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11. &O
3.2. Filings Translated into French or English '\(b

If a person files a document under tt@%gulaﬁon that is a translation of a
document prepared in a language other than Fregth or English, the person must

)
(@) attach a certificate as to'&%‘accuracy of the translation to the filed
document; and

(b) make a copy of t %ocument in the original language available to a
registered holder or benefi@ er of its securities, on request.

M.O. 2006-04, s. 2; M. 8-06, s. 11.

PART 4 FINA@_ STATEMENTS

4.1. Compcj%ve Annual Financial Statements and Audit

(1) ting issuer must file annual financial statements that include

(a a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity,

@a statement of cash flows for

(1) the most recently completed financial year; and

(i) the financial year immediately preceding the most recently
completed financial year, if any;

13
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(b) a statement of financial position as at the end of each of the periods
referred to in paragraph (a);

(c) in the following circumstances, a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the financial year immediately preceding the most recently completed

financial year: (b

0] the reporting issuer discloses in its annual financial statem@s n
unreserved statement of compliance with IFRS; and (1/

(ii) the reporting issuer (bQ .

(A) applies an accounting policy retrospec#®ly in its annual
financial statements;

(B) makes a retrospective restate ﬁitems in its annual
financial statements; or &

(C) reclassifies items in its amﬁbl financial statements;

(d) in the case of the reporting iss@irst IFRS financial statements, the
opening IFRS statement of financial position at ti§¢ date of transition to IFRS; and

)
(e) notes to the annual financiaﬁ‘g%ements;
(2)  Annual financial statements nder subsection (1) must be audited.
(3) If a reporting issuer r&ts the components of profit or loss in a separate

income statement, the s te income statement must be displayed immediately
before the statement of @u rehensive income filed under subsection (1).

M.O. 2005-03, s. A.an 2006-04, s. 3; M.O. 2010-17, s. 2.
4.2. Filingej%mine for Audited Annual Financial Statements

T dited annual financial statements required to be filed under section 4.1
must ed

@ (@) in the case of a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer, on or before
earlier of

0] the 90" day after the end of its most recently completed financial
year; and

14
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(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, annual financial
statements for its most recently completed financial year; or
(b) in the case of a venture issuer, on or before the earlier of

() the 120th day after the end of its most recently completed financial
year; and %

(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, annual (Il/%wcial
statements for its most recently completed financial year. Q
)

.\

(1)  Subject to sections 4.7 and 4.10, a reporting issuer ﬁ an interim financial
report for each interim period ended after it became a re,{ issuer.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 4.

4.3. Interim Financial Report

(2)  The interim financial report required to be filed (%ier subsection (1) must include

(@) a statement of financial position %the end of the interim period and a
statement of financial position as at the end ofétﬂe'immediately preceding financial year,

if any; '\b‘s
(b)  a statement of compre.h%rjlsive income, a statement of changes in equity

and a statement of cash flows, all e year-to-date interim period, and comparative
financial information for the coyr nding interim period in the immediately preceding

financial year, if any;

(c) for interim gds other than the first interim period in a reporting issuer's
financial year, a stat, of comprehensive income for the 3 month period ending on
the last day of interim period and comparative financial information for the
corresponding perioN in the immediately preceding financial year, if any;

(d) Gr))the following circumstances, a statement of financial position as at the
beginni e immediately preceding financial year:

% 0] the reporting issuer discloses in its interim financial report an
rved statement of compliance with International Accounting Standard 34 Interim
ancial Reporting; and
(i) the reporting issuer

(A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its interim
financial report;

15
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(B) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its interim
financial report; or

(C) reclassifies items in its interim financial report;

(e) in the case of the reporting issuer's first interim financial report requwg}
be filed in the year of adopting IFRS, the opening IFRS statement of financial po at
the date of transition to IFRS; and (1/

0] notes to the interim financial report. (.bQ S

(2.1) If a reporting issuer presents the components of profit or-leks in a separate
income statement, the separate income statement must be d yed immediately
before the statement of comprehensive income filed under sub. \an (2).

(3)  An auditor review of an interim financial report mu&@iisclosed as follows:

(@) If an auditor has not performed a r \@Px of an interim financial report
required to be filed under subsection (1), (;\1 erim financial report must be
accompanied by a notice indicating that th rim financial report has not been
reviewed by an auditor. ?.l/

)

(b) If a reporting issuer engagé&an auditor to perform a review of an interim
financial report required to be filed uu%er subsection (1) and the auditor was unable to
complete the review, the interim cial report must be accompanied by a notice
indicating that the auditor was %ﬁ o complete a review of the interim financial report
and the reasons why the audjt s unable to complete the review.

(c) If an audit performed a review of the interim financial report required
to be filed under su n (1) and the auditor has expressed a reservation of opinion
in the auditor's in@view report, the interim financial report must be accompanied
by a written re\@ port from the auditor.

4) If a issuer that is a reporting issuer

has filed an interim financial report prepared in accordance with Canadian

applicable to publicly accountable enterprises for one or more interim periods
% e 1ts most recently completed financial year for which annual financial statements
\Q e been filed; and

(b) prepares its annual financial statements or an interim financial report for

the period immediately following the periods referred to in paragraph (a) in accordance
with U.S. GAAP,
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the SEC issuer must

(c) restate the interim financial report for the periods referred to in
paragraph (a) in accordance with U.S. GAAP; and

(d) file the restated interim financial report referred to in paragraph (c) by t}g

filing deadline for the financial statements referred to in paragraph (b). '\
M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 3. (I/Q
4.4. Filing Deadline for an Interim Financial Report (.bQ“

An interim financial report must be filed ~\

(@) in the case of a reporting issuer other than a ver@biissuer, on or before
the earlier of

0] the 45th day after the end of the int€ri period; and

(i) the date of filing, in a foreri;;#ég?ction, an interim financial report

for a period ending on the last day of the interi od; or
(b) in the case of a venture issuebgn or before the earlier of

(1) the 60th day after_we end of the interim period; and

(i) the date o@?n a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial report
for a period ending on the lagt of the interim period.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.4; M 10-17, s. 4.
45. Approval |%ncial Statements

(1) The financial statements a reporting issuer is required to file under
section 4. be approved by the board of directors before the statements are filed.

(2) Interim financial report a reporting issuer is required to file under section 4.3
muQe approved by the board of directors before the report is filed.

In fulfilling the requirement in subsection (2), the board of directors may delegate
the approval of the interim financial report to the audit committee of the board of
directors.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4.
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4.6. Delivery of Financial Statements

(1) A reporting issuer must send annually a request form to the registered holders
and beneficial owners of its securities, other than debt instruments, that the registered
holders and beneficial owners may use to request any of the following:

(@) a paper copy of the reporting issuer’s annual financial statements'éb
MD&A for the annual financial statements; Q

(b)  a copy of the reporting issuer’s interim financial reports and MD&A”/tor the
interim financial reports. (.b 4

(2) Despite paragraph (1), the reporting issuer must, in aes&dance with the
procedures set out in Regulation 54-101 respecting Commu 'c?sn with Beneficial
Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer (chapter V-1.1, r. 2& d the form referred
to in paragraph (1) to the beneficial owners of its securities yQo Wre identified under that
Regulation as having chosen to receive all securityhol l&terials sent to beneficial
owners of securities.

(3) If a registered holder or beneficial o Qggf securities, other than debt
instruments, of a reporting issuer requests th ger's annual financial statements or
interim financial reports, the reporting issuemust send a copy of the requested
financial statements to the person that madbghe request, without charge, by the later of,

(@) in the case of a reporun%issuer other than a venture issuer, 10 calendar
days after the filing deadline in aragraph 4.2(a)(i) or 4.4(a)(i), section 4.7, or
subsection 4.10(2), as applicable the financial statements requested,;

(b) in the case o nture issuer, 10 calendar days after the filing deadline in

paragraph 4.2(b)(i) or 4 i), section 4.7, or subsection 4.10(2), as applicable, for the
financial statements ted; and

(© 1 aﬁndar days after the issuer receives the request.

4) Are Qﬁhg issuer is not required to send copies of annual financial statements or
interim fji\fTeial reports under subsection (3) that were filed more than one year before
the % receives the request.
Subsection (1) and the requirement to send annual financial statements under
section (3) do not apply to a reporting issuer that sends its annual financial
statements to its securityholders, other than holders of debt instruments, within 140
days of the issuer's financial year-end and in accordance with Regulation 54-101
respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer.
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(6) If a reporting issuer sends financial statements under this section, the reporting
issuer must also send, at the same time, the annual or interim MD&A relating to the
financial statements.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 6; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4; M.O.

2013-01, s. 2.
N

4.7. Filing of Financial Statements After Becoming a Reporting Issuer Q
(1) Despite any provisions of this Part other than subsections (2), (3) and (4Y of this
section, the first annual financial statements and interim financial reports ‘reporting
issuer must file under sections 4.1 and 4.3 are the financial statemengs the financial

year and interim periods immediately following the periods which financial
statements were included in a document filed of the issuer

(@) that resulted in the issuer becoming a reportingey sger; or

(b) in respect of a transaction that resulted in th&issuer becoming a reporting
issuer. '\(b

(2) If a reporting issuer is required to file % financial statements for a financial
year that ended before the issuer became :%orting issuer, those annual financial
statements must be filed on or before the Iaw of

(@) the 20th day after the is&er became a reporting issuer; and

(b) the filing deadline@gction 4.2.
3) If a reporting issuegddvequired to file an interim financial report for an interim
period that ended befo issuer became a reporting issuer, that interim financial
report must be filed (QL efore the later of

(@) thg 10W day after the issuer became a reporting issuer; and

(b) G;de filing deadline in section 4.4.

(4) eporting issuer is not required to provide comparative interim financial
infoQatlon for periods that ended before the issuer became a reporting issuer if

(@) to a reasonable person it is impracticable to present prior-period
information on a basis consistent with subsection 4.3(2);

(b) the prior-period information that is available is presented; and
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(c) the notes to the interim financial report disclose the fact that the prior-
period information has not been prepared on a basis consistent with the most recent
interim financial information.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.7; M.O. 2006-04, s. 7; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4.
4.8. Changein Year-End '\(b
(1) An SEC issuer satisfies this section if (I/Q

(@) it complies with the requirements of U.S. laws relating to a{,@é of fiscal
year; and

(b) it files a copy of all materials required by U.S. Iav@g to a change of

fiscal year at the same time as, or as soon as practicable af ey are filed with or
furnished to the SEC and, in the case of financial statemggis, Mo later than the filing
deadlines prescribed under sections 4.2 and 4.4. &

(2) If a reporting issuer decides to change it?;;?ancial year-end by more than
14 days, it must file a notice as soon as practicab, , in any event, not later than the

earlier of (l/

(@) the filing deadline, based on W@sreporting issuer's old financial year-end,
for the next financial statements requirecNQ be filed, either annual or interim, whichever
comes first; and

(b)  the filing deadline@ ed on the reporting issuer's new financial year-end,
for the next financial statemgntN®quired to be filed, either annual or interim, whichever
comes first. &

(3) The notice ref@@o in subsection (2) must state
(@) th ttg reporting issuer has decided to change its year-end;
(b) Gﬁe reason for the change,;
Q@ the reporting issuer's old financial year-end;
(d)  the reporting issuer's new financial year-end;
(e) the length and ending date of the periods, including the comparative

periods, of each interim financial report and the annual financial statements to be filed
for the reporting issuer's transition year and its new financial year; and
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() the filing deadlines, prescribed under sections 4.2 and 4.4, for the annual
financial statements and interim financial reports for the reporting issuer's transition
year.

(4) For the purposes of this section,

(@) a transition year must not exceed 15 months; and ,\(b

(b) the first interim period after an old financial year must not tﬂb d 4
months.

)
(5) Despite subsection 4.3(1)(b), a reporting issuer is not require tg’_fle an interim
financial report for any period in its transition year that ends not more=than 1 month

(@) after the last day of its old financial year; or @E

(b)  before the first day of its new financial yeaKO
(6) Despite subsection 4.1(1), if a transition year i64§ss than 9 months in length, the
reporting issuer must include as comparative fingagid Information to its annual financial
statements for its new financial year (l/

(@) a statement of financial positidg, % statement of comprehensive income, a
statement of changes in equity, a state t of cash flows, and notes to the financial
statements for its transition year;

(b) a statement of finaNA&l position, a statement of comprehensive income, a
statement of changes in eqyit statement of cash flows and notes to the financial
statements for its old finan@ear;

(© in the f Qg circumstances, a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the O‘Ql ncial year:

the reporting issuer discloses in its annual financial statements an
unreserve ment of compliance with IFRS; and

QO (i) the reporting issuer

(A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its annual
ncial statements;

(B) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its annual
financial statements; or

(C) reclassifies items in its annual financial statements; and
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(d) in the case of the reporting issuer's first IFRS financial statements, the
opening IFRS statement of financial position at the date of transition to IFRS.

(7 Despite subsection 4.3(2), if interim periods for the reporting issuer's transition
year end 3, 6, 9 or 12 months after the end of its old financial year, the reporting issyer
must include ,\%

(@) as comparative financial information in each interim financial rep Qring
its transition year, the comparative financial information required by subsection?4.3(2),
except if an interim period during the transition year is 12 months in i and the
reporting issuer's transition year is longer than 13 months, the compaigtive financial
information must be the statement of financial position, statemen comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash I%for the 12 month
period that constitutes its old financial year; é

(b) as comparative financial information in eac,K@im financial report during
its new financial year

0] a statement of financial posi@as at the end of its transition year;

and (l/

(i) the statement of comg\ghensive income, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows for tN periods in its transition year or old financial
year, for the same calendar months g3, or as close as possible to, the calendar months
in the interim period in the new finaggial year;

(c) in the followin c@nstances, a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the earliest c@&raﬂve period:

0] %Qoorting issuer discloses in its interim financial report an
unreserved statenQél compliance with International Accounting Standard 34 Interim
Financial Repor4ng;

Gi) the reporting issuer

f
nd

Q (A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its interim
finaNgal report;

e (B) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its interim
financial report; or

(C) reclassifies items in its interim financial report; and
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(d) in the case of the reporting issuer's first interim financial report required to
be filed in the year of adopting IFRS, the opening IFRS statement of financial position at
the date of transition to IFRS.

(8) Despite subsection 4.3(2), if interim periods for a reporting issuer's transition year
end 12, 9, 6 or 3 months before the end of the transition year, the reporting issuer myst
include

(@) as comparative financial information in each interim financial repo‘fl/@ring
its transition year

0] a statement of financial position as at the end fﬁbold financial
year; and i

(i) the statement of comprehensive income,@ent of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows for periods in its oId@'@a lal year, for the same

calendar months as, or as close as possible to, the 9{ r months in the interim
period in the transition year;

(b)  as comparative financial informatiorg\ach interim financial report during
its new financial year (l/

(1) a statement of financiabgosition as at the end of its transition year,;
and

(i) the statement bmprehenswe income, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash f$ its transition year or old financial year, or both, as

appropriate, for the same cale months as, or as close as possible to, the calendar
months in the interim peri he new financial year;

(© in th%@@g circumstances, a statement of financial position as at the

beginning of the e t comparative period:

the reporting issuer discloses in its interim financial report an
unreserve% ment of compliance with International Accounting Standard 34 Interim

Fmancé orting; and

e (A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its interim
financial report;

(i) the reporting issuer

(B) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its interim
financial report; or
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(C) reclassifies items in its interim financial report; and

(d) in the case of the reporting issuer's first interim financial report required to
be filed in the year of adopting IFRS, the opening IFRS statement of financial position at
the date of transition to IFRS.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.8; M.O. 2006-04, s. 8; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4. '\(b
4.9. Change in Corporate Structure (I/Q
If an issuer is party to a transaction that resulted in, (.bQ 4

(@) the issuer becoming a reporting issuer other than by filssga prospectus; or

(b) if the issuer was already a reporting issuer, in @

0] the issuer ceasing to be a reporting&@

(i)  achange in the reporting issuer’sfﬁ.-pancial year end, or

(i)  achange in the name of tl-kellgorting issuer;

the issuer must, as soon as pfygtcable, and in any event not later than the
deadline for the first filing required undelhhs Regulation following the transaction, file a
notice stating

(© the names of the @Es to the transaction;

(d) a description@e transaction;
(e) the effe@@ate of the transaction;

) thg name of each party, if any, that ceased to be a reporting issuer after
the transacti& of each continuing entity;

gfé~the date of the reporting issuer’'s first financial year-end after the
tranZ if paragraph (a) or subparagraph (b)(ii) applies;

(h)  the periods, including the comparative periods, if any, of the interim

ncial reports and the annual financial statements required to be filed for the reporting

issuer’s first financial year after the transaction, if paragraph (a) or subparagraph (b)(ii)
applies; and
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(1) what documents were filed under this Regulation that described the
transaction and where those documents can be found in electronic format, if paragraph
(a) or subparagraph (b)(ii) applies.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.9; M.O. 2006-04, s. 9; M.O. 2010-17, s. 5.
4.10. Reverse Takeovers '\(b

(2) If a reporting issuer must comply with section 4.9 because it was a nﬁ[@lo a
reverse takeover, the reporting issuer must comply with section 4.8 unless
)
(@  the reporting issuer had the same year-end as the re%se takeover
acquirer before the transaction; or 4

(b) the reporting issuer changes its year-end to be@g;me as that of the
reverse takeover acquirer. O

(2) If a reporting issuer completes a reverse takeove(ﬁ\must

(@) file the following financial stateme I the reverse takeover acquirer,
unless the financial statements have already b ed:

0] financial statements'&?‘ «ll annual and interim periods ending
before the date of the reverse takeoverf™&(d after the date of the financial statements
included in an information circular_@r similar document, or under Item 5.2 of the
Form 51-102F3 Material Change Fv,g , prepared in connection with the transaction; or

subparagraph (i), or the ent does not include the financial statements for the
reverse takeover acquir@ at would be required to be included in a prospectus, the
financial statements Ibed under securities legislation and described in the form of
prospectus that tk% erse takeover acquirer was eligible to use prior to the reverse
takeover for a djstribution of securities in the jurisdiction;

(i) if the rgsﬁg issuer did not file a document referred to in

(b) (mé the annual financial statements required by paragraph (a) on or before
the later Q‘

QO

\s (i) the 90th date after the end of the financial year; and

0] the 20th day after the date of the reverse takeover;

(i)  the 120th day after the end of the financial year if the reporting
issuer is a venture issuer; and

25



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 14, 2013 TO MAY 30, 2013

(c) file each interim financial report required by paragraph (a) on or before the
later of

0] the 10th day after the date of the reverse takeover;

(i) the 45th day after the end of the interim period; (b
(i)  the 60th day after the end of the interim period if the rea'r}ﬂg
issuer is a venture issuer; and (1/

(iv)  the filing deadline in paragraph (b). (.bQ 4

(3) A reporting issuer is not required to provide comparativehnterim financial
information for the reverse takeover acquirer for periods that en fore the date of a
reverse takeover if

(@) to a reasonable person it is impracti to present prior-period
information on a basis consistent with subsection 4.3(2);

(b)  the prior-period information that is aGfkgPe is presented; and
(c) the notes to the interim financial repoW disclose the fact that the prior-period

information has not been prepared on a bbiis consistent with the most recent interim
financial information.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.10; M.O. 2006-?:& 10; M.O. 2007-08, s. 2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 6.
4.11. Change of Auditor
(1)  In this section O®

"appointmegf,Reans, in relation to a reporting issuer, the earlier of

(@) d}%mpointment as its auditor of a person; and

he decision by the board of directors of the reporting issuer to propose to
hold gualified securities to appoint such person as its auditor to replace its
pret%essor auditor;

\e "consultation” means advice provided by a successor auditor, whether or not in
writing, to a reporting issuer during the relevant period, which the successor auditor
concluded was an important factor considered by the reporting issuer in reaching a
decision concerning
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(@) the application of accounting principles or policies to a transaction,
whether or not the transaction is completed,;

(b) a report provided by an auditor on the reporting issuer's financial
statements;

(© scope or procedure of an audit or review engagement; or '\(b
(d) financial statement disclosure; (I/Q

"disagreement” means a difference of opinion between personn @"reporting
issuer responsible for finalizing the reporting issuer's financial stgte ts and the
personnel of a predecessor auditor responsible for authorizing the=lgsuance of audit
reports on the reporting issuer's financial statements or author e communication
of the results of the auditor's review of the reporting issuer's @u financial report, if
the difference of opinion

@) resulted in a modified opinion in the predéc sor auditor's audit report on
the reporting issuer's financial statements for any perﬁbduring the relevant period;

(b)  would have resulted in a modifig@)inion in the predecessor auditor's
audit report on the reporting issuer's financialgtatements for any period during the
relevant period if the difference of opinionf\ga<l not been resolved to the predecessor
auditor's satisfaction, not including a rence of opinion based on incomplete or
preliminary information that was resg|yed to the satisfaction of the predecessor auditor
upon the receipt of further mforma

(c) resulted in a q Qor adverse communication or denial of assurance in
respect of the predecess@dltors review of the reporting issuer's interim financial
report for any interim pe@ uring the relevant period; or

(d)  woul Q/z resulted in a qualified or adverse communication or denial of
assurance in re of the predecessor auditor's review of the reporting issuer's interim
financial rep ng any interim period during the relevant period if the difference of
oplnlon hag been resolved to the predecessor auditor's satisfaction, not including a
e, opinion based on incomplete or preliminary information that was resolved
action of the predecessor auditor upon the receipt of further information;

< F "predecessor auditor" means the auditor of a reporting issuer that is the subject
‘Q the most recent termination or resignation;

"qualified securities” means securities of a reporting issuer that carry the right to
participate in voting on the appointment or removal of the reporting issuer's auditor;

"relevant information circular" means
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(@) if a reporting issuer's constating documents or applicable law require
holders of qualified securities to take action to remove the reporting issuer's auditor or to
appoint a successor auditor

0] the information circular required to accompany or form part of ev
notice of meeting at which that action is proposed to be taken; or ??/)

(i) the disclosure document accompanying the text of thél}%tten

resolution provided to holders of qualified securities; or
)

(b) if paragraph (a) does not apply, the information cir ufc))j) required to
accompany or form part of the first notice of meeting to be sent to-kglders of qualified
securities following the preparation of a reporting package conc rv-vg a termination or
resignation; é

"relevant period" means the period &O

(@) commencing at the beginning of the f%)rting issuer's 2 most recently
completed financial years and ending on the date@'&rmination or resignation; or

(b)  during which the predecessor augilﬁr was the reporting issuer's auditor, if
the predecessor auditor was not the re %ng issuer's auditor throughout the period
described in paragraph (a); K

"reportable event" means ?,dlﬁagreement, a consultation, or an unresolved

"reporting package"@sns

(@) the doc@;Qs referred to in subparagraphs (5)(a)(i) and (6)(a)(i);

issue;

(b) thg leder referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B), if received by the reporting
issuer, unles %Apdated letter referred to in clause (6)(a)(iii)(B) has been received by
the repor@uer;

issuQ@d

\e (d) any updated letter referred to in clause (6)(a)(iii)(B) received by the
reporting issuer,;

the letter referred to in clause (6)(a)(ii)(B), if received by the reporting

"resignation” means notification from an auditor to a reporting issuer of the
auditor's decision to resign or decline to stand for reappointment;
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"successor auditor" means the person
(@) appointed;

(b) that the board of directors have proposed to holders of qualified securities
be appointed; or

(c) that the board of directors have decided to propose to holders of q@ﬁed
securities be appointed, (1/

as the reporting issuer's auditor after the termination or resi yon of the
reporting issuer's predecessor auditor;

"termination” means, in relation to a reporting issuer, the e of
appointment, the expiry of its auditor's term of appoint ithout reappointment, or

the appointment of a different person as its auditor updnN\expiry of its auditor's term of
appointment; and %

(@ the removal of its auditor before the expi? he auditor's term of

(b) the decision by the board of direqq‘%)f the reporting issuer to propose to
holders of its qualified securities that its auditoryfe removed before, or that a different
person be appointed as its auditor upon, th%xplry of its auditor's term of appointment;

"unresolved issue" means arug?atter that, in the predecessor auditor's opinion,
has, or could have, a material i |mp the financial statements, or reports provided by
the auditor relating to the fina tatements for any financial period during the
relevant period, and abo& he predecessor auditor has advised the reporting
issuer if

(@) the pr sor auditor was unable to reach a conclusion as to the
matter's implicatio fore the date of termination or resignation;

(b) @ﬂaﬂer was not resolved to the predecessor auditor's satisfaction
f

before theg termination or resignation; or

the predecessor auditor is no longer willing to be associated with any of
the Qancial statements;

For the purposes of this section, the term "material® has a meaning consistent
with the discussion of the term "materiality” in the issuer's GAAP.

(3)  This section does not apply if

(@) the following 3 conditions are met:
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0] a termination, or resignation, and appointment occur in connection
with an amalgamation, arrangement, takeover or similar transaction involving the
reporting issuer or a reorganization of the reporting issuer;

(i) the termination, or resignation, and appointment have be
disclosed in a news release that has been filed or in a disclosure document that'\if%
been delivered to holders of qualified securities and filed; and

(i)  no reportable event has occurred; (1/
)

(b)  the change of auditor is required by the legislation urqaar which the
reporting issuer exists or carries on its activities; or ~\

(© the change of auditor arises from an amalga@XT merger or other

reorganization of the auditor. O

(4)  An SEC issuer satisfies this section if it

(@  complies with the requirements ob. . laws relating to a change of

auditor; (l/

(b) files a copy of all materlals r@guned by U.S. laws relating to a change of
auditor at the same time as, or as so as practicable after, they are filed with or
furnished to the SEC,;

(© issues and files a_n release describing the information disclosed in the
materials referred to in paragraPl\b), if there are any reportable events; and

(d) includes t aterials referred to in paragraph (b) with each relevant

information circular. Q_

(5) Upon a% tion or resignation of its auditor, a reporting issuer must

hin 10 days after the date of termination or resignation

9 0] prepare a change of auditor notice in accordance with subsection
(7 @ liver a copy of it to the predecessor auditor; and

\ (i) request the predecessor auditor to

(A) review the reporting issuer's change of auditor notice;
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(B) prepare a letter, addressed to the securities regulatory
authority, stating, for each statement in the change of auditor notice, whether the auditor
agrees, disagrees and the reasons why, or has no basis to agree or disagree; and

(C) deliver the letter to the reporting issuer within 20 days after
the date of termination or resignation; (b

(b)  within 30 days after the date of termination or resignation Q
0] have the audit committee of its board of directors or itsg(ard of

directors review the letter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B) if received t})b@"reporting
issuer, and approve the change of auditor notice;

(i) file a copy of the reporting package with t e?ecurities regulatory
authority;

(i)  deliver a copy of the reporting packhe predecessor auditor;

(iv)  if there are any reportable evgﬁ? issue and file a news release
describing the information in the reporting packagg;

(c) include with each relevant inform:ﬁLﬁ circular

)
0] a copy of the reportirﬁggckage as an appendix; and

(i) a summary of ontents of the reporting package with a cross-
reference to the appendix.

(6) Upon an appointme@a successor auditor, a reporting issuer must
(@  within after the date of appointment

(), %repare a change of auditor notice in accordance with subsection
(7) and deliv&) the successor auditor and to the predecessor auditor;

OQ‘(ii) request the successor auditor to
Q (A) review the reporting issuer's change of auditor notice;
e (B) prepare a letter addressed to the securities regulatory
authority, stating, for each statement in the change of auditor notice, whether the auditor

agrees, disagrees and the reasons why, or has no basis to agree or disagree; and

(C)  deliver that letter to the reporting issuer within 20 days after
the date of appointment; and
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(i) request the predecessor auditor to, within 20 days after the date of
appointment,

(A) confirm that the letter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B) does
not have to be updated; or

(B) prepare and deliver to the reporting issuer an updatede\er
to replace the letter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B); (1/

(b)  within 30 days after the date of appointment, (.bQ 4

(1) have the audit committee of its board of direcﬁe‘g or its board of
directors review the letters referred to in clauses (6)(a)(ii)(B) and (&) (iii))(B) if received
by the reporting issuer, and approve the change of auditor noti@

(i) file a copy of the reporting packag@ the securities regulatory
authority;

(i)  deliver a copy of the reportb@f\oackage to the successor auditor
and to the predecessor auditor; and (l/

(iv) if there are any reporfaple events, issue and file a news release
disclosing the appointment of the séNsgessor auditor and either describing the

information in the reporting packaggbr referring to the news release required under
subparagraph (5)(b)(iv).

(7) A change of auditor ngti ust state
(@) the date o&aﬁon or resignation;
(b) Whet@%e predecessor auditor

resigned on the predecessor auditor's own initiative or at the
reporting i S request;

9 (i) was removed or is proposed to holders of qualified securities to be
re ed during the predecessor auditor's term of appointment; or

\e (i) was not reappointed or has not been proposed for reappointment;
(c) whether the termination or resignation of the predecessor auditor and any
appointment of the successor auditor were considered or approved by the audit

committee of the reporting issuer's board of directors or the reporting issuer's board of
directors;
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(d)  whether the predecessor auditor's report on any of the reporting issuer's
financial statements relating to the relevant period expressed a modified opinion and, if
so, a description of each modification;

(e) if there is a reportable event, the following information:

N

(A) adescription of the disagreement; (1/
4
(B)  whether the audit committee of the reportj Jbsuer's board
of directors or the reporting issuer's board of directors discussed the=disagreement with
the predecessor auditor; and

0] for a disagreement,

(C)  whether the reporting issuer $ed the predecessor
auditor to respond fully to inquiries by any succ auditor concerning the
disagreement and, if not, a description of and reasons for &y limitation;

(i) for a consultation, Q'\

(A) a description of thg/issue that was the subject of the
consultation; '\b‘ -\

B) a summa,%lof the successor auditor's oral advice, if any,
provided to the reporting issuer cor?; ng the issue;

(C) agc of the successor auditor's written advice, if any,
received by the reporting i@‘ concerning the issue; and

whether the reporting issuer consulted with the predecessor
auditor concerning% issue and, if so, a summary of the predecessor auditor's advice

concerning the@J ; and

2@ for an unresolved issue,
QO (A) adescription of the issue;
% (B)  whether the audit committee of the reporting issuer's board
‘Q directors or the reporting issuer's board of directors discussed the issue with the
predecessor auditor; and

(C) whether the reporting issuer authorized the predecessor

auditor to respond fully to inquiries by any successor auditor concerning the issue and,
if not, a description of and reasons for any limitation; and
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() if there are no reportable events, a statement to that effect.

(8) If the successor auditor becomes aware that the change of auditor notice
required by this section has not been prepared and filed by the reporting issuer, the
auditor must, within 7 days, advise the reporting issuer in writing and deliver a copy Qf
the letter to the securities regulatory authority. '\

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.11; M.O. 2006-04, s. 11; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008(1@. 1;

M.O. 2010-17, s. 7. Q
)
go

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. ?~
4A.1. Application s

This Part applies to forward-looking information fgt is disclosed by a reporting
issuer other than forward-looking information contalne!a.y oral statements.

PART 4A FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. ‘.I/Q
4A.2. Reasonable Basis b‘«

A reporting issuer must not dis%)se forward-looking information unless the issuer
has a reasonable basis for the forvvd— ooking information.

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.
4A.3. Disclosure Og

A reportingﬁ er that discloses material forward-looking information must
include disclos

@éntifies forward-looking information as such;

cautions users of forward-looking information that actual results may vary
fron@e forward-looking information and identifies material risk factors that could cause

@ results to differ materially from the forward-looking information;
(© states the material factors or assumptions used to develop forward-looking
information; and

(d)  describes the reporting issuer's policy for updating forward-looking
information if it includes procedures in addition to those described in subsection 5.8(2).
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M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.

PART 4B FOFI AND FINANCIAL OUTLOOKS

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.
N

4B.1. Application Q

(1) This Part applies to FOFI or a financial outlook that is disclosed b&frlﬁorting

issuer. ‘b N

(2) This Part does not apply to disclosure that is ~\
(@) subject to requirements in Regulation 51-101 &ing Standards of
Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (chapter V-1.1, r. >or Regulation 43-101

respecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (}{ rv-1.1, r. 15); or

requirements referred to in paragraph (a) tha eporting issuer received from a
securities regulatory authority unless the secup regulatory authority orders that this
Part applies to disclosure made under the exempg#on; or

)
(c) contained in an oral statemb\?‘

(b) made to comply with the conditigr@)of any exemption from the

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. v
4B.2. Assumptions @

(1) A reporting issue t not disclose FOFI or a financial outlook unless the FOFI
or financial outlook is@. on assumptions that are reasonable in the circumstances.

(2) FOFI or & fimancial outlook that is based on assumptions that are reasonable in
the circumstt) ust, without limitation,

e limited to a period for which the information in the FOFI or financial
outlz n be reasonably estimated, and

(b) use the accounting policies the reporting issuer expects to use to prepare
{» historical financial statements for the period covered by the FOFI or the financial
outlook.

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.
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4B.3. Disclosure

In addition to the disclosure required by section 4A.3, if a reporting issuer
discloses FOFI or a financial outlook, the issuer must include disclosure that

(a) states the date management approved the FOFI or financial outlook, if the
document containing the FOFI or financial outlook is undated; and

(b) explains the purpose of the FOFI or financial outlook and cautionq)gders
that the information may not be appropriate for other purposes. Q
)

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.

PART 5 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

4
) \g
5.1. Filing of MD&A O

(1) A reporting issuer must file MD&A relating to its ual financial statements and
each interim financial report. '\(b

(1.1) Despite subsection (1), a reporting issu @s not have to file MD&A relating to
the annual financial statements and interim fingrlfal reports required under sections 4.7
and 4.10 for financial years and interim pe&ds that ended before the issuer became a
reporting issuer.

(2) The MD&A required to be fil@st be filed on or before the earlier of

(@ the filing dead 'n&r the annual financial statements and each interim
financial report set outin s s 4.2 and 4.4, as applicable; and

(b) the d Q reporting issuer files the financial statements under
subsections 4.1(1)Q 3(1), as applicable.
/

M.O. 2005-0&}6!.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 12; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.
5.2. H f MD&A for SEC Issuers
gDespite subsection 5.1(2), if an SEC issuer that is a reporting issuer is filing its
al or interim MD&A prepared in accordance with Item 303 of Regulation S-K under

U
@934 Act, the SEC issuer must file that document on or before the earlier of

(@) the date the SEC issuer would be required to file that document under
section 5.1; and
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(b) the date the SEC issuer files that document with the SEC.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 13; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.
5.3.  Additional Disclosure for Venture Issuers Without Significant Revenue

(1) A venture issuer that has not had significant revenue from operations in eith (3}
do\

its last 2 financial years, must disclose in its MD&A, for each period referre in
subsection (2), a breakdown of material components of (1/

(@) exploration and evaluation assets or expenditures; (bQ 4

(b) expensed research and development costs; 4

(© intangible assets arising from development; &
(d) general and administration expenses; and &O

(e) any material costs, whether expen @)or recognized as assets, not
referred to in paragraphs (a) through (d); Q?\

and if the venture issuer's business prigfarily involves mining exploration and
development, the analysis of exploration analuation assets or expenditures must be
presented on a property-by-property basi&
(2)  The disclosure in subsectio Must be provided for the following periods:

@) in the case of nﬁ MD&A, for the 2 most recently completed financial
years; and é

(b) in the @Q)f interim MD&A, for the most recent year-to-date interim
period and the corQa tive year-to-date period presented in the interim financial report.

(3) Subse 1) does not apply if the information required under that subsection
has been gidglgsed in the financial statements to which the MD&A relates.

M.0.,2Q0)-D3, s. 5.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 14; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.
Disclosure of Outstanding Share Data

}) A reporting issuer must disclose in its MD&A the designation and number or
principal amount of

(@) each class and series of voting or equity securities of the reporting issuer
for which there are securities outstanding;
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(b)  each class and series of securities of the reporting issuer for which there
are securities outstanding if the securities are convertible into, or exercisable or
exchangeable for, voting or equity securities of the reporting issuer; and

(c) each class and series of voting or equity securities of the reporting issygr
that are issuable on the conversion, exercise or exchange of outstanding securitig{
the reporting issuer. Q

(2) For the application of paragraph (1)(c), if the exact number or principal aﬂﬁunt of
voting or equity securities of the reporting issuer that are issuable on hversion,
exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of the reporting uer is not
determinable, the reporting issuer must disclose the maximum ber or principal
amount of each class and series of voting or equity securities t issuable on the
conversion, exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of i%ﬁ orting issuer and, if
that maximum number or principal amount is not determjrab¥e, the reporting issuer
must describe the exchange or conversion features e manner in which the
number or principal amount of voting or equity securities' WNI be determined.

(3)  The disclosure under subsections (1) and@smust be prepared as of the latest
practicable date. (l/

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.4;: M.O. 2010-17, s. 9. b‘s
5.5. Approval of MD&A 4

(2) The annual MD&A that @ing issuer is required to file under this Part must
be approved by the board ofgir rs before being filed.

(2)  The interim MD t a reporting issuer is required to file under this Part must
be approved by the @L f directors before being filed.

the approva e interim MD&A required to be filed under this Part to the audit

3) In fulfillin tgrequirement in subsection (2), the board of directors may delegate
committee @lﬁoard of directors.

M.0.,2Q0)-D3, s. 5.5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.
Delivery of MD&A

}) If a registered holder or beneficial owner of securities, other than debt
instruments, of a reporting issuer requests the reporting issuer's annual or interim
MD&A, the reporting issuer must send a copy of the requested MD&A to the person that
made the request, without charge, by the delivery deadline set out in subsection 4.6(3)
for the annual financial statements or interim financial report to which the MD&A relates.
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(2) A reporting issuer is not required to send copies of any MD&A that was filed
more than 2 years before the issuer receives the request.

(3)  The requirement to send annual MD&A under subsection (1) does not apply to a
reporting issuer that sends its annual MD&A and any related MD&A supplement to js
securityholders, other than holders of debt instruments, within 140 days of the iss,g0

financial year-end and in accordance with Regulation 54-101 respecting Commur®t n
with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer (chapter V-1.1, r. 29

4) If a reporting issuer sends MD&A under this section, the reporti Suer must
also send, at the same time, the annual financial statements or interim fingucial report to
which the MD&A relates. ~\

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 15; M.O. 2008-06, s. 1@010-17, s. 9.

5.7. Additional Disclosure for Reporting Issux@ith Significant Equity
Investees

(1) A reporting issuer that has a significra;@&?y investee must disclose in its

MD&A for each period referred to in subsectio

€) summarized financial inform of the equity investee, including the
aggregated amounts of assets, Iiabilities,'hgvenue and profit or loss; and

contingent issuance of securitiesWMhe equity investee that might significantly affect the
reporting issuer's share of prgfi loss.

(2)  The disclosure in@

@) in th e of annual MD&A, for the 2 most recently completed financial
years; and

(b)  the reporting issue§y.g ortionate interest in the equity investee and any

ection (1) must be provided for the following periods:

(b) Gr))the case of interim MD&A, for the most recent year-to-date interim
period comparative year-to-date period presented in the interim financial report.

(3) QSubsection (1) does not apply if

(@ the information required under that subsection has been disclosed in the
financial statements to which the MD&A relates; or

(b) the issuer files separate financial statements of the equity investee for the
periods referred to in subsection (2).
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M.O. 2006-04, s. 16; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.

5.8. Disclosure Relating to Previously Disclosed Material Forward-Looking
Information

(1)  This section applies to material forward-looking information that is disclosed bya
reporting issuer other than '\)‘b

(@) forward-looking information contained in an oral statement, or (I/Q

(b)  disclosure that is (bQ .

(1) subject to the requirements in Regulation -5L—101 respecting
Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (chapt -1.1, r. 23) or
Regulation 43-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure& Mineral Projects
(chapter V-1.1, r. 15), or O

(i) made to comply with the conditiohS\of any exemption from the
requirements referred to in subparagraph (i) that af'bporting issuer received from a
securities regulatory authority unless the securiti gulatory authority orders that this
Part applies to disclosure made under the exerﬁ/

(2)  Areporting issuer must discuss in itsDQD&A,

(& events and circumstau,g%s that occurred during the period to which the
MDG&A relates that are reasonablygsgly to cause actual results to differ materially from
material forward-looking informaNgn for a period that is not yet complete that the
reporting issuer previously digc d to the public; and

(b)  the expec erences referred to in paragraph (a).

(3) SubsectionQ%es not apply if the reporting issuer

(@) . es the information required by subsection (2) in a news release
issued ang\\ by the reporting issuer before the filing of the MD&A referred to in

subsect :and

includes disclosure in the MD&A referred to in subsection (2) that
\e 0] identifies the news release referred to in paragraph (a);
(i) states the date of the news release; and

(i)  states that the news release is available at www.sedar.com.
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(4) A reporting issuer must disclose and discuss in its MD&A, material differences
between

(@) actual results for the annual or interim period to which the MD&A relates,
and

(b) any FOFI or financial outlook for the period referred to in paragrapl;\fb
that the reporting issuer previously disclosed. Q

(5) If during the period to which its MD&A relates, a reporting issuer deddes to
withdraw previously disclosed material forward-looking information, (.b 4

(@) the reporting issuer must disclose in its MD&A the dee\gion and discuss

the events and circumstances that led the reporting issuer to that ision, including a
discussion of the assumptions underlying the forward-lookingJ\WYmation that are no

longer valid, and O

(b)  subsection (4) does not apply to the r%r g issuer with respect to the
MD&A

N

0] if the reporting issuer comQ&&/ith paragraph (a); and

(i) the MD&A is filed bebges the end of the period covered by the
forward-looking information.

(6) Paragraph 5(a) does not apv.i he reporting issuer
(@) includes the ig?o&on required by paragraph (5)(a) in a news release

issued and filed by the r ing issuer before the filing of the MD&A referred to in
subsection (5); and O

(b) incluQs isclosure in the MD&A referred to in subsection (5) that
é} identifies the news release referred to in paragraph (a);
Q‘(ii) states the date of the news release; and

Q (i)  states that the news release is available at www.sedar.com.

@. 2007-08, s. 4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 10.

PART 6 ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM
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6.1. Requirement to File an AIF

A reporting issuer that is not a venture issuer must file an AlF.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 6.1.

6.2. Filing Deadline for an AIF '\(b
An AIF must be filed, (I/Q
(@) on or before the 90th day after the end of the reportingb@mr's most

recently completed financial year; or

(b) in the case of a reporting issuer that is an SEC 's?sr filing its AIF on
Form 10-K or Form 20-F, on or before the earlier of é

(i) the 90th day after the end of the r(@g issuer's most recently
completed financial year; and

(i) the date the reporting issuer&&(?s Form 10-K or Form 20-F with

the SEC. (l/

M.O. 2005-03, s. 6.2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 11. b‘s

6.3. (Revoked). 4

M.O. 2005-03, s. 6.3; M.O. 200@85 17.

PART 7 MATERIAL @VGE REPORTS

7.1. Publication g rial Change

Q) If a matc%al%ange occurs in the affairs of a reporting issuer, the reporting issuer

must C)
immediately issue and file a news release authorized by an executive
offic% losing the nature and substance of the change; and
(b) as soon as practicable, and in any event within 10 days of the date on
ich the change occurs, file a Form 51-102F3 Material Change Report with respect to

the material change.

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply if,
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€) in the opinion of the reporting issuer, and if that opinion is arrived at in a
reasonable manner, the disclosure required by subsection (1) would be unduly
detrimental to the interests of the reporting issuer; or

(b) the material change consists of a decision to implement a change made
by senior management of the reporting issuer who believe that confirmation of the
decision by the board of directors is probable, and senior management of the rep tﬁ@
issuer has no reason to believe that persons with knowledge of the material e
have made use of that knowledge in purchasing or selling securities of the ﬁting
issuer,

)

and the reporting issuer immediately files the report required uﬁ@r paragraph
(2)(b) marked so as to indicate that it is confidential, together with-wkitten reasons for
non-disclosure.

3) (paragraph revoked). O s
4) (paragraph revoked). &

(5) If a report has been filed under subsectiogb), e reporting issuer must advise
the securities regulatory authority in writing if ieves the report should continue to
remain confidential, within 10 days of the date iling of the initial report and every 10
days thereafter until the material change is Pgrerally disclosed in the manner referred to
in paragraph (1)(a), or, if the material ch&&xge consists of a decision of the type referred
to in paragraph (2)(b), until that decjs,jkn has been rejected by the board of directors of

the reporting issuer. v

(6) In Ontario, the reporti @er must advise the securities regulatory authority.

(7 If a report has be d under subsection (2), the reporting issuer must promptly
generally disclose th% rial change in the manner referred to in subsection (1) upon
the reporting issu coming aware, or having reasonable grounds to believe, that
persons are pugchasing or selling securities of the reporting issuer with knowledge of
the material that has not been generally disclosed.

M.O. 20 , S. 7.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 18; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 2.

PARY 8 BUSINESS ACQUISITION REPORT

\@ Interpretation and Application

(1) In this Part,

43



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 14, 2013 TO MAY 30, 2013

"acquisition” includes an acquisition of an interest in a business that is
consolidated for accounting purposes or accounted for by another method, such as the
equity method;

"acquisition of related businesses" means the acquisition of 2 or more
businesses if (b

(@) the businesses were under common control or management bef@ e
acquisitions were completed; (1/

(b) each acquisition was conditional upon the completion (%Qach other

acquisition; or !

(c) the acquisitions were contingent upon a single comg?@vent;
r

to which reserves, as
losure for Oil and Gas
ted; and

"business” includes an interest in an oil and gas pr
defined in Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards o%@
Activities (chapter V-1.1, r. 23), have been specifically aftr

"specified profit or loss" means profit &053 from continuing operations
attributable to the owners of the parent, adjustqu/ xclude income taxes.

(2)  This Part does not apply to a transac&mhat is a reverse takeover.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.1; M.O. 2006-04,&.9; M.O. 2007-08, s. 5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 12.

8.2. Obligation to File a Bu@g?;Acquisition Report and Filing Deadline

(2) If a reporting issue pletes a significant acquisition, it must file a business
acquisition report within ys after the acquisition date.

(2) Despite suﬁ ion (1), if the most recently completed financial year of the
acquired busingss ewmded 45 days or less before the acquisition date, a reporting issuer
must file a btl) acquisition report

ak~within 90 days after the acquisition date, in the case of an issuer other
than a{edture issuer, or

(b)  within 120 days after the acquisition date, in the case of a venture issuer.

\
M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 20; M.O. 2010-17, s. 13.

8.3. Determination of Significance

(1) An acquisition of a business or related businesses is a significant acquisition,
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(@) for areporting issuer that is not a venture issuer, if the acquisition satisfies
any of the 3 significance tests set out in subsection (2); and

(b)  for a venture issuer, if the acquisition satisfies either of the significance
tests set out in paragraphs (2)(a) or (b) if "20%" is read as "40%". (b

(2) For the purposes of subsection (1), the significance tests are: Q

(@) The asset test: The reporting issuer's proportionate share(lﬁf the
consolidated assets of the business or related businesses excee @% of the
consolidated assets of the reporting issuer calculated using the audited aghual financial
statements of each of the reporting issuer and the business or the-ﬁﬂated businesses
for the most recently completed financial year of each that en%?bre the acquisition
date.

(b) The investment test: The reporting issuer’ solidated investments in
and advances to the business or related businessé&as at the acquisition date
exceeds 20% of the consolidated assets of the reporfiky issuer as at the last day of the
most recently completed financial year of th orting issuer ended before the
acquisition date, excluding any investments i e‘deances to the business or related
businesses as at that date. TY/

)

(c) The profit or loss test: Thc!\?r?orting issuer's proportionate share of the
consolidated specified profit or loss Q,Lme business or related businesses exceeds 20%
of the consolidated specified profi ss of the reporting issuer calculated using the
audited annual financial staten%&; each of the reporting issuer and the business or
related businesses for the mgst\®cently completed financial year of each ended before
the acquisition date. &

3) Despite subs%@(l), if an acquisition of a business or related businesses is
significant based significance tests in subsection (2),

@) orting issuer that is not a venture issuer may re-calculate the
significang Gihg the optional significance tests in subsection (4); and

a venture issuer may re-calculate the significance using the optional
sigr@ance tests in paragraphs (4)(a) or (b) if "20%" is read as "40%".

@ The optional significance tests are:

(@) The asset test: The reporting issuer’s proportionate share of the
consolidated assets of the business or related businesses exceeds 20% of the
consolidated assets of the reporting issuer, calculated using the financial statements of
each of the reporting issuer and the business or the related businesses for the most
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recently completed interim period or financial year of each, without giving effect to the
acquisition.

(b)  The investment test: The reporting issuer's consolidated investments in
and advances to the business or related businesses as at the acquisition date
exceeds 20% of the consolidated assets of the reporting issuer as at the last day of the
most recently completed interim period or financial year of the reporting is;@
excluding any investments in or advances to the business or related businesseg~gs“at

that date. (1/

(© The profit or loss test: The specified profit or loss calcul aOnder the
following subparagraph (i) exceeds 20% of the specified profit or losg ¢ lated under
the following subparagraph (ii): i

(1) the reporting issuer's proportionate sh&the consolidated

specified profit or loss of the business or related businessesdw e later of

(A)  the most recently completed Tifencial year of the business or
related businesses; or '\

(B) the 12 months endg@w the last day of the most recently
completed interim period of the business or relat¢d businesses;

)
(i) the reporting issuer'&\g)‘nsolidated specified profit or loss for the
later of

(A) the @g?ecently completed financial year, without giving

completed interim pey the reporting issuer, without giving effect to the acquisition.

effect to the acquisition; or
@12 months ended on the last day of the most recently

remeasure it ously held equity interest in the business or related businesses.

(4.1) For the ?u&ses of subsections (2) and (4), the reporting issuer must not
4.2) E e purposes of paragraphs (2)(b) and (4)(b), the reporting issuer's
inve% S in and advances to the business or related businesses must include

(@) the consideration transferred for the acquisition, measured in accordance
\Mh the issuer's GAAP,

(b) payments made in connection with the acquisition which do not constitute

consideration transferred but which would not have been paid unless the acquisition
had occurred, and

46



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 14, 2013 TO MAY 30, 2013

(© contingent consideration for the acquisition measured in accordance with
the issuer's GAAP.

(5) If an acquisition does not meet any of the significance tests under paragraph (4),
the acquisition is not a significant acquisition.

(6) Despite subsection (3), the significance of an acquisition of a business or rel (eb
businesses may be re-calculated using financial statements for periods that end &ter
the acquisition date only if, after the acquisition date, the business or related bl‘jﬁ ses
remained substantially intact and were not significantly reorganized, and no sighificant
assets or liabilities were transferred to other entities. (b 4

(7) For the purposes of paragraphs (2)(c) and (4)(c), if any of Hsd reporting issuer,
the business or the related businesses has incurred a loss, the sig\Psance test must be
applied using the absolute value of the loss from continuing tions attributable to
owners of the parent, adjusted to exclude income taxes.

(8) For the purposes of paragraph (2)(c) and cIalfsss(4)(c)(ii)(A), if the reporting
issuer's consolidated specified profit or loss for th st recently completed financial
year was lower by 20% or more than its average éso Idated specified profit or loss for
the 3 most recently completed financial yearg issuer may, subject to subsection
(10), substitute the average consolidated specifigll profit or loss for the 3 most recently
completed financial years in determiningb[vhether the significance test set out in
paragraph (2)(c) or (4)(c) is satisfied. '\

(9) For the purpose of claus?@ c)(i)(B) if the reporting issuer's consolidated

specified profit or loss for the recently completed 12-month period was lower by

20% or more than its avergg&\tonsolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 most

recently completed 12-m® periods, the issuer may, subject to subsection (10),

substitute the average olidated specified profit or loss for the 3 most recently

completed 12-montf¢ ds in determining whether the significance test set out in
fied

paragraph (4)(c) is@

(10) If the %ﬁing issuer's consolidated specified profit or loss for either of the 2
earlier finF @J periods referred to in subsections (8) and (9) is a loss, the reporting

issuer's SN¢tified profit or loss for that period is considered to be zero for the purposes
of c% ing the average consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 financial periods.
If a reporting issuer has made multiple investments in the same business, then

the purposes of applying subsections (2) and (4),
@) if the initial investment and one or more incremental investments were

made during the same financial year, the investments must be aggregated and tested
on a combined basis;
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(b) if one or more incremental investments were made in a financial year
subsequent to the financial year in which an initial or incremental investment was made
and the initial or previous incremental investments are reflected in audited annual
financial statements of the reporting issuer previously filed, the reporting issuer must
apply the significance tests set out in subsections (2) and (4) on a combined basis to
the incremental investments not reflected in audited financial statements of the reporti
issuer previously filed; and ,\&3

(© if one or more incremental investments were made in a finan@/ear
subsequent to the financial year in which the initial investment was made and th initial
investment is not reflected in audited annual financial statements of the @tfng issuer
previously filed, the reporting issuer must apply the significance (t set out in
subsections (2) and (4) to the initial and incremental investments on a-k)mblned basis

(11.1) For the purposes of calculating the optional pr@loss test under
clause (4)(c)(ii)(A), a reporting issuer may use pro forma CC@) ated specified profit or

loss for its most recently completed financial year that w uded in a previously filed
document if

(@) the reporting issuer has made a si%'mant acquisition of a business after
its most recently completed financial year; and (l/

(b)  the previously filed documentbgl'uded

(1) audited annual fjjancial statements of that acquired business for
the periods required by this Part; a

(i) the pro fo flnanC|aI information required by subsection 8.4(5)
or (6).
(12) In determinin ther an acquisition of related businesses is a significant

acquisition, relate inesses acquired after the ending date of the most recently filed
audited annual ;ina cial statements of the reporting issuer must be considered on a

combined b

(13) E purposes of calculating the significance tests in subsections (2) and (4),
the a ts used for the business or related businesses must

(@) be based on the issuer's GAAP, and

(b) be translated into the same presentation currency as that used in the
reporting issuer's financial statements.

(13.1) Paragraph 8.3(13)(a) does not apply to a venture issuer if
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(@) the financial statements for the business or related businesses referred to
in subsections 8.3(2) and (4)

0] are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP applicable to
private enterprises, and

(i) are prepared in a manner that consolidates any subsidiaries a{rb
accounts for significantly influenced investees and joint ventures using theg']hity

method; (1/

and (bQ«

(b) none of the accounting principles described in pam&aphs 3.11(1)(a)
through (e) of Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable A(@hg Principles and

Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25) were used to prepar ncial statements for
the business or related businesses referred to in subsectior@. ) and (4).

(14) Despite subsections (2) and (4), the significance”oN\an acquisition of a business
or related businesses may be calculated using u yted financial statements of the
business or related businesses that comply wi r}§ection 3.11 of Regulation 52-107
respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles @@Auditing Standards if the financial
statements of the business or related businegges for the most recently completed
financial year have not been audited. \b‘ﬂ

(15) Despite subsections (2) and {A_gthe significance of an acquisition of a business
or related businesses may be cal tad using the audited financial statements for the
financial year immediately pr@ the reporting issuer's most recently completed
financial year if the reporting ISJ¥er has not been required to file, and has not filed,
audited financial statemen&o its most recently completed financial year.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.3@92006-04, s.21; M.O. 2010-17, s. 14.
8.4. Financi@gement Disclosure for Significant Acquisitions

(2) If a ing issuer is required to file a business acquisition report under section
8.2, the Mmess acquisition report must include the following for each business or

relaré@smesses:

% (@) a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity
ﬁ a statement of cash flows for the following periods:

0] if the business has completed one financial year,

(A) the most recently completed financial year ended on or
before the acquisition date; and
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(B) the financial year immediately preceding the most recently
completed financial year, if any; or

(i) if the business has not completed one financial year, the financial
period commencing on the date of formation and ending on a date not more than 45
days before the acquisition date; '\

(b) a statement of financial position as at the end of each of th(@lods
specified in paragraph (a); and Q
4

(c) notes to the financial statements.

(2)  The most recently completed financial period referred to 'r?ubsection (1) must
be audited. é

3) If a reporting issuer is required to include finangi§ _Jtatements in a business
acquisition report under subsection (1), the business ‘adquisition report must include
financial statements for '\fb

(@) the most recently completed inter('v@riod or other period that started the
day after the date of the statement of financial p@&ition specified in paragraph (1)(b) and
ended, b‘ -\

(1) in the case of an_j_ﬁerim period, before the acquisition date; or

(i) in the case&:eriod other than an interim period, after the interim
period referred to in subparagraNY (i) and on or before the acquisition date; and

(b) a compara@ eriod in the preceding financial year of the business.

(3.1) If a reporti %uer is required under subsection (3) to include an interim
financial reportn 2 business acquisition report and the financial statements for the
business or businesses acquired are prepared in accordance with Canadian
GAAP ap éhle to private enterprises, as permitted under Regulation 52-107
respecti Acceptable  Accounting  Principles and  Auditing  Standards
(cha& -1.1, r. 25), the interim financial report must include

(@) a balance sheet as at the end of the interim period and a balance sheet as
ﬁ the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any;

(b)  an income statement, a statement of retained earnings and a cash flow
statement, all for the year-to-date interim period, and comparative financial information
for the corresponding interim period in the immediately preceding financial year, if any;
and
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(c) notes to the financial statements.

4) Despite subsection (3), the business acquisition report may include financial
statements for a period ending not more than one interim period before the period
referred to in subparagraph (3)(a)(i) if

(@) the business does not, or related businesses do not, constitute a rgg&al
departure from the business or operations of the reporting issuer immediately tq/ the

acquisition; and Q
)
go

(b) (paragraph revoked). 4
(c) either

0] the acquisition date is, and the reportj ﬁer files the business
acquisition report, within the following time after the bu 'r@'s or related businesses'
most recently completed interim period:

(A) 45 days, if the reporti%&uer IS not a venture issuer; or
(B) 60 days, if the repor‘;i.lg issuer is a venture issuer; or
)
(i) the reporting issuer'ﬂ?& a document before the acquisition date
that included financial statements fQ[} the business or related businesses that would

have been required if the docume»?w re a prospectus, and those financial statements
are for a period ending not than one interim period before the interim period

acquisition report u ubsection (1) or (3), the business acquisition report must

include Q

@) C) forma statement of financial position of the reporting issuer,

referred to in subparagrapk@ )
(5) If a reporting’éﬁ is required to include financial statements in a business

) as at the date of the reporting issuer's most recent statement of
finan i@osition filed, that gives effect, as if they had taken place as at the date of the
pro érma statement of financial position, to significant acquisitions that have been

eted, but are not reflected in the reporting issuer's most recent statement of

%\pcial position for an annual or interim period; or

(i) if the reporting issuer has not filed a statement of financial position
for any annual or interim period, as at the date of the acquired business's most recent
statement of financial position, that gives effect, as if they had taken place as at the date
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of the pro forma statement of financial position, to significant acquisitions that have
been completed,;

(b) a pro forma income statement of the reporting issuer that gives effect to
significant acquisitions completed since the beginning of the financial year referred to in
clause (i)(A) or (ii)(A), as applicable, as if they had taken place at the beginning of that
financial year, for each of the following financial periods: '\P%

() the reporting issuer's (I/Q

(A)  most recently completed financial year for WP.'B@t"has filed
financial statements; and

that started after the period in clause (A) and ended immedia fore the acquisition

(B) interim period for which it has filed aggi im financial report
date or, in the reporting issuer's discretion, after the acquisi'@ e; or

(i) if the reporting issuer has not filed”a\statement of comprehensive
income for any annual or interim period, for the busiké?gs or related businesses'

(A)  most recently compﬁ}@financial year that ended before the
acquisition date; and

)
(B) period for W%N?‘financial statements are included in the
business acquisition report under pa,;akraph (3)(a); and

(© pro forma earnin@?ghare based on the pro forma financial statements
referred to in paragraph (b).
(6) Despite paragrapﬁa) and clauses (5)(b)())(B) and (5)(b)(ii)(B), if the reporting
issuer relies on subsg®)iorr(4), the business acquisition report may include

(@) a ro%rma statement of financial position as at the date of the statement
of financial ron filed immediately before the reporting issuer's most recent

statement Qi\{{pancial position filed; and

a pro forma income statement for the period ending not more than one
inte@ period before the interim period referred to in clause (5)(b)(i)(B) or (5)(b)(ii)(B),

@p licable.

@) If a reporting issuer is required to include pro forma financial statements in a
business acquisition report under subsection (5),
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(@) the reporting issuer must identify in the pro forma financial statements
each significant acquisition, if the pro forma financial statements give effect to more
than one significant acquisition;

(b) the reporting issuer must include in the pro forma financial statements

(1) adjustments attributable to each significant acquisition for \/\'ge
there are firm commitments and for which the complete financial effects are Obj
determinable;

(i) adjustments to conform amounts for the bu&n;@o? related
businesses to the issuer's accounting policies, and

(i)  a description of the underlying assumptio |ch the pro forma
financial statements are prepared, cross-referenced to @s elated pro forma
adjustment;

(c) if the financial year-end of the business dﬁ&s from the reporting issuer's
year-end by more than 93 days, for the purpose o('?eparlng the pro forma income
statement for the reporting issuer's most recently eted financial year, the reporting
issuer must construct an income statemen the business for a period of 12
consecutive months ending no more than 93 before or after the reporting issuer's
year-end, by adding the results for a subsefyent interim period to a completed financial
year of the business and deducting the parable interim results for the immediately
preceding year;

(d) if a constructed ir&;tmement is required under paragraph (c), the pro
S

forma financial statements sclose the period covered by the constructed income
statement on the face of ro forma financial statements and must include a note
stating that the financi tements of the business used to prepare the pro forma
financial statement prepared for the purpose of the pro forma financial
statements and d@c‘onform with the financial statements for the business included

elsewhere in tk@] iNess acquisition report;

(e) reportlng issuer is required to prepare a pro forma income statement
forani perlod required by paragraph (5)(b), and the pro forma income statement
for th @s recently completed financial year includes results of the business which are
als cluded in the pro forma income statement for the interim period, the reporting
j%er must disclose in a note to the pro forma financial statements the revenue,

enses and profit or loss from continuing operations included in each pro forma
income statement for the overlapping period; and

)] a constructed period referred to in paragraph (c) does not have to be
audited.
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(8) If a reporting issuer is required under subsection (1) to include financial
statements for more than one business because the significant acquisition involves an
acquisition of related businesses, the financial statements required under subsection (1)
must be presented separately for each business, except for the periods during which
the businesses have been under common control or management, in which case the
reporting issuer may present the financial statements of the businesses on a combin&d}

basis.
N

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.4; M.O. 2006-04, s. 22; M.O. 2008-06, s. 2; M.O. 2010-17, fb

8.5. (Revoked). Q“
>

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.5; M.O. 2006-04, s. 23. ~\

8.6. Exemption for Significant Acquisitions Accounte@sing the Equity

Method
O

A reporting issuer is exempt from the requiremen{s'W section 8.4 if
(@) the acquisition is, or will be, of an e%fwnvestee;

(b)  the business acquisition report ‘i.rldudes disclosure for the periods for
which financial statements are otherwise reNPed under subsection 8.4(1) that

(1) summarizes fina,u%al information of the equity investee, including
the aggregated amounts of assets,v,bl ities, revenue and profit or loss; and

(i) describ reporting issuer's proportionate interest in the equity
investee and any conting suance of securities by the equity investee that might
significantly affect the r g issuer's share of profit or loss;

(c) the § %ial information provided under paragraph (b) for the most
recently compl@ Mancial year

Gy has been derived from audited financial statements of the equity
investe&D'Q~

Q (i) has been audited; and
\ (d)  the business acquisition report

0] identifies the financial statements referred to in subparagraph (c)(i)
from which the disclosure provided under paragraph (b) has been derived; or
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(i) discloses that the financial information provided under paragraph
(b), if not derived from audited financial statements, has been audited; and

(i)  discloses that the auditor expressed an unmodified opinion with
respect to the financial statements referred to in subparagraph (i) or the financial

information referred to in subparagraph (ii). (b
M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 24; M.O. 2010-17, s. 16. Q'\
8.7. (Revoked). Q q/

)

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.7; M.O. 2006-04, s. 25.
8.8. Exemption for Significant Acquisitions if Financial Ye:r?-rd Changed

If under section 8.4 a reporting issuer is required to e financial statements
for a business acquired and the business changed its fir&ﬁyear end during either of
the financial years required to be included, the reportihONissuer may include financial

statements for the transition year in satisfaction of thefﬁ?ancial statements for one of the
years, provided that the transition year is at Ieast%h’an hs.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.8; M.O. 2006-04, s. 26. (l/

)
8.9. Exemption from Comparativei\v‘lzinancial Statements Not Previously
Prepared

A reporting issuer is no ztjired to provide comparative information for an
interim financial report requirgd er subsection 8.4(3) for a business acquired if

(@ to a rea e person it is impracticable to present prior-period
information on a basj istent with the most recently completed interim period of the
acquired business,

(b) dj%rior-period information that is available is presented; and

he notes to the interim financial report disclose the fact that the prior-
perio rmation has not been prepared on a basis consistent with the most recent
inte Inancial information.

@. 2005-03, s. 8.9; M.O. 2006-04, s. 27; M.O. 2010-17, s. 17.
8.10. Acquisition of an Interest in an Oil and Gas Property

(1) Despite subsections 8.3(1), 8.3(2), 8.3(3) and 8.3(4), the asset tests in
paragraphs 8.3(2)(a) and 8.3(4)(a) do not apply to an acquisition
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(@) of a business that is an interest in an oil and gas property or related
businesses that are interests in oil and gas properties; and

(b) that is not of securities of another issuer, unless the vendor transferred the
business referenced in paragraph (1)(a) to the other issuer and that other issuer (b
O

0] was created for the sole purpose of facilitating the acquisitiorG

(i) other than assets or operations relating to the transferred b(lginess,

has no 4
o)

(A)  substantial assets; or ~\
(B)  operating history. &
(2) Despite subsections 8.3(1), 8.3(2), 8.3(3), 8 8.3(8), 8.3(9), 8.3(10)

and 8.3(11.1), a reporting issuer must substitute "operalig income" for "specified profit
or loss" for the purposes of the profit or loss test in Kﬁbgraphs 8.3(2)(c) and 8.3(4)(c) if
the acquisition is one described in subsection (1).Q

3) Exemption from Financial Statement Df;lafosure - A reporting issuer is exempt
from the requirements in section 8.4 if '\b‘”

(@) the significant acquisitig,gns an acquisition described in subsection (1);

(b) the reporting issu% nable to provide the financial statements in respect
of the significant acquisition ise required under this Part because those financial
statements do not exist oréause the reporting issuer does not have access to those
financial statements; O

(c) the a@on does not constitute a reverse takeover;
(d) é}%mraph revoked);

in respect of the business or related businesses, for each of the financial
perio r which financial statements would, but for this section, be required under
sec .4, the business acquisition report includes

\e 0] an operating statement for the business or related businesses
prepared in accordance with subsection 3.11(5) of Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25);

(i) a pro forma operating statement of the reporting issuer that gives
effect to significant acquisitions completed since the beginning of the reporting issuer’s
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most recently completed financial year for which financial statements are required to
have been filed, as if they had taken place at the beginning of that financial year, for
each of the financial periods referred to in paragraph 8.4(5)(b);

(i)  a description of the property or properties and the interest acquired
by the reporting issuer; and (b

(iv)  disclosure of the annual oil and gas production volumes fr@ e
business or related businesses;

) the operating statement for the most recently completed }@dﬁl period

referred to in subsection 8.4(1) is audited; and

0] the estimated reserves and related fu %revenue attributable
to the business or related businesses, the material ass ns used in preparing the
estimates and the identity and relationship to the reportindgNssuer or to the vendor of the
person who prepared the estimates; and

(g) the business acquisition report discloses

(i) the estimated oil and gas ?@ction volumes from the business or
related businesses for the first year reflect in the estimates disclosed under

subparagraph (i). b‘ .
N

(4)  Areporting issuer is exemptf the requirements of subparagraphs (3)(e)(i), (ii)
and (iv), if

@) production, grg Qes royalties, production costs and operating income
were nil for the business o@&ted businesses for each financial period; and

the busQQacqwsmon report discloses this fact.

M.O. 2005-03, p. 820; M.O. 2006-04, s. 28; M.O. 2008-06, s. 3; M.O. 2010-17, s. 18;
M.O. 2013-0 Q’?

8.11. tion for Multiple Investments in the Same Business

Despite section 8.4, a reporting issuer is exempt from the requirements to file
@umal statements for an acquired business, other than the pro forma financial
tements required by subsection 8.4(5), in a business acquisition report if the
reporting issuer has made multiple investments in the same business and the acquired
business has been consolidated in the reporting issuer's most recent annual financial
statements that have been filed.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.11; M.O. 2006-04, s. 29; M.O. 2010-17, s. 19.
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PART 9 PROXY SOLICITATION AND INFORMATION CIRCULARS
9.1. Sending of Proxies and Information Circulars

(1) If management of a reporting issuer gives notice of a meeting to its registergd
holders of voting securities, management must, at the same time as or before gj %
that notice, send to each registered holder of voting securities who is entitled t(@

of the meeting a form of proxy for use at the meeting. (1/

(2) A person that solicits proxies from registered holders of voting @n’rties of a
reporting issuer must, (5

@) in the case of a solicitation by or on behalf of m ent of a reporting
issuer, send an information circular with the notice of me@ to each registered
securityholder whose proxy is solicited; or

(b) in the case of any other solicitation, ¢ rrently with or before the
solicitation, send an information circular to each re?\€b'ed securityholder whose proxy
is solicited.

3) (paragraph revoked). (l/
)
M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.1; M.O. 2008-06, s. 1NR‘O. 2008-10, s. 3.

9.1.1. Notice-and-Access

(1) A person soliciting p, o&may use notice-and-access to send proxy-related
materials to a registered @er of voting securities of a reporting issuer if all of the

following apply: O
(@ the r? red holder of voting securities is sent a notice that contains the
following inforr% and no other information:
G}’ the date, time and location of the reporting issuer's meeting for
which t y-related materials are being sent;
(i) a description of each matter or group of related matters identified in
%{orm of proxy to be voted on, unless that information is already included in a form of

that is being sent to the registered holder of voting securities under paragraph (b);

(i)  the website addresses for SEDAR and the non-SEDAR website
where the proxy-related materials are posted,

(iv)  areminder to review the information circular before voting;
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(v) an explanation of how to obtain a paper copy of the information
circular and, if applicable, the documents in paragraph (2)(b) from the person;

(vi)  a plain-language explanation of notice-and-access that includes the
following information: (b

(A) if the person is using stratification, a list of the t)g
registered holders or beneficial owners who will receive paper copies of the in(d[/ tion
circular and, if applicable, the documents in paragraph (2)(b);

(B) the estimated date and time by which a l% for a paper
copy of the information circular and, if applicable, the documents miagraph (2)(b), is
to be received in order for the requester to receive the paper ¢ advance of any
deadline for the submission of the proxy and the date of the m g

(C) an explanation of how the re/( d holder is to return the
proxy, including any deadline for return of the proxy;

(D) the sections of the j ation circular where disclosure
regarding each matter or group of related matt ntified in the notice can be found;

(E) atoll-free tele i‘@a& number the registered holder can call to
get information about notice-and-access;K

(b)  the registered holde ~&(}tlng securities is sent, by prepaid mail, courier
or the equivalent, the notice re$ y paragraph (a) and a form of proxy for use at the
meeting and, in the case o tion by or on behalf of management of the reporting
issuer, the notice and forr@sproxy are sent at least 30 days before the date of the
meeting;

(c) in th of a solicitation by or on behalf of management of the reporting
issuer, the repggtingdissuer files on SEDAR the notification of meeting and record dates

in the man d within the time specified by Regulation 54-101 respecting
Commu with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer

(chapt r 29);
9 public electronic access to the information circular, form of proxy and the
%e in paragraph (a) is provided on or before the date that the person soliciting
xies sends the notice in paragraph (a) to registered holders in the following manner:
0] the documents are filed on SEDAR as required by section 9.3;

(i) the documents are posted until the date that is one year from the
date that the documents are posted, on a website other than the website for SEDAR;
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(e) atoll-free telephone number is provided for use by the registered holder of
voting securities to request a paper copy of the information circular and, if applicable,
the documents in paragraph (2)(b), at any time from the date that the person soliciting
proxies sends the notice in paragraph (a) to the registered holder up to and including
the date of the meeting, including any adjournment; (b

1 'He,

() if a request for a paper copy of the information circular and, if ap
the documents in paragraph (2)(b), is received at the toll-free telephon ber
provided under paragraph (e) or by any other means, a paper copy of ar¥y such
document requested is sent free of charge by the person soliciting i®s to the

requester at the address specified in the request in the following mannEr.

0] in the case of a request received prior to t emte of the meeting,
within 3 business days after receiving the request, by first ail, courier or the

equivalent; O

(i) in the case of a request received Nn or after the date of the
meeting, and within one year of the information circél®&y being filed, within 10 calendar
days after receiving the request, by prepaid mail, er or the equivalent.

(2) Unless an information circular is inclugld with the proxy-related materials, a
reporting issuer that sends proxy-related Waterials to a registered holder of voting
securities using notice-and-access must hﬂ include with the proxy-related materials any
information or document that relate the particulars of any matter to be submitted to
the meeting, except for the followi

(@ the informati quired to be included in the notice under
paragraph (1)(a); &

(b) financi ments of the reporting issuer to be approved at the meeting
and MD&A reIatedQ ose financial statements, which may be part of an annual report.

(3) A noti %rder paragraph (1)(a) and the form of proxy may be combined in a

g. Posting materials on non-SEDAR website

(1) A person that posts proxy-related materials in the manner referred to in
subparagraph 9.1.1(1)(d)(ii) must also post on the website the following documents:

(@) any disclosure material regarding the meeting that the person has sent to
registered holders or beneficial owners of voting securities;

60



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 14, 2013 TO MAY 30, 2013

(b) any written communications the person soliciting proxies has made
available to the public regarding each matter or group of matters to be voted upon at the
meeting, whether or not they were sent to registered holders or beneficial owners of
voting securities.

(2) Proxy-related materials that are posted under subparagraph 9.1. 1(1)(d)(||)
be posted in a manner and be in a format that permit an individual with a rea

level of computer skill and knowledge to do all of the following easily: (1/
(@) access, read and search the documents on the website; (bQ 4
(b) download and print the documents. 4

M.O. 2013-0L, s. 5. @v

9.1.3. Consent to other delivery methods &O

For greater certainty, section 9.1.1 does not '\fb

(@) prevent a registered holder of securities from consenting to a
person’s use of other delivery methods to send y-related materials;

)
(b)  terminate or modify a consB\P[‘hat a registered holder of voting securities
previously gave to a person regardin,gkhe use of other delivery methods to send proxy-
related materials; or v

(c) prevent a per r@m sending proxy-related materials using a delivery
method to which a register@older has consented prior to February 11, 2013.

M.O. 2013-01, s. 5. O
9.1.4. InstructQQo receive paper copies

(2) De ection 9.1.1, a reporting issuer may obtain standing instructions from a
register der of voting securities that a paper copy of the information circular and, if
appli , the documents in paragraph 9.1.1(2)(b), be sent to the registered holder in
all cées when the reporting issuer uses notice-and-access.

If a reporting issuer has obtained standing instructions from a registered holder
under subsection (1), the reporting issuer must do both of the following:

(a) include with the notice required by paragraph 9.1.1(1)(a) any paper copies

of information circulars and, if applicable, the documents in paragraph 9.1.1(2)(b),
required to comply with standing instructions obtained under subsection (1);
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(b) include with the notice under paragraph (a) a description, or otherwise
inform the registered holder of, the means by which the registered holder may revoke
the registered holder’s standing instructions.

M.O. 2013-01, s. 5. (b
9.1.5. Compliance with SEC Notice-and-Access Rules Q'\
A reporting issuer that is an SEC issuer can send proxy-related magﬁals to

registered holders under section 9.1 using a delivery method permit Mder U.S.
federal securities law, if both of the following apply:

(@) the SEC issuer is subject to, and complies with R%14a-16 under the

1934 Act: @

(b) residents of Canada do not own, directly ectly, outstanding voting
securities carrying more than 50% of the votes for the eleMion of directors, and none of

the following apply: fb
N

(1) the majority of the execut@o&ficers or directors of the issuer are
residents of Canada;

)
(i) more than 50% of th%(?)‘nsolidated assets of the issuer are located
in Canada;

(i)  the busine@kﬁe issuer is administered principally in Canada.

M.O. 2013-01, s. 5. @
9.2. Exemptions fQQending Information Circular

Q) Subsecti gl(Z) does not apply to a solicitation by a person in respect of
securities of ypdMrthe person is the beneficial owner.

(2) P%‘pﬁ 9.1(2)(b) does not apply to a solicitation if the total number of

secuy Iders whose proxies are solicited is not more than 15.

For the purposes of subsection (2), 2 or more persons who are joint registered
‘Q ners of one or more securities are considered to be one securityholder.

(4) Despite paragraph 9.1(2)(b), a person, other than management of a reporting issuer

or a person acting on behalf of management, may solicit proxies from registered
securityholders of a reporting issuer without sending an information circular, if
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(@) the solicitation is made to the public by broadcast, speech or publication;

(b) soliciting proxies by broadcast, speech or publication is permitted by the
laws under which the reporting issuer is incorporated, organized or continued and the
person making the solicitation complies with the requirements, if any, of those laws
relating to the broadcast, speech or publication; (b

N

(c) the person has filed the following information: Q
0] the name and address of the reporting issuer tg wh¥Ch the
solicitation relates, (b S
(i) the information required under item 2, sections 3=4, 3.3 and 3.4 and

paragraphs (b) and (d) of item 5 of Form 51-102F5,

(i)  any information required to be di gin respect of the
broadcast, speech or publication by the laws under,{ the reporting issuer is
incorporated, organized or continued, and

(iv) acopy of any communicatior@!&w?ed to be published; and

(d)  the broadcast, speech or publicatf;(contains the information referred to in

paragraphs (c)(i) to (iii). )
A

(5) Subsection (4) does not appl o a person that is proposing, at the time of the

solicitation, a significant acquisiti restructuring transaction involving the reporting
issuer and the person, under v@gcurities of the person, or securities of an affiliate

of the person, are to be ch$ xchanged, issued or distributed, unless

(@ the perso filed an information circular or other document containing
the information requiQ‘ section 14.4 of Form 51-102F5; and

(b) th gcitation refers to that information circular or other document and

discloses th ircular or other document is on SEDAR.
(6) Rection (4) does not apply to a person that is nominating or proposing to

nomi @ at the time of the solicitation, an individual, including himself or herself, for
elec%n as a director of the reporting issuer, unless

(@) the person has filed an information circular or other document containing
the information required by Form 51-102F5 in respect of the proposed nominee; and

(b) the solicitation refers to that information circular or other document and
discloses that the circular or other document is on SEDAR.
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M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.2; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 4.
9.3. Filing of Information Circulars and Proxy-Related Material

A person that is required under this Regulation to send an information circular or
form of proxy to registered securityholders of a reporting issuer must promptly filea
copy of the information circular, form of proxy and all other material required to be gb
by the person in connection with the meeting to which the information circular or @'%of

proxy relates. (1/

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.3; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11. (.bQ"

9.3.1. Content of Information Circular ~\

(1)  Subject to Item 8 of Form 51-102F5, if a reporting |ss® nds an information
circular to a securityholder under paragraph 9.1(2)(a), the is ust,

(@) disclose all compensation paid, payabl€, Warded granted, given, or
otherwise provided, directly or indirectly, by the iss 69.,)or a subsidiary of the issuer, to
each NEO and director, in any capacity, includ@or greater certainty, all plan and
non-plan compensation, direct or indirect p muneration, economic or financial
award, reward, benefit, gift or perquisite paid,Ybayable, awarded, granted, given, or
otherwise provided to the NEO or director bgservices provided, directly or indirectly, to
the issuer or a subsidiary of the issuer, aﬁtL

making process relating to comfR¥sation, presented in such a way that it provides a
le effort, an understanding of

(b) include detalil a@sion of the compensation, and the decision-
nab

reasonable person applylngge
0] hov\@ isions about NEO and director compensation are made,

(i) %Q?ompensation paid, made payable, awarded, granted, given or
otherwise prov@ each NEO and director, and

how specific NEO and director compensation relates to the overall
steward: nd governance of the reporting issuer.

(2) e disclosure required under subsection (1) must be provided for the periods
out in, in accordance with, and subject to any exemptions set out in, Form 51-
F6, which came into force on December 31, 2008.

(3) For the purposes of this section, "NEO" and "plan™" have the meaning ascribed to
those terms in Form 51-102F6, which came into force on December 31, 2008.
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(4)  This section does not apply to an issuer in respect of a financial year ending
before December 31, 2008.

M.O. 2008-18, s. 2; M.O. 2011-05, s. 1.

9.4. Content of Form of Proxy

proxies must indicate in bold-face type whether or not the proxy is solicited on

(1) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer by a person@ﬁ?ﬂg
behalf of the management of the reporting issuer, provide a specificall; des¥gnated

blank space for dating the form of proxy and specify the meeting in resp Which the
proxy is solicited. 4

(2)  An information circular sent to securityholders of a reporti uer or the form of
proxy to which the information circular relates must &

€) indicate in bold-face type that the securityh I@has the right to appoint a

person to represent the securityholder at the meetin er than the person if any,
designated in the form of proxy; and '\(b
(b) contain instructions as to the r in which the securityholder may
exercise the right referred to in paragraph (a).
)
(3) If a form of proxy sent to sec@(?k‘}olders of a reporting issuer contains a
designation of a named person nominee, it must provide an option for the

securityholder to designate in ?ﬁ form of proxy some other person as the
securityholder's nominee.

(4) A form of proxy se@ securityholders of a reporting issuer must provide an
option for the securi er to specify that the securities registered in the
securityholder's na be voted for or against each matter or group of related
matters identified ? e form of proxy, in the notice of meeting or in an information
circular, other t@ e appointment of an auditor and the election of directors.

BG) Af f proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer may confer
discreti authority with respect to each matter referred to in subsection (4) as to
whic oice is not specified if the form of proxy or the information circular states in
bol%‘ce type how the securities represented by the proxy will be voted in respect of
@u atter or group of related matters.

(6) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer must provide an
option for the securityholder to specify that the securities registered in the name of the
securityholder must be voted or withheld from voting in respect of the appointment of an
auditor or the election of directors.
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(7)  An information circular sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer or the form of
proxy to which the information circular relates must state that

(@) the securities represented by the proxy will be voted or withheld from
voting in accordance with the instructions of the securityholder on any ballot that may be
called for; and

(b) if the securityholder specifies a choice under subsection (4) or (@'With
respect to any matter to be acted upon, the securities will be voted accordingly

(8 A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting Issu &y confer
discretionary authority with respect to

(@) amendments or variations to matters identified in t otlce of meeting;

and @

(b) other matters which may properly come be;{ meeting,

if, '\Q)

(© the person by whom or on who Qhalf the solicitation is made is not
aware within a reasonable time before the time?fle solicitation is made that any of those
amendments, variations or other matters av‘ts be presented for action at the meeting;
and

proxy that the proxy is conferri h discretionary authority.

(d)  a specific statemye@rlifg,mhde in the information circular or in the form of

(9) A form of proxy 5@0 securityholders of a reporting issuer must not confer
authority to vote O

(@) for t%ion of any person as a director of a reporting issuer unless a
bona fide prop;e ominee for that election is named in the information circular or, in

the case of licitation under subsection 9.2(4), the document required under

paragraph?. (a); or

at any meeting other than the meeting specified in the notice of meeting or
anydjournment of that meeting.

0. 2005-03, s. 9.4; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2010-17, s. 20.
9.5. Exemption

Sections 9.1 to 9.4 do not apply to a reporting issuer, or a person that solicits
proxies from registered holders of voting securities of a reporting issuer, if
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(@) the reporting issuer or other person complies with the requirements of the
laws relating to the solicitation of proxies under which the reporting issuer is
incorporated, organized or continued;

(b)  the requirements referred to in subsection (a) are substantially similar to
the requirements of this Part; and '\

(c) the reporting issuer or other person files a copy of any informatioﬂ%ular
and form of proxy, or other documents that contain substantially similar_infoihation,
promptly after the reporting issuer or other person sends the circular @n“ or other
document in connection with the meeting. (b

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.5; M.O. 2006-04, s. 30; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; S;?QOOS-lO, s. 5.
PART 10 RESTRICTED SECURITY DISCLOSURE O
10.1. Restricted Security Disclosure &

(1) If a reporting issuer has outstanding res {éd securities, or securities that are
directly or indirectly convertible into or exe ﬁ)le or exchangeable for restricted
securities or securities that will, when issued, rggult in an existing class of outstanding
securities being considered restricted sbewities, each document referred to in
subsection (2) must

(@) refer to restricted se?mihes using a term that includes the appropriate
restricted security term;

(b) not referto s sties by a term that includes "common”, or "preference" or
"preferred”, unless th curities are common shares or preference shares,

respectively;

(c) d c%e any restrictions on the voting rights of restricted securities;
a takeo is made for securities of the reporting issuer with voting rights superior to

thosQ ed to the restricted securities;
(e) state the percentage of the aggregate voting rights attached to the
\ orting issuer's securities that are represented by the class of restricted securities;
and

(d) :%G,dscribe the rights to participate, if any, of holders of restricted securities if

)] if holders of restricted securities have no right to participate if a takeover
bid is made for securities of the reporting issuer with voting rights superior to those
attached to the restricted securities, contain a statement to that effect in bold-face type.
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(2)  Subsection (1) applies to the following documents:
(@  aninformation circular;

(b)  a document required by this Regulation to be delivered upon request b¥g

reporting issuer to any of its securityholders; and ,\
(© an AlF prepared by a reporting issuer. (I/Q
3) Despite subsection (2), annual financial statements, an interim fi\a)ctal report

and MD&A or other accompanying discussion by management Qf "tQ#se financial
statements are not required to include the details referred to in paoelraphs (2)(c), (d),
(e) and (f).

4) Each reference to restricted securities in any d ﬁ not referred to in
subsection (2) that a reporting issuer sends to its se @uolders must include the
appropriate restricted security term.

(5) A reporting issuer must not refer, in (o? the documents described in
subsection (4), to securities by a term thate des "common" or "preference" or
"preferred”, unless the securities are com@fon shares or preference shares,
respectively. b‘ .

(6) Despite paragraph (1)(b) and sibsection (5), a reporting issuer may, in one place
only in a document referred to |n ection (2) or (4), describe the restricted securities
by the term used in the consta & ocuments of the reporting issuer, to the extent that
term differs from the appro stricted security term, if the description is not on the
front page of the documeéﬂd is in the same type face and type size as that used
generally in the docume@

M.O. 2005-03; s. @E’rratum, 2005, G.0O. 2, 3727; M.O. 2008-06, s. 4; M.O. 2010-17,
s. 21.

10.2. Dis jhation of Disclosure Documents to Holder of Restricted Securities

Q) reporting issuer sends a document to all holders of any class of its equity
secﬁles the document must also be sent by the reporting issuer at the same time to
ders of its restricted securities.

( ) A reporting issuer that is required by this Regulation to arrange for, or voluntarily
makes arrangements for, delivery of the documents referred to in subsection (1) to the
beneficial owners of any securities of a class of equity securities registered in the name
of a registrant, must make similar arrangements for delivery of the documents to the
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beneficial owners of securities of a class of restricted securities registered in the name
of the registrant.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 10.2.

10.3. Exemptions for Certain Reporting Issuers (b

The provisions of sections 10.1 and 10.2 do not apply to Q

(@)  securities that carry a right to vote subject to a restriction on the nuMber or
percentage of securities that may be voted or owned by persons that ar ditizens or
residents of Canada or that are otherwise considered as a result of gny applicable
to the reporting issuer to be non-Canadians, but only to the extent of: restriction; and

(b)  securities that are subject to a restriction, |mpo any law governing
the reporting issuer, on the level of ownership of the les by any person or
combination of persons, but only to the extent of the res&

M.O. 2005-03, s. 10.3; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 29{938, s. 3.
PART 11  ADDITIONAL FILING REQUIREM@S
11.1. Additional Disclosure Requiremerﬁs

(1)  Areporting issuer must file a ;;th of any disclosure material

(@) thatit sends to |ts@yholders

(b) in the case SEC issuer, that it files with or furnishes to the SEC
under the 1934 Act, i tng material filed as exhibits to other documents, if the
material contains inf n that has not been included in disclosure already filed in a
jurisdiction by the issuer; or

(c) it files with another provincial or territorial securities regulatory
authority o? an in connection with a distribution.

(2) porting issuer must file the material on the same date as, or as soon as
pra@a le after, the earlier of

\e (@) the date on which the reporting issuer sends the material to its
securityholders;

(b) the date on which the reporting issuer files or furnishes the material to the
SEC; and

69



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 14, 2013 TO MAY 30, 2013

(c) the date on which the reporting issuer files that material with the other
provincial or territorial securities regulatory authority.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 31.
11.2. Change of Status Report

S

A reporting issuer must file a notice promptly after the occurrence of eithle e

following: (1/

(@) the reporting issuer becomes a venture issuer; or (bQ S

(b) the reporting issuer ceases to be a venture issuer. ~\

M.O. 2005-03, 5. 11.2. @v
O

11.3. Voting Results &

A reporting issuer that is not a venture issue %t, promptly following a meeting
of securityholders at which a matter was submitt EM vote, file a report that discloses,
for each matter voted upon (l/

(@) a brief description of the matbguoted upon and the outcome of the vote;
and

votes are cast both in person an proxy, the number or percentage of votes cast for,
against or withheld from the §ot

(b) if the vote was c@é by ballot, including a vote on a matter in which

M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.3.
11.4. Financial | %ation

Arep ssuer must file a copy of any news release issued by it that discloses
rding its historical or prospective financial performance or financial

informatio

conditio Qﬂ financial year or interim period.
M.QO;S-OB, s. 11.4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 23.
@.5. Re-filing Documents

If a reporting issuer decides it will

@) re-file a document filed under this Regulation, or
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(b) re-state financial information for comparative periods in financial
statements for reasons other than retrospective application of a change in an
accounting standard or policy or a new accounting standard,

and the information in the re-filed document, or re-stated financial information,
will differ materially from the information originally filed, the issuer must immediat
issue and file a news release authorized by an executive officer disclosing the nz;&
and substance of the change or proposed changes.

M.O. 2006-04, s. 32; M.O. 2010-17, s. 24. (1/
)

11.6. Executive Compensation Disclosure for Certain Reporting gbrs

that includes the disclosure required by Item 8 of Form 51-10 d that does not file
an AIF that includes the executive compensation disclos quired by Item 18 of
Form 51-102F2 must &6

(1)  Areporting issuer that does not send to its securityholder% wiformation circular

(@) disclose all compensation paid, payaﬁb awarded, granted, given, or
otherwise provided, directly or indirectly, by the i , Or a subsidiary of the issuer, to
each NEO and director, in any capacity, incl &or greater certainty, all plan and
non-plan compensation, direct or indirect payy/remuneration, economic or financial
award, reward, benefit, gift or perquisi:&%iid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or
otherwise provided to the NEO or direct r services provided, directly or indirectly, to
the issuer or a subsidiary of the issungamd

(b) include detail and cussion of the compensation, and the decision-
making process relating to §0 nsation, presented in such a way that it provides a

reasonable person, applyi sonable effort, an understanding of
0] @Qeisions about NEO and director compensation are made,

(ii Qhe compensation paid, made payable, awarded, granted, given or
otherwise prt) to each NEO and director, and

i)  how specific NEO and director compensation relates to the overall
stev&r@ip and governance of the reporting issuer.

The disclosure required under subsection (1) must be provided for the periods
out in, and in accordance with Form 51-102F6, which came into force on
December 31, 2008.

3) The disclosure required under subsection (1) must be filed not Iater

than 140 days after the end of the reporting issuer’'s most recently completed financial
year.
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4) For the purposes of this section, "NEO" and "plan" have the meaning ascribed to
those terms in Form 51-102F6, which came into force on December 31, 2008.

(5) This section does not apply to an issuer that satisfies securities legislation
requirements relating to information circulars, proxies and proxy solicitation under
section 4.6 or 5.7 of Regulation 71-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure and 2‘%
Exemptions Relating to Foreign Issuers (chapter V-1.1, r. 37). Q

(6)  This section does not apply to an issuer in respect of a financial ea{rlénding
before December 31, 2008. (bé S

M.O. 2008-18, 5. 4; M.O. 2011-05, 5. 2. <
PART 12 FILING OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS &
12.1. Filing of Documents Affecting the Rights of Se/@holders

(1) A reporting issuer must file copies of the follofwyg documents, and any material
amendments to the following documents, unless usly filed:

(@) articles of incorporation, amafg}lﬂ‘nation, continuation or any other
constating or establishing documents of the\gauer, unless the constating or establishing
document is a statutory or regulatory instfwnent;

(b) by-laws or other corrv),p ding instruments currently in effect;

(c) any securityho e@voting trust agreement that the reporting issuer has
access to and that can re bly be regarded as material to an investor in securities of
the reporting issuer; O

(d) any ityholders' rights plans or other similar plans; and

can reasq be regarded as materially affecting the rights or obligations of its

(e) her contract of the issuer or a subsidiary of the issuer that creates or
security, ng

s generally.

(2) QA document required to be filed under subsection (1) may be filed in paper format

\y

(@) it is dated before June 1, 2005; and

(b) it does not exist in an acceptable electronic format.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 12.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 33.
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12.2. Filing of Material Contracts

(1) Unless previously filed, a reporting issuer must file a material contract entered
into

(@) within the last financial year; or '\(b
(b) before the last financial year if that material contract is still in effeqfl/Q

(2) Despite subsection (1), a reporting issuer is not required toﬁ » material
contract entered into in the ordinary course of business unless the mi ontract is

(@) a contract to which directors, officers, or promote %artles other than
a contract of employment; ®

(b)  a continuing contract to sell the majority o;@portlng issuer’s products
or services or to purchase the majority of the reporting 1sSier’s requirements of goods,
services, or raw materials; '\(%

(© a franchise or licence or other aw@ent to use a patent, formula, trade
secret, process or trade name;
)
(d) a financing or credit agreehsent with terms that have a direct correlation
with anticipated cash distributions;

(e) an external mana@gnt or external administration agreement; or

)] a contract @vhich the reporting issuer's business is substantially

dependent. O

3) A provisiong material contract filed pursuant to subsections (1) or (2) may be
omitted or markedNo be unreadable if an executive officer of the reporting issuer
reasonably tf&s that disclosure of that provision would be seriously prejudicial to the
interests a‘ eporting issuer or would violate confidentiality provisions.

(4)
S

(b) events of default or other terms relating to the termination of the material
contract; or

section (3) does not apply if the provision relates to:

(@) debt covenants and ratios in financing or credit agreements;

(c) other terms necessary for understanding the impact of the material
contract on the business of the reporting issuer.
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(5) If a provision is omitted or marked to be unreadable under subsection (3), the
reporting issuer must include a description of the type of information that has been
omitted or marked to be unreadable immediately after the provision in the copy of the
material contract filed by the reporting issuer.

(6) Despite subsections (1) and (2), a reporting issuer is not required to f@
material contract entered into before January 1, 2002.

d
M.O. 2005-03, s. 12.2; M.O. 2008-06, s. 5. (1/
o

12.3. Time for Filing of Documents

The documents required to be filed under sections 12.1 and\J&2 must be filed no
later than the time the reporting issuer files a material change in Form 51-102F3,
if the making of the document constitutes a material changeér e issuer, and

@) no later than the time the reporting issuer' is filed under section 6.1, if
the document was made or adopted before the date dfbe issuer's AlF; or

(b) if the reporting issuer is not requiqﬁ file an AIF under section 6.1, within
120 days after the end of the issuer's most rggently completed financial year, if the
document was made or adopted before thewnd of the issuer's most recently completed
financial year.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 12.3; Erratum, 20%80. 2,3727.
PART 13 EXEMPTIONS
13.1. Exemptions fro %?egulation

(1)  The securiti ggulatory authority may grant an exemption from this Regulation,
in whole or in %rt ubject to such conditions or restrictions as may be imposed in the

exemption. C)

e subsection (1), in Ontario only the regulator may grant such an

Except in Ontario, an exemption referred to in subsection (1) is granted under the
tute referred to in Appendix B of Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions
(chapter V-1.1, r. 3), opposite the name of the local jurisdiction.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 34; M.O. 2008-18, s. 6 and 13.
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13.2. Existing Exemptions

(1) A reporting issuer that was entitled to rely on an exemption, waiver or approval
granted to it by a securities regulatory authority relating to continuous disclosure
requirements of securities legislation or securities directions existing immediately before
this Regulation came into force is exempt from any substantially similar provision of thys
Regulation to the same extent and on the same conditions, if any, as contained il)\
exemption, waiver or approval. Q

(2) A reporting issuer must, at the time that it first intends to rely on subsectidf (1) in
connection with a filing requirement under this Regulation, inform(B Yecurities
regulatory authority in writing of

(@) the general nature of the prior exemption, waiver o %oval and the date
on which it was granted; and é

(b) the requirement under prior securities legisl '(@)r securities directions in

respect of which the prior exemption, waiver or approvaNapplied and the substantially
similar provision of this Regulation. '\fb

M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.2. (I/Q

13.3. Exemption for Certain Exchangea%eeecurity Issuers

In this section: 4

"designated Canadian %&cﬁon" means Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba,
New Brunswick, Nova Scoti rio, Québec, or Saskatchewan;
Qeable security” means an exchangeable security which

provides the holder ecurity with economic and voting rights which are, as nearly
as possible excep x implications, equivalent to the underlying securities;

"designated exch

or carries ight of the holder to purchase, or of the parent issuer to cause the

"exch %@Ie security” means a security of an issuer that is exchangeable for,
purchas d,gr{underlying security;

"exchangeable security issuer" means a person that has issued an exchangeable

\%y%y;

"parent issuer”, when used in relation to an exchangeable security issuer, means
the person that issues the underlying security; and

"underlying security” means a security of a parent issuer issued or transferred, or
to be issued or transferred, on the exchange of an exchangeable security.
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(2)  An exchangeable security issuer satisfies the requirements in this Regulation if

(@) the parent issuer is the beneficial owner of all the issued and outstanding
voting securities of the exchangeable security issuer;

(b) the parent issuer is either '\(b

(1) an SEC issuer with a class of securities listed or quoted WI/QJ S.
marketplace that has filed all documents it is required to file with the SEC; or

(i) a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian jur, gbon that has
filed all documents it is required to file under this Regulation; 4

(© the exchangeable security issuer does not |ssue@s§ curities, and does
not have any securities outstanding, other than

0] designated exchangeable securities;

(i) securities issued to and heI(@:?e parent issuer or an affiliate of
the parent issuer; (l/

(i)  debt securities issued l»élﬁld held by banks, loan corporations, loan
and investment corporations, savings co anies, trust corporations, treasury branches,
savings or credit unions, financial senk:es cooperatives, insurance companies or other
financial institutions; or v

requirement in section and registration requirement in section 3.35 of
Regulation 45-106 r ting Prospectus  and Registration Exemptions
(chapter V-1.1, r. 21),

(iv) securitieg @ued under exemptions from the prospectus

(d) th e?hangeable security issuer files in electronic format,

Gy if the parent issuer is not a reporting issuer in a designated
Canadi ¥sdiction, copies of all documents the parent issuer is required to file with
the nder the 1934 Act, at the same time as, or as soon as practicable after, the
filinGgy the parent issuer of those documents with the SEC; or

(i) if the parent issuer is a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian
jurisdiction,

(A) a notice indicating that the exchangeable security issuer is
relying on the continuous disclosure documents filed by its parent issuer and setting out
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where those documents can be found in electronic format, if the parent issuer is a
reporting issuer in the local jurisdiction; or

(B) copies of all documents the parent issuer is required to file
under securities legislation, other than in connection with a distribution, at the same time
as the filing by the parent issuer of those documents with a securities regulat??/)

authority; '\

(e) the exchangeable security issuer concurrently sends to all hﬂ@s of
designated exchangeable securities all disclosure materials that are sent to ho¥ers of
the underlying securities in the manner and at the time required by (.b 4

0] U.S. laws and any U.S. marketplace on whiehbecurities of the
parent issuer are listed or quoted, if the parent issuer is not ?porting issuer in a
designated Canadian jurisdiction; or &

(i) securities legislation, if the parent i&@is a reporting issuer in a
designated Canadian jurisdiction; ('b

() the parent issuer Q

0] complies with U.S. Iaws(lAnd the requirements of any U.S.
marketplace on which the securities of tif§¢ parent issuer are listed or quoted if the
parent issuer is not a reporting issué\n a designated Canadian jurisdiction, or
securities legislation if the parent isgyer is a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian
jurisdiction, in respect of making It disclosure of material information on a timely

basis; and ‘&
Y

(i) immea issues in Canada and files any news release that
discloses a material ch ¥ its affairs;

(99 the %%geable security issuer issues in Canada a news release and
files a material gharlye report in accordance with Part 7 of this Regulation for all material
changes inr %ﬂ of the affairs of the exchangeable security issuer that are not also
material @s in the affairs of its parent issuer; and

the parent issuer includes in all mailings of proxy solicitation materials to
hoI(Qs of designated exchangeable securities a clear and concise statement that

\e 0] explains the reason the mailed material relates solely to the parent
issuer;

(i) indicates that the designated exchangeable securities are the
economic equivalent to the underlying securities; and
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(i)  describes the voting rights associated with the designated
exchangeable securities.

(3) The insider reporting requirement and the requirement to file an insider profile
under National Instrument 55-102 System for Electronic Disclosure by Insiders
(chapter V-1.1, r. 30) does not apply to any insider of an exchangeable security issuer

respect of securities of the exchangeable security issuer so long as, ,\(g

€) if the insider is not the parent issuer, (I/Q

(1) the insider does not receive, in the ordinary course '@mation as
to material facts or material changes concerning the parent issuer bgforg)the material
facts or material changes are generally disclosed, and i

(i) the insider is not an insider of the pare@gr in any capacity
other than by virtue of being an insider of the exchangeableéc Ity issuer;

(b) the parent issuer is the beneficial ow of all of the issued and
outstanding voting securities of the exchangeable s?c\ﬂjy issuer;

(© if the insider is the parent issuer, leider does not beneficially own any
designated exchangeable securities other than gcurities acquired through the exercise
of the exchange right and not subsequentIyB@ded by the insider;

(d)  the parent issuer is aQEC issuer or a reporting issuer in a designated
Canadian jurisdiction; and v

(e) the exchange Ie%&:urity issuer has not issued any securities and does
not have any securities ou ing, other than

0] ated exchangeable securities;

(ii gecurities issued to and held by the parent issuer or an affiliate of
the parent is :

iii)  debt securities issued to and held by banks, loan corporations, loan
and i @ ment corporations, savings companies, trust corporations, treasury branches,
savigs or credit unions, financial services cooperatives, insurance companies or other

@uual institutions: and

(iv)  securities issued wunder exemptions from the prospectus
requirement in section 2.35 and registration requirement in section 3.35 of
Regulation 45-106 respecting Prospectus and Registration Exemptions.
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M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 35; M.O. 2008-06, s. 6 and 11; M.O. 2009-05,
s. 1.

13.4. Exemption for Certain Credit Support Issuers

(1) In this section: (b
"alternative credit support” means support, other than a guarantee, %’?ﬁe
payments to be made by the issuer, as stipulated in the terms of the securitie(‘& n
agreement governing rights of, or granting rights to, holders of the securities that
)
(@) obliges the person providing the support to provide the is‘sbr with funds
sufficient to enable the issuer to make the stipulated payments, or ~\

a

(b)  entitles the holder of the securities to receive, f@g person providing
the support, payment if the issuer fails to make a stipulateda nt;

"credit support issuer" means an issuer of securities for which a credit supporter
has provided a guarantee or alternative credit supp%r\f;b

"credit supporter" means a person that ?@les a guarantee or alternative credit
support for any of the payments to be made byyén issuer of securities as stipulated in
the terms of the securities or in an agreen@gt«governing rights of, or granting rights to,
holders of the securities;

"designated Canadian juris *n means Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba,
New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, rio, Québec or Saskatchewan; "designated credit
support securities” means

(@) non-conv debt securities or convertible debt securities that are
convertible into non-g‘@. tible securities of the credit supporter; or

(b) n
convertible i
supporter

-convertible preferred shares or convertible preferred shares that are
curities of the credit supporter, in respect of which a parent credit
ovided

Q@ alternative credit support that
< es (1) entitles the holder of the securities to receive payment from the
dit supporter, or enables the holder to receive payment from the credit support

issuer, within 15 days of any failure by the credit support issuer to make a payment; and

(i) results in the securities receiving the same credit rating as, or a
higher credit rating than, the credit rating they would have received if payment had been
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fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the credit supporter, or would result in the
securities receiving such a rating if they were rated; or

(d) a full and unconditional guarantee of the payments to be made by the
credit support issuer, as stipulated in the terms of the securities or in an agreement
governing the rights of holders of the securities, that results in the holder of su
securities being entitled to receive payment from the credit supporter within 15 days\{%
any failure by the credit support issuer to make a payment; Q

"parent credit supporter® means a credit supporter of which the reporting(il/suer is
a subsidiary; (b 4

"subsidiary credit supporter" means a credit supporter that ise\subsidiary of the
parent credit supporter; and

"summary financial information™ includes the foIIowin@ﬁms:
@) revenue; &

(b) profit or loss from continuing opesfhns attributable to owners of the

parent; (l/

(© profit or loss attributable to O\Abehs of the parent; and
(d) unless the accounting Qiinciples used to prepare the financial statements
of the person permits the prepargiQn’ of the person's statement of financial position
without classifying assets and I@( es between current and non-current and the person
provides alternative meaningfuN™hancial information which is more appropriate to the
industry, é
0] QQ assets;
(i%%on-current assets;
2@ current liabilities; and
QO (iv)  non-current liabilities.

) For the purposes of subparagraph (2)(g)(ii), consolidating summary financial
{Xormation must be prepared on the following basis:

(@ an entity’s annual or interim summary financial information must be
derived from the entity’s financial information underlying the corresponding consolidated
financial statements of the parent credit supporter for the corresponding period;
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(b) the parent credit supporter column must account for investments in all
subsidiaries under the equity method; and

(c) all subsidiary entity columns must account for investments in non-credit
supporter subsidiaries under the equity method.

(2) Except as provided in this section, a credit support issuer satisfies,\ﬁb

requirements in this Regulation if Q

(@) the parent credit supporter is the beneficial owner of all the outgénding
voting securities of the credit support issuer; (b 4

(b) the parent credit supporter is either 4

0] an SEC issuer that is incorporated or orgﬁZ‘under the laws of
the United States of America or any state or territory of the Julpit®d States of America or
the District of Columbia and that has filed all documen required to file with the
SEC; or ){

(i) a reporting issuer in a desi ﬁhe(? Canadian jurisdiction that has
filed all documents it is required to file under thp@;ulaﬁon;

(© the credit support issuer doesvkot issue any securities, and does not have
any securities outstanding, other than '\

0] designated cragit stipport securities;

(i) securitie, de to and held by the parent credit supporter or an
affiliate of the parent credi@porter;

(i) Q@curities issued to and held by banks, loan corporations, loan
and investment co% tions, savings companies, trust corporations, treasury branches,
savings or credj umens, financial services cooperatives, insurance companies or other

financial instiC) cor

Qﬂiv) securities issued under exemptions from the prospectus
requi in section 2.35 and registration requirement in section 3.35 of
Reg@tlon 45-106 respecting Prospectus  and Registration Exemptions

@p erV-1.1, r. 21);

(d) the credit support issuer files in electronic format,
0] if the parent credit supporter is not a reporting issuer in a

designated Canadian jurisdiction, copies of all documents the parent credit supporter is
required to file with the SEC under the 1934 Act, at the same time or as soon as
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practicable after the filing by the parent credit supporter of those documents with the
SEC; or

(i) if the parent credit supporter is a reporting issuer in a designated
Canadian jurisdiction,

(A) a notice indicating that the credit support issuer is relyin ((b
the continuous disclosure documents filed by the parent credit supporter and set &
where those documents can be found for viewing in electronic format, if m't/ edit
support issuer is a reporting issuer in the local jurisdiction; or

(B) copies of all documents the parent crgdit upporter is
required to file under securities legislation, other than in connection=&jth a distribution,
at the same time as the filing by the parent credit supporter of t (?»documents with a
securities regulatory authority; &

(e) if the parent credit supporter is not a re&@ issuer in a designated
Canadian jurisdiction, the parent credit supporter

0] complies with U.S. laws ﬁ:ge requirements of any U.S.
marketplace on which securities of the paren it supporter are listed or quoted in
respect of making public disclosure of material iIngdrmation on a timely basis; and
)
(i) immediately issuesm\ Canada and files any news release that
discloses a material change in its affg]

) the credit suppo%ng;r issues in Canada a news release and files a
material change report in acso ce with Part 7 for all material changes in respect of

the affairs of the credit su issuer that are not also material changes in the affairs of
the parent credit suppor@

(@99 the t%gajpport issuer files, in electronic format, in the notice referred to
in clause (d)(ii)(p) odin or with the copy of each consolidated interim financial report and

consolldated al financial statements filed under subparagraph (d)(i) or

clause (d) @ either

9 (1) a statement that the financial results of the credit support issuer are
|ncI the consolidated financial results of the parent credit supporter, if at that

(A) the credit support issuer has minimal assets, operations,
revenue or cash flows other than those related to the issuance, administration and
repayment of the securities described in paragraph (c), and
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(B) each item of the summary financial information of the
subsidiaries of the parent credit supporter on a combined basis, other than the credit
support issuer, represents less than 3% of the corresponding items on the consolidated
financial statements of the parent credit supporter being filed or referred to under
paragraph (d), or

(i) for the periods covered by the consolidated interim financial r
or consolidated annual financial statements of the parent credit supporteg~Nil®d,
consolidating summary financial information for the parent credit supporter m't/ ted
with a separate column for each of the following:
Qﬂ
(A)  the parent credit supporter; A(b

(B) the credit support issuer;

(C) any other subsidiaries of the p ns credit supporter on a
combined basis; &

(D)  consolidating adjustmen;s\@d
(E) the total consolidate@l}%ounts;

(h) the credit support issuer file sorrected notice under clause (d)(ii)(A) if
the credit support issuer filed the Nce with the statement contemplated in
subparagraph (g)(i) and the cw{t support issuer can no longer rely on

subparagraph (g)(i); v

0] in the case of DSeﬁated credit support securities that include debt, the

credit support issuer con tly sends to all holders of such securities all disclosure
materials that are sent @ ders of similar debt of the parent credit supporter in the
manner and at the tirg@r®duired by

(), .S. laws and any U.S. marketplace on which securities of the
parent credi orter are listed or quoted, if the parent credit supporter is not a
reporting i? in a designated Canadian jurisdiction; or

(i) securities legislation, if the parent credit supporter is a reporting
issuQin a designated Canadian jurisdiction; and

$ () in the case of designated credit support securities that include preferred
shares, the credit support issuer concurrently sends to all holders of such securities all
disclosure materials that are sent to holders of similar preferred shares of the parent
credit supporter in the manner and at the time required by
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(1) U.S. laws and any U.S. marketplace on which securities of the
parent credit supporter are listed or quoted, if the parent credit supporter is not a
reporting issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction; or

(i) securities legislation, if the parent credit supporter is a reporting
issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction. (b

(k) no person other than the parent credit supporter has provided a gugn e
or alternative credit support for the payments to be made under any is:iUB and
outstanding securities of the credit support issuer.

(2.1) A credit support issuer satisfies the requirements of this Regu f(bwhere there
is a parent credit supporter and one or more subsidiary credit suppo

(@) the conditions in paragraphs (2)(a) to (f), (i), and § complied with;

(b) the parent credit supporter controls each iary credit supporter and
the parent credit supporter has consolidated the fmanm&atements of each subsidiary
credit supporter into the parent credit supporter’s f@lal statements that are filed or
referred to under paragraph (2)(d); Q;\

(c) the credit support issuer files, in el@€tronic format, in the notice referred to
in clause (2)(d)(ii)(A) or in or with the co&y{ &ach consolidated interim financial report
and the consolidated annual financial stgments filed under subparagraph (2)(d)(i) or
clause (2)(d)(ii)(B), for a period covergd by any consolidated interim financial report or

consolidated annual financial stagsggehts of the parent credit supporter filed by the
parent credit supporter, consolida® summary financial information for the parent credit

supporter presented with a sgp e column for each of the following:
0] the credit supporter;

(i) ngredit support issuer;

é}@ each subsidiary credit supporter on a combined basis;

iv)  any other subsidiaries of the parent credit supporter on a combined

. é (v) consolidating adjustments; and

(vi)  the total consolidated amounts;
(d) no person, other than the parent credit supporter or a subsidiary credit

supporter has provided a guarantee or alternative credit support for the payments to be
made under the issued and outstanding designated credit support securities; and
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(e) the guarantees or alternative credit supports are joint and several.

(2.2) Despite paragraph (2.1)(c), the information set out in a column in accordance
with

accordance with any of the other columns in paragraph (2.1)(c); if each item e
summary financial information set out in a column in accordanft} ith
subparagraph (2.1)(c)(iv) represents less than 3% of the corresponding items¥on the
consolidated financial statements of the parent credit supporter being fil dferred to
under paragraph (2)(d),

(@) subparagraph (2.1)(c)(iv), may be combined with the information set&s‘b

accordance with any of the other columns in paragraph (2. f the credit support
issuer has minimal assets, operations, revenue or cash flow, than those related to
the issuance, administration and repayment of ecurities described in
paragraph (2)(c).

(b)  subparagraph (2.1)(c)(ii) may be combined with th mation set out in
ét }

(3) The insider reporting requirement and th Oﬁ)lrement to file an insider profile
under National Instrument 55-102 System forﬂg ronic Disclosure by Insiders (SEDI)
(chapter V-1.1, r. 30) do not apply to an insiderydf a credit support issuer in respect of
securities of the credit support issuer so Iorb@s,

(@) the conditions in parag;akhs (2)(a) to (c) are complied with;
(b) if the insider is no@&ait supporter,

0] the Ingy does not receive, in the ordinary course, information as
to material facts or mat hanges concerning a credit supporter before the material
facts or material cha% re generally disclosed, and

other than b of being an insider of the credit support issuer; and

(ii& Qhe insider is not an insider of a credit supporter in any capacity

=it the insider is a credit supporter, the insider does not beneficially own any
desig @n credit support securities;

A parent credit supporter is not a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian
\sisdiction for the purposes of subparagraph (2)(b)(ii) if the parent credit supporter
complies with a requirement of this Regulation by relying on a provision of
Regulation 71-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure and Other Exemptions Relating to
Foreign Issuers (chapter V-1.1, r. 37).
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M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.4; Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727; M.O. 2006-04, s. 36; M.O. 2008-
06, s. 7 and 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 7; M.O. 2009-05, s. 2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 26;
M.O. 2012-05, s. 1.

PART 14 EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION

14.1. Effective Date '\(b

(Omitted). (I/Q

M.O. 2005-03, s. 14.1. Q-
o)
14.2. Transition ~\

Despite section 14.1, section 5.7 applies for financial ye@i the reporting issuer
beginning on or after January 1, 2007. O

M.O. 2005-03, s. 14.2; Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727; M.0.R006-04, s. 37.

14.3. Transition - Interim Financial Report Q’\

(2) Despite section 4.4 and paragraph 4. )(c), the first interim financial report
required to be filed in the year of adopday IFRS in respect of an interim period

beginning on or after January 1, 2011 m e filed

(@) in the case of a repo?’qg issuer other than a venture issuer, on or before
the earlier of

(1) the 75®§y after the end of the interim period; and

(i) Qe of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial report
for a period endlngQ'l e last day of the interim period; or

(b) C)%é case of a venture issuer, on or before the earlier of
Q‘(i) the 90th day after the end of the interim period; and

(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial report
@ period ending on the last day of the interim period.

(2) Despite subsection 5.1(2), the MD&A required to be filed under subsection 5.1(1)
relating to the first interim financial report required to be filed in the year of adopting
IFRS in respect of an interim period beginning on or after January 1, 2011 may be filed
on or before the earlier of
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(@) the filing deadline for the interim financial report set out in subsection (1);
and

(b) the date the reporting issuer files the interim financial report under
subsections (1) or 4.3(1), as applicable.

3) Despite subsection 4.6(3), if a registered holder or beneficial owner of securjixgb
other than debt instruments, of a reporting issuer requests the issuer's first gsehm
financial report required to be filed in the year of adopting IFRS in respect of rim
period beginning on or after January 1, 2011, the reporting issuer may send a ¥opy of
the required interim financial report and the interim MD&A relating & interim
financial report to the person that made the request, without charge, by th&later of,

@) in the case of a reporting issuer relying on subs (1), 10 calendar
days after the filing deadline set out in subsection (1), for@\inancial statements
requested,;

(b) in the case of a reporting issuer not rerinﬁn subsection (1), 10 calendar
days after the filing deadline in subparagraph 4.4(a (irg 4.4(b)(i), subsection 4.10(2) or
subsection 14.3(1), as applicable, for the financia ments requested; and

(c) 10 calendar days after the issuer Q(eives the request.

)
(4)  Subsections (1), (2) and (3) do no@)‘ly unless the reporting issuer:

@) is disclosing, for the fgg{ ,time, a statement of compliance with International
Accounting Standard 34 Interim ncial Reporting; and

(b) did not previ@y file financial statements that disclosed compliance with

IFRS. O

(5) Subsection%Q(Z) and (3) do not apply if the first interim financial report is in
respect of an ingerinsperiod ending after March 30, 2012.

M.O. 2010; @.‘27.
O
&
Ny
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FORM 51-102F1 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Description of MD&A

MDG&A is a narrative explanation, through the eyes of management, of how Sab
company performed during the period covered by the financial statements, and &ur
company's financial condition and future prospects. MD&A complem and
supplements your financial statements, but does not form part of your ffhiancial
statements. (b 4

Your objective when preparing the MD&A should be to impreukyour company's
overall financial disclosure by giving a balanced discussion of y mpany's financial
performance and financial condition including, without limitatio h considerations as
liquidity and capital resources - openly reporting bad news | as good news. Your
MD&A should &

- help current and prospective investo@mderstand what the financial
statements show and do not show; Q

- discuss material information that not be fully reflected in the financial
statements, such as contingent liabilitie$y defaults under debt, off-balance sheet
financing arrangements, or other contracfba obligations;

- discuss important t and risks that have affected the financial
statements, and trends and ris t are reasonably likely to affect them in the future;

and

- provide in tion about the quality, and potential variability, of your
company's profit or and cash flow, to assist investors in determining if past
performance is indg e of future performance.

(b) Date b%armation

I aring the MD&A, you must take into account information available up to
the d he MD&A. If the date of the MD&A is not the date it is filed, you must ensure
the §closure in the MD&A is current so that it will not be misleading when it is filed.

\&\ Use of "Company"

Wherever this Form uses the word "company"”, the term includes other types of
business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business
entities.
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(d)  Explain Your Analysis

Explain the nature of, and reasons for, changes in your company's performance.

Do not simply disclose the amount of change in a financial statement item from period

to period. Avoid using boilerplate language. Your discussion should assist the reader to

understand trends, events, transactions and expenditures. (b
N

(e) Focus on Material Information Q

Focus your MD&A on material information. You do not need to(lfsclose
information that is not material. Exercise your judgment when deter @g" whether
information is material. 4%

()] Determination of what is Material Information

Would a reasonable investor's decision whether Qo buy, sell or hold
securities in your company likely be influenced or chang e information in question
was omitted or misstated? If so, the information is Iike‘l%.) erial.

(@) Venture Issuers Without Significant Re\@he

If your company is a venture issuer with@dt significant revenue from operations,
focus your discussion and analysis of ffzgnacial performance on expenditures and
progress towards achieving your busines§Q jectives and milestones.

(h)  Reverse Takeover Transac?’o,n

If an acquisitionisar vek?takeover, the MD&A should be based on the reverse
takeover acquirer's financié&tements.

(1) (paragraph re@Q
() Resour% ers
If

ompany has mineral projects, your disclosure must comply with
Regulatj 3-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects
(chapt -1.1,r. 15), including the requirement that all scientific and technical
dischgbure be based on a technical report or other information prepared by or under the

@grwsmn of a qualified person.

If your company has oil and gas activities, your disclosure must comply with
Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities
(chapter V-1.1, r. 23).
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(k) Numbering and Headings

The numbering, headings and ordreing of items included in this Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need not be repeated
elsewhere.

() Omitting Information '\(b

You do not need to respond to any item in this Form that is inapplicable.(l/Q

(m) Defined Terms Q“
’b

If a term is used but not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 egulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (chapter V- r. 24) and to
Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r. 3)@ erm is used in this
Form and is defined in both the securities statute of | jurisdiction and in
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure O ns refer to section 1.4 of
Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting Co ous Disclosure Obligations
(Decision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12) for further Km@nce.

This Form also uses accounting term are defined or used in Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly accountable Zlérprlses For further guidance, see
subsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy Sbgement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations .

(n) Plain Language v

Write the MD&A so aﬁaders are able to understand it. Refer to the plain
language principles liste section 1.5 of Policy Statement 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure ations for further guidance. If you use technical terms,

explain them in a cle@. concise manner.
(0) Availab@r r Period Information

If . ve not presented comparative financial information in your financial
statem your MD&A you must provide prior period information relating to financial
perfé ce that is available.

Use of "Financial Condition”

This Form uses the term "financial condition”. Financial condition reflects the
overall health of the company and includes your company's financial position (as shown

on the statement of financial position) and other factors that may affect your company's
liquidity, capital resources and solvency.
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PART 2 CONTENT OF MD&A
ltem 1 Annual MD&A
1.1 Date

Specify the date of your MD&A. The date of the MD&A must be no earlier
the date of the auditor's report on the annual financial statements for your con@n 'S
most recently completed financial year. (1/

1.2 Overall Performance (bQﬂ

Provide an analysis of your company's financial condition, firnkcial performance
and cash flows. Discuss known trends, demands, commitments, e?sts or uncertainties
that are reasonably likely to have an effect on your company’ thess. Compare your
company's performance in the most recently completed fingrgiadyear to the prior year's
performance. Your analysis should address at least the f;{ g:

(@) operating segments that are reporta'b\(ebsegments as those terms are
described in the issuer's GAAP;

(b)  other parts of your business if (l/

)
0] they have a dispro;!&?énate effect on revenue, profit or loss or
cash needs; or

(i) there are @al or other restrictions on the flow of funds from
one part of your company'a§ s to another;

(c)  industry ar@)

(d)  why ggaes have occurred or expected changes have not occurred in
your company'@ cial condition and financial performance; and

nomic factors affecting your company's performance;

(e) Gﬁe effect of discontinued operations on current operations.
INST, ONS

When explaining changes in your company's financial condition and results,
{lude an analysis of the effect on your continuing operations of any acquisition,
disposition, write-off, abandonment or other similar transaction.
(i) A discussion of financial condition should include important trends and risks that

have affected the financial statements, and trends and risks that are reasonably likely to
affect them in the future.
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(@ii)  Include information for a period longer than 2 financial years if it will help the
reader to better understand a trend.

1.3. Selected Annual Information

(2) Provide the following financial data derived from your company's annual fina@
statements for each of the 3 most recently completed financial years:

(@) total revenue; (1/

)
(b) profit or loss from continuing operations attributable o%ﬂlners of the
parent, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis;

(© profit or loss attributable to owners of the parer@\?t;tal and on a per-
share and diluted per-share basis; O

(d) total assets;
(e) total non-current financial Iiabilities;@\

() distributions cash dividends declargd per-share for each class of share.
)
(2) Discuss the factors that have &s}s‘ed period to period variations including
discontinued operations, changes Jg} accounting policies, significant acquisitions or
dispositions and changes in the dgggtfon of your business, and any other information
your company believes would ga ce an understanding of, and would highlight trends

in, financial position and finasm erformance.
INSTRUCTIONS O

0] For each e 3 most recently completed financial years, indicate the
accounting pringiples that the financial data has been prepared in accordance with, the
presentation cy and the functional currency if different from the presentation
currency. C)

(i) e financial data provided was not prepared in accordance with the same
acc%tlng principles for all 3 years, focus the discussion on the important trends and
@ that have affected the business.

1.4  Discussion of Operations

Discuss your analysis of your company's operations for the most recently
completed financial year, including
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(@) total revenue by reportable segment, including any changes in such
amounts caused by selling prices, volume or quantity of goods or services being sold, or
the introduction of new products or services;

(b) any other significant factors that caused changes in total revenue;

(c) cost of sales or gross profit; '\(b

(d) for issuers that have significant projects that have not yet g? ted
revenue, describe each project, including your company's plan for the prgject ¥nd the
status of the project relative to that plan, and expenditures made and h@é‘se relate
to anticipated timing and costs to take the project to the next stage ofi{e ject plan;

(e)  for resource issuers with producing mines or min s?sder development,
identify any milestone, including, without limitation, mine exp@s plans, productivity
improvements, plans to develop a new deposit, or producsiQn Mecisions, and whether
the milestone is based on a technical report filed unde,r@llation 43-101 respecting

Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects;

() factors that caused a change in relationship between costs and
revenue, including changes in costs of labour terials, price changes or inventory
adjustments;

)

(g9 commitments, events, risk&r uncertainties that you reasonably believe
will materially affect your company.g\future performance including total revenue and
profit or loss from continuing opera'?gs attributable to owners of the parent;

revenue and on profit or rom continuing operations attributable to owners of the

parent; O

0] a co@ga)n in tabular form of disclosure you previously made about how
your company ga going to use proceeds (other than working capital) from any

financing, a nation of variances and the impact of the variances, if any, on your
company’ Iy to achieve its business objectives and milestones; and
@ unusual or infrequent events or transactions.

g$UCTION

(h)  effect of inflat';gr@d specific price changes on your company's total

§our discussion under paragraph 1.4(d) should include

0] whether or not you plan to expend additional funds on the project; and
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(i) any factors that have affected the value of the project(s) such as change in
commodity prices, land use or political or environmental issues.

1.5 Summary of Quarterly Results

Provide the following information in summary form, derived from your companys
financial statements, for each of the 8 most recently completed quarters: ,\?S,)

(@) total revenue; (I/Q

(b) profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to %e?s of the
parent, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; and (%

(c) profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent,,i al and on a per-
share and diluted per-share basis. @
Discuss the factors that have caused variations e quarters necessary to

understand general trends that have developed and t easonality of the business.

INSTRUCTIONS '\

Q

0] In the case of the annual MD&A, your%st recently completed quarter is the
guarter that ended on the last day of your r@gt«recently completed financial year.

(i) You do not have to provide.jgwormation for a quarter prior to your company
becoming a reporting issuer if youvg pany has not prepared financial statements for
those quarters.

(i)  For sections 1.2, 1.@\.4 and 1.5 consider identifying, discussing and analyzing
the following factors: O

(A) chahﬁgm customer buying patterns, including changes due to new
technologlesa cimnges in demographics;

anges in selling practices, including changes due to new distribution
arrange or a reorganization of a direct sales force;

g changes in competition, including an assessment of the issuer's
@ ces, strengths and weaknesses relative to those of its competitors;

(D) the effect of exchange rates;

(E) changes in pricing of inputs, constraints on supply, order backlog, or other
input-related matters;
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(F) changes in production capacity, including changes due to plant closures
and work stoppages;

(G) changes in volume of discounts granted to customers, volumes of returns
and allowances, excise and other taxes or other amounts reflected on a net basis

against revenue,
N

(H) changes in the terms and conditions of service contracts;

() the progress in achieving previously announced milestones; (1/
)

J) for resource issuers with producing mines, identify cha e(bo cash flows
caused by changes in production throughput, head-grade, cut-off de, metallurgical
recovery and any expectation of future changes; and

(K) if you have an equity investee that is signifj T\:to your company, the
nature of the investment and significance to your compa 6

(iv)  For each of the 8 most recently completeg\ rters indicate the accounting
principles that the financial data has been prepar% accordance with, the presentation
currency and the functional currency if differen the presentation currency.

(v) If the financial data provided was Pgtsprepared in accordance with the same

accounting principles for all 8 quarters, f(fcq the discussion on the important trends and
risks that have affected the busines

1.6  Liquidity &;

Provide an analysis@our company's liquidity, including

(@) its abili enerate sufficient amounts of cash and cash equivalents, in
the short term an long term, to maintain your company's capacity, to meet your

company's plar@ rowth or to fund development activities;

(b) Cr,énds or expected fluctuations in your company's liquidity, taking into
accoun nds, commitments, events or uncertainties;

Q(c its working capital requirements;
\ (d) liquidity risks associated with financial instruments;
(e) if your company has or expects to have a working capital deficiency,

discuss its ability to meet obligations as they become due and how you expect it to
remedy the deficiency;
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() statement of financial position conditions or profit or loss attributable to
owners of the parent or cash flow items that may affect your company's liquidity;

(9) legal or practical restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries to transfer funds
to your company and the effect these restrictions have had or may have on the ability of
your company to meet its obligations; and (b

(n)  defaults or arrears or significant risk of defaults or arrears on Q
0] distributions or dividends payments, lease payments inql(est or
principal payment on debt; (.bQ 4
(i) debt covenants; and ~\

(i)  redemption or retraction or sim@\??und payments,
and how your company intends to cure the defaul)@rears or address the risk.
INSTRUCTIONS '\Q)

(1) In discussing your company's ability to gﬁate sufficient amounts of cash and
cash equivalents you should describe sources gt funding and the circumstances that
could affect those sources that are @sonably likely to occur. Examples of
circumstances that could affect quuidiﬁ\are market or commodity price changes,
economic downturns, defaults on gua,r_kntees and contractions of operations.

(i) In discussing trends orﬁ?%ted fluctuations in your company's liquidity and
liquidity risks associated Wit;fi ial instruments you should discuss

(A) provisions@n ebt, lease or other arrangements that could trigger an
additional funding r%. ent or early payment. Examples of such situations are
provisions linked t it rating, profit or loss, cash flows or share price; and

(B) stances that could impair your company's ability to undertake
transactio idered essential to operations. Examples of such circumstances are the
inability intain investment grade credit rating, earnings per-share, cash flow or

shar

% In discussing your company's working capital requirements you should discuss
ations where your company must maintain significant inventory to meet customers'
delivery requirements or any situations involving extended payment terms.

(iv)  In discussing your company's statement of financial position conditions or profit

or loss or cash flow items you should present a summary, in tabular form, of contractual
obligations including payments due for each of the next 5 years and thereafter. The
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summary and table do not have to be provided if your company is a venture issuer. An
example of a table that can be adapted to your company's particular circumstances
follows:

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Total Less than 1year | 1-3years 4 -5years After 5 years
Obligations
Debt

Finance Lease

Obligations (1,0

Operating Leases

O
Purchase A \O N
Obligations(1)

Other

4
Obligations(2) >
Total Contractual & ;

Obligations

(1) Purchase Obligation" means an agreement to purchase goods nvices that is enforceable and
legally binding on your company that specifies all significant terms, i g: fixed or minimum quantities
to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions;“aNl the approximate timing of the
transaction. ('Q

(2) "Other Obligations" means other financial liabilities r\fl ed on your company's statement of

financial position. Q

The tabular presentation may bg accompanied by footnotes to describe
provisions that create, increase or acce@ dbligations, or other details to the extent
necessary for an understanding of thg tiftg and amount of your company's specified
contractual obligations. i

1.7 Capital Resources @E

Provide an analysj %ur company's capital resources, including

@) comm'@&rs for capital expenditures as of the date of your company's
financial statementncluding

@ the amount, nature and purpose of these commitments;
OQ (i) the expected source of funds to meet these commitments; and
Q (i)  expenditures not yet committed but required to maintain your
@pany's capacity, to meet your company's planned growth or to fund development
ivities;
(b) known trends or expected fluctuations in your company's capital

resources, including expected changes in the mix and relative cost of these resources;
and
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(© sources of financing that your company has arranged but not yet used.
INSTRUCTIONS

0] Capital resources are financing resources available to your company and include
debt, equity and any other financing arrangements that you reasonably consider %5

provide financial resources to your company. '\
(i) In discussing your company's commitments you should discuss any e tion
and development, or research and development expenditures required_to rMaintain
properties or agreements in good standing. Q)Q S

1.8 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements ~\

Discuss any off-balance sheet arrangements that haveggg reasonably likely
to have, a current or future effect on the financial performggrge ®r financial condition of

your company including, without limitation, such consid& s as liquidity and capital
resources.

In your discussion of off-balance sheet ements you should discuss their
business purpose and activities, their econong bstance, risks associated with the
arrangements, and the key terms and conditl associated with any commitments.
Your discussion should include \b‘ﬂ

(@) adescription of the othgficontracting party(ies);
(b)  the effects of termi g the arrangement;

(© the amountsgvivable or payable, revenue, expenses and cash flows
resulting from the arran@ t;

(d) the rqaﬁjemd amounts of any other obligations or liabilities arising from
the arrangemept that could require your company to provide funding under the

arrangemen't) e triggering events or circumstances that could cause them to arise;
and

any known event, commitment, trend or uncertainty that may affect the
avalgbility or benefits of the arrangement (including any termination) and the course of
%)n that management has taken, or proposes to take, in response to any such
\ umstances.

INSTRUCTIONS
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(1) Off-balance sheet arrangements include any contractual arrangement with an
entity not reported on a consolidated basis with your company, under which your
company has

(A) any obligation under certain guarantee contracts;

(B) aretained or contingent interest in assets transferred to an unconsolid &
entity or similar arrangement that serves as credit, liquidity or market risk suppor
entity for the assets; (1/

(C) any obligation under certain derivative instruments; or (.bQ 4

(D) any obligation held by your company in an unconsd‘@ated entity that

provides financing, liquidity, market risk or credit risk suppor our company, or
engages in leasing, hedging activities or, research and devel t services with your

company. O

(i) Contingent liabilities arising out of litigation, arbifra§on or regulatory actions are
not considered to be off-balance sheet arrangements.‘b

(i)  Disclosure of off-balance sheet arrangq?ts should cover the most recently
completed financial year. However, the discus#6n should address changes from the
previous year where such discussion is nec§i9ary to understand the disclosure.
(iv)  The discussion need not repea,gnformation provided in the notes to the financial
statements if the discussion cle ross-references to specific information in the
relevant notes and integrates the stance of the notes into the discussion in a manner
that explains the significan§ information not included in the MD&A.
1.9 Transactions B n Related Parties

Discuss all Q%:tions between related parties as defined by the issuer's GAAP.

|NSTRUCT|%)Q/

ussing your company's transactions between related parties, your
discy ) should include both qualitative and quantitative characteristics that are
nec%ary for an understanding of the transactions' business purpose and economic

@t nce. You should discuss

the relationship and identify the related person or entities;

(B) the business purpose of the transaction;
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(C) the recorded amount of the transaction and describe the measurement
basis used; and

(D) any ongoing contractual or other commitments resulting from the
transaction.

1.10 Fourth Quarter '\(b

Discuss and analyze fourth quarter events or items that affected your cogwgny's
financial condition, financial performance or cash flows, year-end_and other
adjustments, seasonal aspects of your company's business and '@ﬁtions of
business segments. If your company has filed separate MD&A for its guarter, you
may satisfy this requirement by incorporating that MD&A by referenc&ﬁ

1.11 Proposed Transactions @

Discuss the expected effect on financial condi%m@vancial performance and
cash flows of any proposed asset or business ac ition or disposition if your
company's board of directors, or senior managemerfthyho believe that confirmation of
the decision by the board is probable, have de@d 0 proceed with the transaction.
Include the status of any required shareholder @1/ ulatory approvals.

INSTRUCTION b‘s
You do not have to disclg%e this information if, under section 7.1 of

Regulation 51-102 respecting Co us Disclosure Obligations, your company has
fled a Form 51-102F3 Matﬁ\ Change Report regarding the transaction on a

confidential basis and the rego mains confidential.
1.12 Critical Account@éstimates

If your COWQQTS not a venture issuer, provide an analysis of your company's
critical accoun @e timates. Your analysis should

ntlfy and describe each critical accounting estimate used by your
compa&udmg
Q 0] a description of the accounting estimate;
\e (i) the methodology used in determining the critical accounting
estimate;

(i)  the assumptions underlying the accounting estimate that relate to
matters highly uncertain at the time the estimate was made;
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(iv)  any known trends, commitments, events or uncertainties that could
materially affect the methodology or the assumptions described; and

(v) if applicable, why the accounting estimate is reasonably likely to
change from period to period and have a material impact on the financial presentation;

(b)  explain the significance of the accounting estimate to your compq@
NNfy

financial position, changes in financial position and financial performance and ¢
the financial statement line items affected by the accounting estimate; (1/

(c)  (paragraph revoked); (bQ .

(d)  discuss changes made to critical accounting estimates-huring the past 2
financial years including the reasons for the change and the Wive effect on your

company's overall financial performance and financial stateme items; and
(e) identify the reportable segments of your any's business that the
accounting estimate affects and discuss the accountiMg estimate on a reportable

segment basis, if your company operates in more thaﬁye reportable segment.

INSTRUCTIONS (19
(1) An accounting estimate is a critical av‘ounting estimate only if

(A) it requires your compa&hto make assumptions about matters that are
highly uncertain at the time the accvmt g estimate is made; and

(B) different estimgte at your company could have used in the current
period, or changes in the unting estimate that are reasonably likely to occur from
period to period, would a material impact on your company's financial condition,
changes in financial Q. on or financial performance.

qualitative dj re, you should provide quantitative disclosure when quantitative
informatiopySr2asonably available and would provide material information for investors.

Q‘your discussion of assumptions underlying an accounting estimate that
relat matters highly uncertain at the time the estimate was made, you should

(i) As part ?f ygjr description of each critical accounting estimate, in addition to

%&nal information for investors. For example, quantitative information may include a
sitivity analysis or disclosure of the upper and lower ends of the range of estimates
from which the recorded estimate was selected.

1.13 Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption
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Discuss and analyze any changes in your company's accounting policies,
including

(@ for any accounting policies that you have adopted or expect to adopt
subsequent to the end of your most recently completed financial year, including
changes you have made or expect to make voluntarily and those due to a change in
accounting standard or a new accounting standard that you do not have to adopt u fg

future date, you should Q

0] describe the new standard, the date you are required to dopt it
and, if determined, the date you plan to adopt it; (b

(i) disclose the methods of adoption permitted the accounting

standard and the method you expect to use;

?\: company's financial

(i)  discuss the expected effect on u
statements, or if applicable, state that you cannot reason/ﬁ@ﬂimate the effect; and

(iv)  discuss the potential effect on cﬁfy)usiness, for example technical
violations or default of debt covenants or change%\usiness practices; and

(b)  for any accounting policies that ygl’nave initially adopted during the most
recently completed financial year, you shouy‘ )

(1) describe the emhts or transactions that gave rise to the initial
adoption of an accounting pollcy,

method of applying that p

(i) describ es‘ Qccountlng policy that has been adopted and the

(i) the effect resulting from the initial adoption of the
accounting policy ur company's financial position, changes in financial position and

financial perfor@

accourwmlicies,

Q (A) state that you made a choice among acceptable alternatives;

if your company is permitted a choice among acceptable

\e (B) identify the alternatives;

(C)  describe why you made the choice that you did; and
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(D) discuss the effect, where material, on your company's
financial position, changes in financial position and financial performance under the
alternatives not chosen; and

(v) if no accounting literature exists that covers the accounting for the events
or transactions giving rise to your initial adoption of the accounting policy, explain ygur
decision regarding which accounting policy to use and the method of applying't\
principle.

Q
INSTRUCTION (1/

O
You do not have to present the discussion under paragraph 1. befor the initial
adoption of accounting policies resulting from the adoption new accounting
standards.

1.14 Financial Instruments and Other Instruments O s

For financial instruments and other instruments,

(@) discuss the nature and extent q ?Qur company's use of, including
relationships among, the instruments and the b Ss purposes that they serve;

(b)  describe and analyze the riskﬁssociated with the instruments;

(c) describe how you magge the risks in paragraph (b), including a
discussion of the objectives, gen rategies and instruments used to manage the
risks, including any hedging ac{iviNegs;

(d) disclose the@wcial statement classification and amounts of income,
expenses, gains and Ios@ ssociated with the instrument; and

(e) disc %significant assumptions made in determining the fair value of
financial instrugaents, the total amount and financial statement classification of the
change in faj e of financial instruments recognized in profit or loss for the period,
and the tg Cﬁmunt and financial statement classification of deferred or unrecognized
gains a es on financial instruments.

|NSQ CTIONS
"Other instruments"” are instruments that may be settled by the delivery of non-
financial assets. A commodity futures contract is an example of an instrument that may

be settled by delivery of non-financial assets.

(i) Your discussion under paragraph 1.14(a) should enhance a reader's
understanding of the significance of recognized and unrecognized instruments on your
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company's financial position, financial performance and cash flows. The information
should also assist a reader in assessing the amounts, timing, and certainty of future
cash flows associated with those instruments. Also discuss the relationship between
liability and equity components of convertible debt instruments.

(i)  For purposes of paragraph 1.14(c), if your company is exposed to signifi
price, credit or liquidity risks, consider providing a sensitivity analysis or ta@
information to help readers assess the degree of exposure. For example, an ana@S
the effect of a hypothetical change in the prevailing level of interest or currencxﬂ%
the fair value of financial instruments and future profit or loss and cash flows Yhay be
useful in describing your company's exposure to price risk. (b 4

(iv)  For purposes of paragraph 1.14(d), disclose and explain the ﬁe“enue, expenses,
gains and losses from hedging activities separately from other acsi\ves.

1.15 Other MD&A Requirements O

(@  Your MD&A must disclose that additionalNnformation relating to your
company, including your company's AlF if your co@y files an AIF, is on SEDAR at
www.sedar.com. Q

(b)  Your MD&A must also provide thgZinformation required in the following
sections of Regulation 51-102, if applicableb‘s

(1) section 5.3 in\ﬂking additional disclosure for venture issuers
without significant revenue;

(i) section g %Ivmg disclosure of outstanding share data; and

(i)  sec 7 involving additional disclosure for reporting issuers with

significant equity mv@
(© Y D&A must include the MD&A disclosure required by
Regulation 5 respecting Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim

Filings (ch V-1.1, r. 27) and, as applicable, Form 52-109F1 Certification of Annual
Filings Certificate, Form 52-109F1R Certification of Refiled Annual Filings, or
Form @ 9F1 AIF Certification of Annual Filings in Connection with Voluntarily Filed
AlF:

@ 2 Interim MD&A

2.1 Date

Specify the date of your interim MD&A.
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2.2 Interim MD&A

Interim MD&A must update your company's annual MD&A for all disclosure
required by Item 1 except section 1.3. This disclosure must include

(@) adiscussion of your analysis of

0] current quarter and year-to-date results including a compar'G!n\of
financial performance to the corresponding periods in the previous year; (1/

(i.0) a comparison of cash flows to the correspondin @ibd in the
previous year; Qb

(i) changes in financial performance and ele ?&s of profit or loss
attributable to owners of the parent that are not related to ongog siness operations;

(i)  any seasonal aspects of your com&@ business that affect its
financial position, financial performance or cash flows%

(b) a comparison of your company' Pﬁerlm financial condition to your
company's financial condition as at the most re?@ completed financial year-end.

INSTRUCTIONS )
A

(1) If the first MD&A you file in thﬁ%:orm (your first MD&A) is an interim MD&A, you
must provide all the disclosure for in Item 1 in your first MD&A. Base the
disclosure, except the disclosu@?fection 1.3, on your interim financial report. Since
you do not have to update t?e closure required in section 1.3 in you interim MD&A,

your first MD&A will provi losure under section 1.3 based on your annual financial
statements. Your subs@ t interim MD&A for that year will update your first interim

MD&A. Q_

(i) For the grrpOses of paragraph 2.2(b), you may assume the reader has access to
your annualgk or your first MD&A. You do not have to duplicate the discussion and
analysis o cial condition in your annual MD&A or your first MD&A. For example, if
econogﬁd industry factors are substantially unchanged you may make a statement
t

totrz ct.

% For the purposes of subparagraph 2.2(a)(i), you should generally give
‘Q minence to the current quarter.

(iv)  In discussing your company's statement of financial position conditions or profit

or loss or cash flow items for an interim period, you do not have to present a summary,
in tabular form, of all known contractual obligations contemplated under section 1.6.
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Instead, you should disclose material changes in the specified contractual obligations
during the interim period.

(v) Interim MD&A prepared in accordance with Item 2 is not required for your
company's fourth quarter as relevant fourth quarter content will be contained in your
company's annual MD&A prepared in accordance with Item 1 (see section 1.10).

(vi)  In your interim MD&A, update the summary of quarterly results in section@'S\by
providing summary information for the 8 most recently completed quarters. (1/

(vii)  Your annual MD&A may not include all the information in ltem Qo‘u were a
venture issuer as at the end of your last financial year. If you cease e a venture
issuer during your interim period, you do not have to restate the M you previously

filed. Instead, provide the disclosure for the additional sections i 1 that you were
exempt from as a venture issuer in the next interim MD&A you § ase your disclosure
for those sections on your interim financial report. O

2.3  Other Interim MD&A Requirements &

$e)

MD&A disclosure required by

Your interim MD&A must include the i
Regulation 52-109 respecting Certification of [ sure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim
Filings and, as applicable, Form 52-109F2 rtification of Interim Filings — Full
Certificate or Form 52-109F2R CertificationB{ Refiled Interim Filings.

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F1; M.0..ZP05-25, s. 2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 38; M.O. 2007-08,
s. 6; M.O. 2008-17, s. 1; M.O. 200 ,'s. 8 .and 13; M.O. 2010-17, s. 28; M.O. 2011-02,
s. 1.

106



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 14, 2013 TO MAY 30, 2013

FORM 51-102F2 ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Description of AIF

An AIF (annual information form) is required to be filed annually by ce[térb
companies under Part 6 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disgigsdre
Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24). An AIF is a disclosure document intended wﬁvide
material information about your company and its business at a point in_timé’in the
context of its historical and possible future development. Your AIF @mes your
company, its operations and prospects, risks and other external factor, ﬁa’! impact your
company specifically.

This disclosure is supplemented throughout the year b@gs;quent continuous
disclosure filings including news releases, material change peQoNs, business acquisition

reports, financial statements and management discussio& nalysis.

(b)  Date of Information '\(b

Unless otherwise specified in this For %e information in your AIF must be
presented as at the last day of your company'glfost recently completed financial year.
If necessary, you must update the informa@pq’n the AIF so it is not misleading when it
is filed. For information presented as &gany date other than the last day of your
company's most recently completed_wnancial year, specify the relevant date in the
disclosure.

(c) Use of "Company" @
Wherever thisé@gses the word "company", the term includes other types of

business organizatio h as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business
entities.

All ref %es to "your company" in Items 4, 5, 6, 12, 13, 15 and 16 of this Form
apply colle IQA))/ to your company, your company's subsidiaries, joint ventures to which
your is a party and entities in which your company has an investment

accc% or by the equity method.

@ Focus on Material Information

Focus your AIF on material information. You do not need to disclose information
that is not material. Exercise your judgment when determining whether information is
material. However, you must disclose all corporate and individual cease trade orders,
bankruptcies, penalties and sanctions in accordance with Item 10 and section 12.2 of
this Form.
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(e) Determination of What is Material

Would a reasonable investor's decision whether or not to buy, sell or hold
securities in your company likely be influenced or changed if the information in question
was omitted or misstated? If so, the information is likely material. (b

()] Incorporating Information by Reference Q

You may incorporate information required to be included in your AIF by r(elérence
to another document, other than a previous AIF. Clearly identify éferenced
document or any excerpt of it that you incorporate into your AlF. U s you have
already filed the referenced document or excerpt, including any doc nts incorporated
by reference into the document or excerpt, under your SEDAR We, you must file it
with your AIF. You must also disclose that the docur@k is on SEDAR at

www.sedar.com. O

(9) Defined Terms

respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligation to Regulation 14-101 respecting
Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is use this Form and is defined in both the
securities statute of a local jurisdiction an&(z?kRegulation 51-102 respecting Continuous
Disclosure Obligations, refer to section of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Q,hbations (Decision 2006-PDG-0229, 2006-12-12)
for further guidance.

If a term is used but not defined in this For;i'):gr to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102

This Form also uses aﬁntlng terms that are defined or used in Canadian

GAAP applicable to pulad accountable enterprises. For further guidance, see
subsections 1.4(7) an of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosu gations.

(h)  Plain La@&e

Wri AIF so that readers are able to understand it. Refer to the plain
langua aniples listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
resp ontinuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use technical
tern%explain them in a clear and concise manner.

@ Special Purpose Entities

If your company is a special purpose entity, you may have to modify the
disclosure items in this Form to reflect the special purpose nature of your company's
business.
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() Numbering and Headings
The numbering, headings and ordering of items included in this Form are

guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need not be repeated
elsewhere.

(k)  Omitting Information '\(b

You do not need to respond to any item in this Form that is inapplicable(@you
may omit negative answers. Q
4

ltem 1 Cover Page

&
1.1 Date

Specify the date of your AIF. The date must be’& earlier than the date of the
auditor's report on the financial statements for your choanys most recently completed

financial year. Q

PART 2 CONTENT OF AIF

You must file your AIF within 10 days of(tl.’lédate of the AIF.

o

If you revise your companv‘;&lF after you have filed it, identify the revised
version as a "revised AIF".

ltem 2 Table of Cor@?
2.1 Table of Coan.Q

Include % of contents.

ltem 3 rporate Structure

Q@ne Address and Incorporation

State your company's full corporate name or, if your company is an
incorporated entity, the full name under which it exists and carries on business, and
the address(es) of your company's head and registered office.

1.2 Revisions

(2) State the statute under which your company is incorporated, continued or
organized or, if your company is an unincorporated entity, the laws of the jurisdiction or
foreign jurisdiction under which it is established and exists. Describe the substance of
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any material amendments to the articles or other constating or establishing documents
of your company.

3.2 Intercorporate Relationships

Describe, by way of a diagram or otherwise, the intercorporate relationshigs
among your company and its subsidiaries. For each subsidiary state: %

(@) the percentage of votes attaching to all voting securities of the sﬂkglary
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by your comp

(b)  the percentage of each class of restricted securities T(be subsidiary
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, byy&r company; and

(© where it was incorporated, continued, formed or c@v zed.

INSTRUCTION
<O

You may omit a particular subsidiary if, at the mosfbcent financial year-end of your
company, Q

0] the total assets of the subsidiary do not ¢fceed 10% of the consolidated assets
of your company; b‘ .

(i) the revenue of the subsidiary es not exceed 10% of the consolidated revenue
of your company; and

(i) the conditions in para§ra (|) and (ii) would be satisfied if you

(A) aggregate
(i), and @

subsidiaries that may be omitted under paragraphs (i) and

B) ¢ ngd the reference in those paragraphs from 10% to 20% .

Item 4 @neral Development of the Business

4.1 Q@@JHistory

Describe how your company's business has developed over the last 3 completed

ncial years. Include only events, such as acquisitions or dispositions, or conditions

that have influenced the general development of the business. If your company

produces or distributes more than one product or provides more than one kind of

service, describe the products or services. Also discuss changes in your company's
business that you expect will occur during the current financial year.
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4.2  Significant Acquisitions

Disclose any significant acquisition completed by your company during its most
recently completed financial year for which disclosure is required under Part 8 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, by providing a brief
summary of the significant acquisition and stating whether your company has fileda
Form 51-102F4 in respect of the acquisition. 'z'b

Item 5 Describe the Business (I/Q

51 General Q“
ge

Describe the business of your company and its operating-sbments that are
reportable segments as those terms are described in the iss GAAP. For each
reportable segment include: é

(@) Summary - For products or services, &O
0] their principal markets; '\(b
(i) distribution methods; Q/Q
(i)  for each of the 2 mosthtly completed financial years, as dollar
amounts or as percentages, the revenu r each category of products or services that

accounted for 15% or more of tota,l&)nsolldated revenue for the applicable financial
year derived from

A. sgle@transfers to joint ventures in which your company is

a participant or to entities ich your company has an investment accounted for by
the equity method, O

g sales to customers, other than those referred to in clause A,
outside the cor@ ted entity, and

C) C. sales or transfers to controlling shareholders;

(iv)  if not fully developed, the stage of development of the products or
ser\@s and, if the products are not at the commercial production stage

\e A. the timing and stage of research and development
programs,

B. whether your company is conducting its own research and

development, is subcontracting out the research and development or is using a
combination of those methods, and
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C. the additional steps required to reach commercial production
and an estimate of costs and timing.

(b) Production and Services - The actual or proposed method of production
and, if your company provides services, the actual or proposed method of providi}g
services. '\

(©) Specialized Skill and Knowledge - A description of any speciaﬂj6 skill
and knowledge requirements and the extent to which the skill and knowle®e are
)

available to your company. (bQ

(d) Competitive Conditions - The competitive conditions—i&your company's

principal markets and geographic areas, including, if re le possible, an
assessment of your company's competitive position. &

(e) New Products - If you have publicly annqu the introduction of a new
product, the status of the product.

() Components - The sources, pric@Vlnd availability of raw materials,
component parts or finished products. (l/

(9) Intangible Properties - The iflypartance, duration and effect of identifiable
intangible properties, such as brand n&nes, circulation lists, copyrights, franchises,
licences, patents, software, subscrip@ lists and trademarks, on the segment.

(h) Cycles - The ex@ which the business of the reportable segment is
cyclical or seasonal.

0] Economi endence - A description of any contract upon which your
company's business stantially dependent, such as a contract to sell the major part
of your company'sg%:ts or services or to purchase the major part of your company's
requirements f ds, services or raw materials, or any franchise or licence or other
agreement t a patent, formula, trade secret, process or trade name upon which
your compaN.d business depends.

@ Changes to Contracts -A description of any aspect of your company's
busiRgss that you reasonably expect to be affected in the current financial year by
@g tiation or termination of contracts or sub-contracts, and the likely effect.

(k) Environmental Protection - The financial and operational effects of
environmental protection requirements on the capital expenditures, profit or loss and
competitive position of your company in the current financial year and the expected
effect in future years.
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)] Employees - The number of employees as at the most recent financial
year-end or the average number of employees over the year, whichever is more
meaningful to understand the business.

(m) Foreign Operations - Describe the dependence of your company and
any reportable segment upon foreign operations. (b

(n) Lending - With respect to your company's lending operations, discI@ e
investment policies and lending and investment restrictions. (1/

(2) Bankruptcy and Similar Procedures - Disclose the nature an fis of any
bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings against the compgny 9r any of its
subsidiaries, or any voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar ceedings by the
company or any of its subsidiaries, within the 3 most recently co Wied financial years
or during or proposed for the current financial year. &

3) Reorganizations - Disclose the nature and resur:‘t(@uy material reorganization
of your company or any of its subsidiaries within the 3 nfoX recently completed financial
years or completed during or proposed for the curre@ancial year.

(4)  Social or Environmental Policies - If @ompany has implemented social or
environmental policies that are fundamenta your operations, such as policies
regarding your company's relationship withiNk@ environment or with the communities in
which it does business, or human righ olicies, describe them and the steps your
company has taken to implement theni

5.2 Risk Factors &?‘

Disclose risk factor%&ating to your company and its business, such as cash
flow and liquidity prob@d, if any, experience of management, the general risks
inherent in the busi rried on by your company, environmental and health risks,
reliance on key p@l, regulatory constraints, economic or political conditions and
financial historyand\any other matter that would be most likely to influence an investor's
decision to p e securities of your company. If there is a risk that securityholders of
your comp, ay become liable to make an additional contribution beyond the price of

Disclose the risks in order of seriousness from the most serious to the least
serious.

(i) A risk factor should not be de-emphasized by including excessive caveats or
conditions.
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5.3 Companies with Asset-backed Securities Outstanding

If your company had asset-backed securities outstanding that were distributed
under a prospectus, disclose the following information:

(1) Payment Factors - A description of any events, covenants, standards Qr
preconditions that may reasonably be expected to affect the timing or amount of@
payments or distributions to be made under the asset-backed securities. Q

(2) Underlying Pool of Assets - For the 3 most recently completed flnanc(l(years
of your company or the lesser period commencing on the first date Rich your
company had asset-backed securities outstanding, financial disclos t described
the underlying pool of financial assets servicing the asset-backed seetiltles relating to

(@) the composition of the pool as of the end of ea@r?cial year or partial

period;
O

(b) profit and losses from the pool on at least aM\annual basis or such shorter
period as is reasonable given the nature of the underlﬂj; pool of assets;

(© the payment, prepayment and copjl n experience of the pool on at least
an annual basis or such shorter period as reasonable given the nature of the
underlying pool of assets;

(d) servicing and other adigjhistrative fees; and

(e) any significant @Xees experienced in the matters referred to in
paragraphs (a) through (d).

(2.1) If any of the fina
been audited, disclo

Isclosure disclosed in accordance with subsection (2) has
existence and results of the audit.

3) Investm t?arameters - The investment parameters applicable to investments
of any cash f erpluses.

4) p&drent History - The amount of payments made during the 3 most recently

com inancial years or the lesser period commencing on the first date on which

you%ompany had asset-backed securities outstanding, in respect of principal and

Nest or capital and yield, each stated separately, on asset-backed securities of your
\ pany outstanding.

(5) Acceleration Event - The occurrence of any event that has led to, or with the

passage of time could lead to, the accelerated payment of principal, interest or capital of
asset-backed securities.
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(6) Principal Obligors - The identity of any principal obligors for the outstanding
asset-backed securities of your company, the percentage of the pool of financial assets
servicing the asset-backed securities represented by obligations of each principal
obligor and whether the principal obligor has filed an AIF in any jurisdiction or a
Form 10-K or Form 20-F in the United States.

INSTRUCTIONS ,\(b
(1) Present the information requested under subsection (2) in a manner th les
a reader to easily determine the status of the events, covenants, stand s and
preconditions referred to in subsection (1) of this item. (b

(i) If the information required under subsection (2) ~\

(A) is not compiled specifically on the pool of finargg;sets servicing the
asset-backed securities, but is compiled on a larger pool oﬁ me assets from which

the securitized assets are randomly selected so that the mance of the larger pool
is representative of the performance of the pool of secur d assets, or

(B) inthe case of a new company, whe %e pool of financial assets servicing
the asset-backed securities will be randomly Qed from a larger pool of the same
assets so that the performance of the largd pool will be representative of the
performance of the pool of securitized asf§into be created, a company may comply
with subsection (2) by providing the mfohq tion required based on the larger pool and
disclosing that it has done so.

5.4 Companies With Mine@ects

If your company ha meral project, disclose the following information for each
project material to your

(1) Project De?g on and Location

@) &erea (in hectares or other appropriate units) and the location of the
project.

The nature and extent of your company's title to or interest in the project,
mcI@ g surface rights, obligations that must be met to retain the project and the
ra

@ ion date of claims, licences and other property tenure rights.
(© The terms of any royalties, overrides, back-in rights, payments or other
agreements and encumbrances to which the project is subject.

(d)  All environmental liabilities to which the project is subject.
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(e) The location of all known mineralized zones, mineral resources, mineral
reserves and mine workings, existing tailing ponds, waste deposits and important
natural features and improvements.

) To the extent known, the permits that must be acquired to conduct the
work proposed for the project and if the permits have been obtained. (b

(2)  Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastructure and Physiogr

(@) The means of access to the property. (1/
)

(b)  The proximity of the property to a population centre ngime nature of
transport. i

(c) To the extent relevant to the mining project, the @Xgand length of the
operating season. O

(d)  The sufficiency of surface rights for minin erations, the availability and
sources of power, water, mining personnel, potentiﬂbailings storage areas, potential
waste disposal areas, heap leach pads areas and6&ential processing plant sites.

(e)  The topography, elevation and vegl{ation.

N
(@  The prior owner@ development of the property and ownership

(3) History
changes and the type, amount tity and results of the exploration work undertaken

by previous owners, and any,pr us production on the property, to the extent known.

(b) If your cor@ acquired a project within the 3 most recently completed
financial years or dug e current financial year from, or intends to acquire a project
from, an informed%@ﬁ or promoter of your company or an associate or affiliate of an
informed persop or ®romoter, the name of the vendor, the relationship of the vendor to
your comparb the consideration paid or intended to be paid to the vendor.

~To the extent known, the name of every person that has received or is
expegtd X receive a greater than 5% interest in the consideration received or to be
rec&e by the vendor referred to in paragraph (b).

Geological Setting - The regional, local and property geology.

(5) Exploration - The nature and extent of all exploration work conducted by, or on
behalf of, your company on the property, including
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(@) the results of all surveys and investigations and the procedures and
parameters relating to surveys and investigations;

(b)  aninterpretation of the exploration information;

(c) whether the surveys and investigations have been carried out by ygqur
company or a contractor and if by a contractor, the name of the contractor; and ,\9?)

(d) a discussion of the reliability or uncertainty of the data obtaine‘(l/ the
program.

Q-
(6) Mineralization - The mineralization encountered on t (hoperty, the

surrounding rock types and relevant geological controls, detailing th, width, depth
and continuity together with a description of the type, character, distribution of the

mineralization. @

(7 Drilling - The type and extent of drilling, incIudir& procedures followed and
an interpretation of all results.

(8) Sampling and Analysis - The sampling a@'&esaying including

(@)  description of sampling methods‘qﬂd the location, number, type, nature,
spacing or density of samples collected; \b‘ﬂ

(b) identification of any ling, sampling or recovery factors that could

materially impact the accuracy or r?a.b ity of the results;

(c) a discussion Qof sample quality and whether the samples are
representative and of any é(s that may have resulted in sample biases;

(d) rock ty@@ological controls, widths of mineralized zones, cut-off grades
and other parameLQ sed to establish the sampling interval; and

(e) @{y control measures and data verification procedures.

(9) ﬁﬁly of Samples - The measures taken to ensure the validity and integrity of
sam en

%{ Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve Estimates - The mineral resources
ﬁ mineral reserves, if any, including

(@) the quantity and grade or quality of each category of mineral resources
and mineral reserves;
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(b) the key assumptions, parameters and methods used to estimate the
mineral resources and mineral reserves; and

(c) the extent to which the estimate of mineral resources and mineral
reserves may be materially affected by metallurgical, environmental, permitting, legal,
title, taxation, socio-economic, marketing, political and other relevant issues. (b

(11) Mining Operations - For development properties and production propertj e
mining method, metallurgical process, production forecast, markets, contracts f e of
products, environmental conditions, taxes, mine life and expected payback p iod of

capital.
>

(12) Exploration and Development - A description of your compkny's current and
contemplated exploration or development activities.

INSTRUCTIONS O g

0] Disclosure regarding mineral exploration develop t or production activities on
material projects must comply with, and is su to the limitations set out in,
Regulation 43-101 respecting Standards sclosure for Mineral Projects
(chapter V-1.1, r. 15). Use the appropriate ter y to describe mineral reserves and
mineral resources. Base the disclosure on chnlcal report, or other information,
prepared by or under the supervision of a qWMed person.

(i) You may satisfy the disclosuﬂequirements in section 5.4 by reproducing the

summary from the technical repgioh the material property, and incorporating the
detailed disclosure in the technjc port into the AIF by reference.

@ii)  In giving the infor n required under section 5.4 include the nature of
ownership interests, su ee interests, leasehold interests, royalty interests and any
other types and varigi f ownership interests.

5.5 Compa%xith Oil and Gas Activities

Regulatj -101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities
(chapt -1.1, r. 23), disclose the following information:

If 'éﬁjcompany is engaged in oil and gas activities as defined in

Reserves Data and Other Information

\ €) In the case of information that, for purposes of Form 51-101F1 Statement
of Reserves Data and Other Oil and Gas Information, is to be prepared as at the end of
a financial year, disclose that information as at your company's most recently completed
financial year-end.
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(b) In the case of information that, for purposes of Form 51-101F1, is to be
prepared for a financial year, disclose that information for your company's most recently
completed financial year.

(© (paragraph revoked).

(2) Report of Independent Qualified Reserves Evaluator or Auditor - Inc,{(b
with the disclosure under subsection (1) a report in the form of Form 51-101F2 &Rgpert
on Reserves Data by Independent Qualified Reserves Evaluator or Auditoq/ the
reserves data included in the disclosure required under subsection (1).

(3) Report of Management -Include with the disclosure under sﬁbection 1) a
report in the form of Form 51-101F3 Report of Management and B«&ctors on Oil and
Gas Disclosure under Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards o losure for Oil and
Gas Activities that refers to the information disclosed under su n (1).

4) Material Changes — To the extent not reercted&@ information disclosed in
response to subsection (1), disclose the informatioh ontemplated by Part 6 of

Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Discl for Oil and Gas Activities in
respect of material changes that occurred your company’s most recently
completed financial year-end. (l/

INSTRUCTION '\b‘s

The information presented in respn;ie to section 5.5 must be in accordance with
Regulation 51-101 respecting Sta of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities.

ltem 6 Dividends a$$butions
6.1 Dividends and utions
Q) Disclose th %unt of cash dividends or distributions declared per security for

each class of yourscompany’s securities for each of the 3 most recently completed
financial yeays.

(2) e any restriction that could prevent your company from paying dividends

or dié ions.

Disclose your company’s current dividend policy and any intended change in
idend policy.

Item 7 Description of Capital Structure

7.1  General Description of Capital Structure
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Describe your company's capital structure. State the description or the
designation of each class of authorized security, and describe the material
characteristics of each class of authorized security, including voting rights, provisions for
exchange, conversion, exercise, redemption and retraction, dividend rights and rights
upon dissolution or winding-up.

INSTRUCTION
N

This section requires only a brief summary of the provisions that are materi Qm a
securityholder's standpoint. The provisions attaching to different classes of secuMties do
not need to be set out in full. This summary should include the disclo @é’quired in
subsection 10.1(1) of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Discliﬁj bligations.

7.2 Constraints ?~
If there are constraints imposed on the ownership o c;jrities of your company
to ensure that your company has a required level of Ca ownership, describe the

mechanism, if any, by which the level of Canadian ownership of the securities is or will
be monitored and maintained. '\fb

7.3 Ratings (I/Q

(2) If you have asked for and received B\ ckedit rating, or if you are aware that you

have received any other kind of rating, i ding a stability rating or a provisional rating,
from one or more credit rating orgagjzations for securities of your company that are
outstanding, or will be outstanding;, he rating or ratings continue in effect, disclose

(@) eachrating rec;i\&om a credit rating organization;

(b)  for each y disclosed under paragraph (a), the name of the credit
rating organization t assigned the rating;

(c) a egition or description of the category in which each credit rating
organization the securities and the relative rank of each rating within the
organizati@ erall classification system;

an explanation of what the rating addresses and what attributes, if any, of
the chrities are not addressed by the rating;

\ (e) any factors or considerations identified by the credit rating organization as
giving rise to unusual risks associated with the securities;

() a statement that a credit rating or a stability rating is not a

recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision or
withdrawal at any time by the credit rating organization; and
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(g0 any announcement made by, or any proposed announcement known to
your company that is to be made by, a credit rating organization to the effect that the
organization is reviewing or intends to revise or withdraw a rating previously assigned
and required to be disclosed under this section.

(2) If payments were, or reasonably will be, made to a credit rating organization tﬁb
provided a rating described in subsection (1), state that fact and state Whetg'\/}ﬂy
payments were made to the credit rating organization in respect of any othqfl/ ice
provided to your company by the credit rating organization during the last Z&ar

)

INSTRUCTIONS (b

There may be factors relating to a security that are not a ssed by a credit
rating organization when they give a rating. For example, in ase of cash settled

derivative instruments, factors in addition to the creditworthiees® of the issuer, such as
the continued subsistence of the underlying interest or th ﬁtility of the price, value or
level of the underlying interest may be reflected in the Wating analysis. Rather than
being addressed in the rating itself, these factors méjybe described by a credit rating
organization by way of a superscript or other n to a rating. Any such attributes
must be discussed in the disclosure under sectj 3.

A provisional rating received beforpythe company’s most recently completed
financial year is not required to be disclo under section 7.3.

ltem 8 Market for Securitiev

8.1 Trading Price and ;Iu
(1) For each class Q curities of your company that is traded or quoted on a
Canadian marketpl entify the marketplace and the price ranges and volume
traded or quoted anadian marketplace on which the greatest volume of trading
or quotation ge occurs.

(2) If a @i of securities of your company is not traded or quoted on a Canadian
market ~but is traded or quoted on a foreign marketplace, identify the foreign
mark e and the price ranges and volume traded or quoted on the foreign
marép ace on which the greatest volume of trading or quotation generally occurs.

Provide the information required under subsections (1) and (2) on a monthly
basis for each month or, if applicable, partial months of the most recently completed
financial year.

8.2 Prior Sales
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For each class of securities of your company that is outstanding but not listed or
guoted on a marketplace, state the price at which securities of the class have been
issued during the most recently completed financial year by your company, the number
of securities of the class issued at that price, and the date on which the securities were
issued.

Item 9 Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual '\(b
Restriction on Transfer Q

9.1 Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual Restrictg{on

Transfer Q b
go

(1)  State, in substantially the following tabular form, the number ei-kecurities of each

class of your company held, to your company’s knowledge, in esgr r that are subject
to a contractual restriction on transfer and the percentage that er represents of the

outstanding securities of that class for your company@n t recently completed

financial year. &

ESCROWED SECURITIES AND SECURITIES SUBJECT ('b

TO CONTRACTUEL RESTRICTION ON TRANSFER

Designation of class Number of securities@ld in | Percentage of class
escrow or that are Gi% Ct to a

contractual restr'gi‘on tranfer

-
'\'
(2) In a note to the table disclose.r.ke name of the depository, if any, and the date of
and conditions governing the@e of the securities from escrow or the date the

contractual restriction on transfgr s, as applicable.

INSTRUCTIONS @

0] For the purp f this item, escrow includes securities subject to a pooling
agreement.

(i) For t)@(poses of this item, securities subject to contractual restrictions on
transfer a@ ult of pledges made to lenders are not required to be disclosed.

Item Directors and Officers

@ Name, Occupation and Security Holding

(1) List the name, province or state, and country of residence of each director and
executive officer of your company and indicate their respective positions and offices

held with your company and their respective principal occupations during the 5
preceding years.
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(2)  State the period or periods during which each director has served as a director
and when his or her term of office will expire.

(3)  State the number and percentage of securities of each class of voting securities
of your company or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, or controlled or directed,
directly or indirectly, by all directors and executive officers of your company as a groupb

4) Identify the members of each committee of the board. Q'\

(5) If the principal occupation of a director or executive officer of your cogﬁany is
acting as an officer of a person other than your company, disclose tha and state
the principal business of the person.

INSTRUCTION ?:\

For the purposes of subsection (3), securities of subsidiari $ur company that are
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly adirectly, by directors or
executive officers through ownership, or control or direct\sn, directly or indirectly, over
securities of your company, do not need to be incluo}e\ﬁb

10.2 Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, P@L es or Sanctions

If a director or executive officer of y@y €ompany is, as at the date of the AlF, or
was within 10 years before the date of theN&IF, a director, chief executive officer or chief
financial officer of any company (inclu;&ng your company), that:

(@) was subject to a er that was issued while the director or executive
officer was acting in the caSa as director, chief executive officer or chief financial

officer,
or Q_O

(b)  wgs shbject to an order that was issued after the director or executive

officer cease a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which
resulted fr event that occurred while that person was acting in the capacity as
director executive officer or chief financial officer, state the fact and describe the
basis hich the order was made and whether the order is still in effect.

N

) For the purposes of subsection (1), "order" means

(a) a cease trade order;

(b) an order similar to a cease trade order; or
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(© an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under
securities legislation, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days.

(1.2) If a director or executive officer of your company, or a shareholder holding a
sufficient number of securities of your company to affect materially the control of your

company
%‘b

@) is, as at the date of the AIF, or has been within the 10 years bef e
date of the AIF, a director or executive officer of any company (including your fﬂ@any)
that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of_that¥erson
ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal unde [R2gislation
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted roceedings,
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, resﬁver manager or
trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or

(b) has, within the 10 years before the date of eﬁz, become bankrupt,
made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankr @or insolvency, or become
subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement mpromise with creditors, or
had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appomtedb hold the assets of the director,
executive officer or shareholder, state the fact. Q

(2) Describe the penalties or sanctions imp(g;ﬁ and the grounds on which they were
imposed, or the terms of the settlement agr& ment and the circumstances that gave rise
to the settlement agreement, if a dlrect or executive officer of your company, or a
shareholder holding a sufficient ber of securities of your company to affect
materially the control of your comp?,;g as been subject to

(@) any penalties Or nctlons imposed by a court relating to securities
legislation or by a secur@regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement
agreement with a securi gulatory authority; or

(b) any %enaltles or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body
that would lik conS|dered important to a reasonable investor in making an
mvestmentd

(3) D subsectlon (2), no disclosure is required of a settlement agreement
enter, 0 before December 31, 2000 unless the disclosure would likely be important
to aéasonable investor in making an investment decision.

@I’RUCTIONS

0] The disclosure required by subsections (1), (1.2) and (2) also applies to any
personal holding companies of any of the persons referred to in subsections (1), (1.2)
and (2).
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(i) A management cease trade order which applies to directors or executive officers
of a company is an "order" for the purposes of paragraph 10.2(1)(a) and must be
disclosed, whether or not the director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer
was named in the order.

(i) A late filing fee, such as a filing fee that applies to the late filing of an insi?g
report, is not a "penalty or sanction” for the purposes of section 10.2. '\

(iv)  The disclosure in paragraph 10.2(1)(a) only applies if the director or e‘} tive
officer was a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer when the order was
issued against the company. You do not have to provide disclosure |f(§d?rector or
executive officer became a director, chief executive officer or chief financigl officer after
the order was issued. i

10.3 Conflicts of Interest &

Disclose particulars of existing or potential materi flicts of interest between
your company or a subsidiary of your company and director or officer of your
company or of a subsidiary of your company. '\

ltem 11 Promoters (l/Q
11.1 Promoters b‘«

For a person that has been, \Wjtin the 2 most recently completed financial years
or during the current financial yea?a romoter of your company or of a subsidiary of
your company, state

(@) the person n@

(b) the r%ﬁnd percentage of each class of voting securities and equity

securities of your any or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, or controlled or
directed, direct@ directly;

(c) nature and amount of anything of value, including money, property,
contr ions or rights of any kind received or to be received by the promoter
direc indirectly from your company or from a subsidiary of your company, and the
natlé and amount of any assets, services or other consideration received or to be

ived by your company or a subsidiary of your company in return; and

(d)  for an asset acquired within the 3 most recently completed financial years

or during the current financial year, or an asset to be acquired, by your company or by a
subsidiary of your company from a promoter
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(1) the consideration paid or to be paid for the asset and the method by
which the consideration has been or will be determined;

(i) the person making the determination referred to in subparagraph (i)
and the person relationship with your company, the promoter, or an associate or affiliate

of your company or of the promoter; and (b

(i)  the date that the asset was acquired by the promoter and t

of the asset to the promoter. (1/
Item 12 Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions (.bQ“
12.1 Legal Proceedings ~\

(2) Describe any legal proceedings your company is or wa@gg/ to, or that any of
its property is or was the subject of, during your company’s'@n 1al year.

(2) Describe any such legal proceedings your compa nows to be contemplated.

(3) For each proceeding described in subsecy Qel) and (2), include the name of
the court or agency, the date instituted, the ipal parties to the proceeding, the
nature of the claim, the amount claimed, y, whether the proceeding is being
contested, and the present status of the prcbgedlng

INSTRUCTION .\

You do not need to give inform@th respect to any proceeding that involves a claim
for damages if the amount vded, exclusive of interest and costs, does not exceed
10% of the current asseté\/our company. However, if any proceeding presents in
large degree the same and factual issues as other proceedings pending or known
to be contemplated,@@ust include the amount involved in the other proceedings in

computing the per@ ge.
12.2 RGQUIC) Actions
D the any

(a penalties or sanctions imposed against your company by a court relating
@curltles legislation or by a securities regulatory authority during your financial year,

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body

against your company that would likely be considered important to a reasonable
investor in making an investment decision, and
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(© settlement agreements your company entered into before a court relating
to securities legislation or with a securities regulatory authority during your financial
year.

INSTRUCTION

You do not need to give information with respect to any proceeding that involves a c,ﬁfltb
for damages if the amount involved, exclusive of interest and costs, do ot
exceed 10% of the current assets of your company. However, if any pn Qding
presents in large degree the same legal and factual issues as other proc#edings
pending or known to be contemplated, you must include the amount J )ed in the
other proceedings in computing the percentage. 4%

-~

Item 13 Interest of Management and Others in Material ;:gwctions
13.1 Interest of Management and Others in Material Tr@ tions

Describe, and state the approximate amount of,” 28y material interest, direct or
indirect, of any of the following persons in any tr né?tion within the 3 most recently
completed financial years or during the current fir&&a year that has materially affected
or is reasonably expected to materially affect y mpany:

(@) adirector or executive officer w‘your company;,
(b) a person that beneficiau%owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly,
more than 10% of any class or seri?.p your outstanding voting securities; and

(c) an associate o aﬁe of any of the persons referred to in paragraphs (a)
or (b). é

INSTRUCTIONS Q’O

0] The matgrialy of the interest is to be determined on the basis of the significance
of the inform investors in light of all the circumstances of the particular case. The
importanc he interest to the person having the interest, the relationship of the
parties transaction with each other and the amount involved are among the
facto be considered in determining the significance of the information to
sec@tyholders.

This Item does not apply to any interest arising from the ownership of securities
of your company if the securityholder receives no extra or special benefit or advantage
not shared on an equal basis by all other holders of the same class of securities or all
other holders of the same class of securities who are resident in Canada.
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(i)  Give a brief description of the material transactions. Include the name of each
person whose interest in any transaction is described and the nature of the relationship
to your company.

(iv) For any transaction involving the purchase of assets by or sale of assets to your
company or a subsidiary of your company, state the cost of the assets to the purchasgy,
and the cost of the assets to the seller if acquired by the seller within 3 years beforei\
transaction.

(v) You do not need to give information under this Item for a transaction if (1/
)

(A) the rates or charges involved in the transaction are fﬁbl by law or
determined by competitive bids, ~\

(B) the interest of a specified person in the trans@??s solely that of a
director of another company that is a party to the transactio

(C) the transaction involves services as a ban other depository of funds, a
transfer agent, registrar, trustee under a trust indentu@)r other similar services, or

(D) the transaction does not involve rg@eraﬂon for services and the interest
of the specified person arose from the beneficigf ownership, direct or indirect, of less
than 10% of any class of equity securitig§e®f another company that is party to the
transaction and the transaction is in the (!Nnary course of business of your company or
your company's subsidiaries.

(vi)  Describe all transaction xcluded above that involve remuneration (including
an issuance of securities), dir&ty or indirectly, to any of the specified persons for
services in any capacity ss the interest of the person arises solely from the

beneficial ownership, di r indirect, of less than 10% of any class of equity securities
of another compan shing the services to your company or your company's

subsidiaries. Q

Item 14 &fer Agents and Registrars

141 T er Agents and Registrars

QState the name of your company's transfer agent(s) and registrar(s) and the
j@ion (by municipalities) of the register(s) of transfers of each class of securities.

ltem 15 Material Contracts
15.1 Material Contracts

Give particulars of any material contract
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(@) required to be filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation at the time this
AIF is filed, as required under section 12.3 of the Regulation, or

(b)  would be required to be filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation at the
time this AIF is filed, as required under section 12.3 of the Regulation, but for the fggt
that it was previously filed. ,\?f)

INSTRUCTIONS (I/Q

(1) You must give particulars of any material contract that was entere @ Within the
last financial year or before the last financial year but is still in effect, a tis required
to be filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation or would be require&o be filed under
section 12.2 of the Regulation but for the fact that it was previ filed. You do not
need to give particulars of a material contract t)—% as entered into
before January 1, 2002 because these material contracts t required to be filed
under section 12.2 of the Regulation. &

(i) Set out a complete list of all contracts for whi articulars must be given under
this item, indicating those that are disclosed else&% In the AIF. Particulars need only
be provided for those contracts that do not haq/ particulars given elsewhere in the
AlF.

)
(i)  Particulars of contracts must in&q?é the dates of, parties to, consideration
provided for in, and general nature a,nikey terms of, the contracts.

ltem 16 Interests of Exp@i

16.1 Names of Experts @
Name each DQLQ

@ w named as having prepared or certified a report, valuation,
statement or von described or included in a filing, or referred to in a filing, made
under Re n 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations by your
compa g, or relating to, your company's most recently completed financial year;

and

e (b)  whose profession or business gives authority to the report, valuation,
\ tement or opinion made by the person.

16.2 Interests of Experts

(1) Disclose all registered or beneficial interests, direct or indirect, in any securities
or other property of your company or of one of your associates or affiliates
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(@) held by an expert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not an
individual, by the designated professionals of that expert, when that expert prepared the
report, valuation, statement or opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a);

(b) received by an expert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not
individual, by the designated professionals of that expert, after the time specifig{%

paragraph 16.2(1)(a); or Q

(c) to be received by an expert named in section 16.1 and, if the exp(e](is not
an individual, by the designated professionals of that expert. (.b 4
(1.1) For the purposes of subsection (1), a "designated prof nal" means, in

relation to an expert named in section 16.1,

(@) each partner, employee or consultant of the e ﬁo participated in and
who was in a position to directly influence the prepatr, of the report, valuation,
statement or opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a); a

(b)  each partner, employee or consult I'N(?ue expert who was, at any time
during the preparation of the report, valuati a,@tatement or opinion referred to in
paragraph 16.1(a), in a position to directly influghce the outcome of the preparation of
the report, valuation, statement or opinion, Dﬁ‘luding, without limitation

(1) any person wh,gk:ecommends the compensation of, or who
provides direct supervisory, mana eht or other oversight of, the partner, employee or
consultant in the performance&preparation of the report, valuation, statement or
opinion referred to in paragr .1(a), including those at all successively senior levels
through to the expert's chi&cutive officer;

(i) Q_ erson who provides consultation regarding technical or
industry-specific i , transactions or events for the preparation of the report,
valuation, stattam@\ r opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a); and

Gub any person who provides quality control for the preparation of the
report, fon, statement or opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a).

(2) Q or the purposes of subsection (1), if the person's interest in the securities
esents less than 1% of your outstanding securities of the same class, a general
\ tement to that effect is sufficient.

(2.1) Despite subsection (1), an auditor who is independent in accordance with the
auditor's rules of professional conduct in a jurisdiction of Canada or who has performed
an audit in accordance with U.S. PCAOB GAAS or U.S. AICPA GAAS is not required to
provide the disclosure in subsection (1) if there is disclosure that the auditor is
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independent in accordance with the auditor's rules of professional conduct in a
jurisdiction of Canada or that the auditor has complied with the SEC's rules on auditor
independence.

3) If a person or a director, officer or employee of a person referred to in subsection
(1) is or is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, officer
employee of your company or of any associate or affiliate of your company, disclos ﬁ%
fact or expectation.

INSTRUCTIONS (I/Q
’bQ

0] (paragraph revoked);
(i) Section 16.2 does not apply to

(A) auditors of a business acquired by your com @wded they have not
been or will not be appointed as your company's audlt quent to the acquisition,
and

(B) your company's predecessor audit@ any, for periods when they were
not your company's auditor. (l/

(i)  Section 16.2 does not apply to regis@ged or beneficial interests, direct or indirect,
held through mutual funds. 4

ltem 17 Additional Informativ~

17.1 Additional Informatl(én
(1) Disclose that ad | information relating to your company may be found on
SEDAR at www.sed

(2) If your ny is required to distribute a Form 51-102F5 to any of its
securityhold %Clude a statement that additional information, including directors' and
officers’ rem ratlon and indebtedness, principal holders of your company's securities
and secufes authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans, if applicable, is
@b in your companys |nformat|on C|rcular for its most recent annual meeting of

Include a statement that additional financial information is provided in your
company's financial statements and MD&A for its most recently completed financial
year.

INSTRUCTION
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Your company may also be required to provide additional information in its AIF as set
out in Form 52-110F1 Audit Committee Information Required in an AlF.

Item 18 Additional Disclosure for Companies Not Sending Information

Circulars

18.1 Additional Disclosure '\(b

For companies that are not required to send a Form 51-102F5 to anp‘@heir
securityholders, disclose the information required under Items 6 to 10, 12 an¥ 13 of
Form 51-102F5, as modified below, if applicable: 4
D

Form 51-102-F5 Reference Modification -—)

ltem 6 -Voting Securities and Principal | Include the disclosure speciﬁe?n,s'ection 6.1 without

Holders of Voting Securities regard to the phrase "ent to be voted at the
meeting”. Do not include disclosure specified in
sections 6.2, 6.3 a 4. Include the disclosure
specified in sectior&

Item 7 - Election of Directors Disregard the amble of section 7.1. Include the
disclosure sp®iffd in section 7.1 without regard tot the
word "pr ed" throughout. Do not include the

disclosdr ecified in section 7.3.

Item 8 - Executive Compensation Di ard the preamble and paragraphs (a), (b) and (c)
tem 8. A company that does not send a
4 management information circular to its securityholders

must  provide the disclosure required by

?~ Form 51-102F6.
|$

Iltem 9 - Securities Authorized fsr uance | Disregard subsection 9.1(1).

under Equity Compensation Pl

.\

ltem 10 - Indebtednesga®&PDirectors and | Include the disclosure specified throughout; however,
Executive Officers replace the phrase "date of the informtion circular" with
Q "date of the AIF"  throughout. Disregard

@ paragraph 10.3(a).

7~

Item 12 - Ap tghent of Auditor Name th auditor. If the auditor was first appointed
&d within the last 5 years state the date when the auditor
O was first last 5 years, state the date when the auditor

Q was first appointed.

N\
R

W0. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F2: M.O. 2005-25, s. 3: M.O. 2006-04, s. 39: M.O. 2007-08,
s. 7 M.O. 2008-06, s. 9 and 11: M.O. 2008-18, s. 13: M.O. 2010-17, s. 29:
M.O. 2011-02, s. 2: M.O. 2012-05, s. 3.
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FORM 51-102F3 MATERIAL CHANGE REPORT
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Confidentiality

If this Report is filed on a confidential basis, state in block cag’t\gb
"CONFIDENTIAL" at the beginning of the Report.

Q
(b) Use of "Company" q/

Wherever this Form uses the word "company” the term inclu egbher types of
business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other unin orated business
entities

(c) Numbering and Headings s

The numbering, headings and ordering of the I&S included in this Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response t(ﬂgw item need not be repeated
elsewhere

Q
(d) Defined Terms (l/

)

If a term is used but not defined irM?s‘Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure_\Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24) and to
Regulation 14-101 respecting Defigigns (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this
Form and is defined in bot@gecurities statute of a local jurisdiction and in
Regulation 51-102 respectin inuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of
Regulation 51-102 respect@ontinuous Disclosure Obligations.

(e) Plain Langu O

Write th ort so that readers are able to understand it. Consider both the
level of detg %/lded and the language used in the document. Refer to the plain
language ples listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecti pntinuous Disclosure Obligations (Decision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12).
@ technical terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner.

If yo§
@ 2 CONTENT OF MATERIAL CHANGE REPORT
Item 1 Name and Address of Company

State the full name of your company and the address of its principal office in
Canada.
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Item 2Date of Material Change
State the date of the material change.
Item 3News Release

State the date and method(s) of dissemination of the news release issued u&@}
section 7.1 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations. Q

Item 4 Summary of Material Change (1/

Q-
Provide a brief but accurate summary of the nature and substanc the material
change. l

Item 5 Full Description of Material Change &
5.1 Full Description of Material Change &O

Supplement the summary required under It 4 with sufficient disclosure to
enable a reader to appreciate the significance@d Impact of the material change
without having to refer to other material. ement is in the best position to
determine what facts are significant and mu;misclose those facts in a meaningful
manner. See also Item 7. \b‘ﬂ

Some examples of significant,L%ts relating to the material change include: dates,
parties, terms and conditions, degsgiption of any assets, liabilities or capital affected,
purpose, financial or dollar valye %gsons for the change, and a general comment on
the probable impact on the [gsORY® or its subsidiaries. Specific financial forecasts would
not normally be required. &

Other additio@_@closure may be appropriate depending on the particular

situation. Q

5.2 Disclt)%'(or Restructuring Transactions
T

m applies to a material change report filed in respect of the closing of a
restr g transaction under which securities are to be changed, exchanged, issued
or ributed. This item does not apply if, in respect of the transaction, your company
% an information circular to its securityholders or filed a prospectus or a securities
\Q hange takeover bid circular.

Include the disclosure for each entity that resulted from the restructuring
transaction, if your company has an interest in that entity, required by section 14.2 of
Form 51-102F5. You may satisfy the requirement to include this disclosure by
incorporating the information by reference to another document.
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INSTRUCTIONS

0] If your company is engaged in oil and gas activities, the disclosure under Item 5
must also satisfy the requirements of Part 6 of Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards
of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (chapter V-1.1, r. 23).

(i) If you incorporate information by reference to another document, clearly g'mfy
the referenced document or any excerpt from it. Unless you have already the
referenced document or excerpt, you must file it with the material change_repd®ft. You
must also disclose that the document is on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. (b 4

Item 6 Reliance on subsection 7.1(2) of Regulation 51-102~\

If this Report is being filed on a confidential basis in reli n subsection 7.1(2)
of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Opligathons, state the reasons
for such reliance. &

INSTRUCTION
N

Refer to subsections 7.1(5), (6) and (7) of Rg@tion 51-102 respecting Continuous
Disclosure Obligations concerning continuing @bligations in respect of reports filed
under subsection 7.1(2) of Regulation &402 respecting Continuous Disclosure

Obligations. 4

State whether any inf& n has been omitted on the basis that it is confidential

ltem 7 Omitted Informatio
information.

provide the reaso your company's omission of confidential significant facts in the

In a separsﬂyﬁe@@ to the securities regulatory authority marked "Confidential”
Report in suffigient™detail to permit the applicable securities regulatory authority to

determine w to exercise its discretion to allow the omission of these significant
facts.
INST, ONS

J%er ain circumstances where a material change has occurred and a Report has been
is about to be filed but subsection 7.1(2) or (5) of Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations is not or will no longer be relied upon, your company
may nevertheless believe one or more significant facts otherwise required to be
disclosed in the Report should remain confidential and not be disclosed or not be
disclosed in full detail in the Report.
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Item 8 Executive Officer
Give the name and business telephone number of an executive officer of your

company who is knowledgeable about the material change and the Report, or the name
of an officer through whom such executive officer may be contacted.

Item 9 Date of Report '\(b

Date the Report. (I/Q

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 40; M.O. 2008-10, s. 8, 2008-18,

s. 13.
4
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FORM 51-102F4 BUSINESS ACQUISITION REPORT
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Description of Business Acquisition Report

Your company must file a Business Acquisition Report after completir'i?a
significant acquisition. See Part 8 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Con

Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24). The Business Acquisitio port
describes the significant businesses acquired by your company and the eff of the
acquisition on your company. (.b

(b)  Use of "Company" 4

Wherever this Form uses the word "company", the terrﬁc udes other types of
business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and ot ncorporated business
entities.

(c) Focus on Relevant Information '\(b

When providing the disclosure required(@ls Form, focus your discussion on
information that is relevant to an investor, anal r other reader.

(d) Incorporating Material By Refer e

document. Clearly identify th renced document, or any excerpt of it, that you
incorporate into this Report. EU s you have already filed the referenced document or

You may incorporate in@ required by this Form, by reference to another

excerpt, including any d nts incorporated by reference into the document or

excerpt, you must file it his Report. You must also disclose that the document is on
SEDAR at www.sed .
(e) Defined @gs

If a s used but not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecti ntinuous Disclosure Obligations and to Regulation 14-101 respecting
Definjt chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this Form and is defined in both the
sec@ties statute of a local jurisdiction and in Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous

losure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
pecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (Decision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12)
for further guidance.

This Form also uses accounting terms that are defined or used in Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises. For further guidance, see
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subsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations.
() Plain Language

Write this Report so that readers are able to understand it. Consider both
level of detail provided and the language used in the document. Refer to the
language principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation m
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use ical

terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner.
Q )

(9) Numbering and Headings

The numbering, headings and ordering of items inclu ?n this Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any ite d not be repeated

elsewhere in the Report.
PART 2 CONTENT OF BUSINESS ACQUISITION PORT
Item 1 Identity of Company Q'\
1.1 Name and Address of Company (l/
a

State the full name of your com;l&?y‘and the address of its principal office in
Canada.

1.2  Executive Officer &;

Give the name and@iness telephone number of an executive officer of your
company who is knowl ble about the significant acquisition and the Report, or the
name of an officer th hom such executive officer may be contacted.

Item 2 D@gof Acquisition
2.1 Nat Business Acquired
Q cribe the nature of the business acquired.
Acquisition Date

State the acquisition date used for accounting purposes.

2.3 Consideration

138



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 14, 2013 TO MAY 30, 2013

Disclose the type and amount of consideration, both monetary and non-
monetary, paid or payable by your company in connection with the significant
acquisition, including contingent consideration. Identify the source of funds used by your
company for the acquisition, including a description of any financing associated with the
acquisition.

2.4  Effect on Financial Position '\(b

Describe any plans or proposals for material changes in your businessﬁkgs or
the affairs of the acquired business which may have a significant effect on_the ffhancial
performance and financial position of your company. Examples include fposal to
liquidate the business, to sell, lease or exchange all or a substantial pgrt'Qits assets, to
amalgamate the business with any other business organization or te-lake any material
changes to your business or the business acquired such as ges in corporate
structure, management or personnel. @

2.5 Prior Valuations &O

Describe in sufficient detail any valuation odiPypn obtained within the last 12
months by the acquired business or your compa ;équwed by securities legislation or a
Canadian exchange or market to support the(ﬁideraﬂon paid by your company or
any of its subsidiaries for the business, includingihe name of the author, the date of the
opinion, the business to which the oplnlonwlates the value attributed to the business
and the valuation methodologies used.

2.6 Parties to Transaction

State whether the tra s$n is with an informed person, associate or affiliate of
your company and, if so, @dentlty and the relationship of the other parties to your
company.

2.7 Date of ReQE

Date @Zp

ltem 3 Q‘Financial Statements and Other Information

glnclude the financial statements or other information required by Part 8 of
ulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations. If applicable, disclose
t the auditors have not given their consent to include their audit report in this Report.

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F4; M.O. 2006-04, s. 41; M.O. 2008-18, s. 13; M.O. 2010-17,
s. 30.
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FORM 51-102F5 INFORMATION CIRCULAR
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@  Timing of Information

The information required by this Form 51-102F5 must be given as of a spe f@

date not more than 30 days prior to the date you first send the information cir to
any securityholder of the company. (1/
(b)  Use of "Company" (.bQ 4

Wherever this Form uses the word "company”, the term incluégs other types of
business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other ugi porated business
entities. é‘

(c) Incorporating Information by Reference &O

You may incorporate information required t(fy included in your information
circular by reference to another document. Clear, 'luentify the referenced document or
any excerpt of it that you incorporate into yo rmation circular. Unless you have
already filed the referenced document or excerm/fncluding any documents incorporated
by reference into the document or excerpt, lWwmust file it with your information circular.
You must also disclose that the docum&q is on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and that,
upon request, you will promptly proyde a copy of any such document free of charge to
a securityholder of the compan wever, you may not incorporate information
required to be included in For 02F6 by reference into your information circular.

(d) Defined Terms @

If atermis us%@not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Conti% Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24) and to
Regulation 14-101 Mespecting Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this
Form and i %ﬂed in both the securities statute of the local jurisdiction and in
Regulatio -202 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of
Policy ent to Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations
(De% 06-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12) for further guidance.

This Form also uses accounting terms that are defined or used in Canadian

AP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises. For further guidance, see

subsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations.
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(e) Plain Language

Write this document so that readers are able to understand it. Refer to the plain
language principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use technical
terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner. (b

N

()] Numbering and Headings Q

The numbering, headings and ordering of items included in this FOfm are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need n @‘Yepeated

elsewhere. !

(g) Tables and Figures

Where it is practicable and appropriate, present |nfor ﬁn tabular form. State
all amounts in figures. &

(h)  Omitting Information '\(b

You do not need to respond to any it @this Form that is inapplicable. You
may also omit information that is not knownfo the person on whose behalf the
solicitation is made and that is not reasorg&‘within the power of the person to obtain, if
you briefly state the circumstances that réRder the information unavailable.

notice of meeting or form of sent to the same persons whose proxies were
solicited in connection withyt ame meeting, as long as you clearly identify the
particular document contaigiQddthe information.

PART 2 CONT@.O
D eQ

ltem 1

You may omit information f*was contained in another information circular,

Sp iQ,the date of the information circular.
Itemé Revocability of Proxy
State whether the person giving the proxy has the power to revoke it. If any right
revocation is limited or is subject to compliance with any formal procedure, briefly

describe the limitation or procedure.

Item 3 Persons Making the Solicitation
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3.1 If a solicitation is made by or on behalf of management of the company, state
this. Name any director of the company who has informed management in writing that
he or she intends to oppose any action intended to be taken by management at the
meeting and indicate the action that he or she intends to oppose.

3.2 If a solicitation is made other than by or on behalf of management of 'ﬁg
company, state this and give the name of the person by whom, or on whose behalf'i\

made. Q

3.3 If the solicitation is to be made other than by mail, describe the metho¥ to be
employed. If the solicitation is to be made by specially engaged employ Msoliciting

agents, state, !

(@) the parties to and material features of any contract,0 angement for the

solicitation: and @

(b)  the cost or anticipated cost thereof. &O

3.4  State who has borne or will bear, directly or in(ﬁytly, the cost of soliciting.

ltem 4 Proxy Instructions (l/Q

4.1  The information circular or the for & proxy to which the information circular
relates must indicate in bold-face type trfa; he securityholder has the right to appoint a
person to represent the securityholddr at the meeting other than the person, if any,
designated in the form of proxy an?u t contain instructions as to the manner in which
the securityholder may exercis ight.

4.2  The information cir or the form of proxy to which the information circular
relates must state that @ scurities represented by the proxy will be voted or withheld
from voting in accor with the instructions of the securityholder on any ballot that
may be called for that, if the securityholder specifies a choice with respect to any

matter to be acfed Upon, the securities will be voted accordingly.
4.3 Thed ation circular must include the following, if applicable:

a statement that the reporting issuer is sending proxy-related materials to
regi§gred holders or beneficial owners using notice-and-access, and if stratification will
%s d, a description of the types of registered holders or beneficial owners who will

eive paper copies of the information circular and, if applicable, the documents in
paragraph 9.1.1(2)(b);

(b) a statement that the reporting issuer is sending proxy-related materials
directly to non-objecting beneficial owners under Regulation 54-101 respecting
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Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer
(chapter V-1.1, r. 29);

(c) a statement that management of the reporting issuer does not intend to
pay for intermediaries to forward to objecting beneficial owners under
Regulation 54-101 respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities ofa
Reporting Issuer the proxy-related materials and Form 54-101F7 — Request for Vyt\i
Instructions Made by Intermediary, and that in the case of an objecting beneficial @syner,
the objecting beneficial owner will not receive the materials unless the ¢?§$ting
beneficial owner’s intermediary assumes the cost of delivery.

)

Item 5 Interest of Certain Persons in Matters to be Acted Up, r{b

Briefly describe any material interest, direct or indirect ay of beneficial
ownership of securities or otherwise, of each of the following ns in any matter to

be acted upon other than the election of directors or the ap@t ent of auditors:

@) if the solicitation is made by or on behalf éf Wanagement of the company,
each person who has been a director or executive (ﬂber of the company at any time
since the beginning of the company's last financi r,

(b) if the solicitation is made other thgll/oy or on behalf of management of the
company, each person by whom, or orbémhose behalf, directly or indirectly, the
solicitation is made;

(c) each proposed nomi %r election as a director of the company; and

(d)  each associat o%liate of any of the persons listed in paragraphs (a)
to (c). é

INSTRUCTIONS Q’O

0] The follo irgpersons and companies are deemed to be persons by whom or on
whose beh solicitation is made (collectively, "solicitors” or individually a
"solicitor");

any member of a committee or group that solicits proxies, and any person

Whe%r or not named as a member who, acting alone or with one or more other

ons, directly or indirectly takes the initiative or engages in organizing, directing or
ncing any such committee or group;

(B) any person who contributes, or joins with another to contribute, more
than $250 to finance the solicitation of proxies; or
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(C) any person who lends money, provides credit, or enters into any other
arrangements, under any contract or understanding with a solicitor, for the purpose of
financing or otherwise inducing the purchase, sale, holding or voting of securities of the
company but not including a bank or other lending institution or a dealer that, in the
ordinary course of business, lends money or executes orders for the purchase or sale of
securities.

(i) Subject to paragraph (i), the following persons and companies are deeme@'&‘to

be solicitors: (1/

(A) any person retained or employed by a solicitor to solicit @é‘s or any
person who merely transmits proxy-soliciting material or performs mi is{%al or clerical
duties;

(B) any person employed or retained by a solicitor @?:apacity of lawyer,
accountant, or advertising, public relations, investor relati financial advisor and

whose activities are limited to the performance of thg'{ ies in the course of the
employment or retainer;

(C) any person regularly employed as 'bgger or employee of the company
or any of its affiliates; or ‘-1;6

(D) any officer or director of, ob‘amy person regularly employed by, any
solicitor.

Item 6 Voting Securities a ?Incipal Holders of Voting Securities

meeting, state the numbe ecurities outstanding and the particulars of voting rights

for each class. O

6.2 For each ?g?f restricted securities, provide the information required in
subsection 10.@ Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

6.1 For each class of vognﬁcurities of the company entitled to be voted at the

6.3 Giv Gé record date as of which the securityholders entitled to vote at the

meetin e determined or particulars as to the closing of the security transfer
regis the case may be, and, if the right to vote is not limited to securityholders of
rec as of the specified record date, indicate the conditions under which

@I’I yholders are entitled to vote.

6.4 If action is to be taken with respect to the election of directors and if the
securityholders or any class of securityholders have the right to elect a specified
number of directors or have cumulative or similar voting rights, include a statement of
such rights and state briefly the conditions precedent, if any, to the exercise thereof.
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6.5 If, to the knowledge of the company’s directors or executive officers, any person
beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly, voting securities carrying
10% or more of the voting rights attached to any class of voting securities of the
company, name each person and state

(@) the approximate number of securities beneficially owned, or controlled Qr
directed, directly or indirectly, by each such person; and ,\(?)

(b) the percentage of the class of outstanding voting securitieélyTT the
company represented by the number of voting securities so owned, contrMled or
directed, directly or indirectly. (bQ 4

ltem 7 Election of Directors ~\

7.1  If directors are to be elected, provide the following infor@gtin tabular form to
the extent practicable, for each person proposed to be Idated for election as a
director (a "proposed director") and each other person w @rm of office as a director
will continue after the meeting:

(@) State the name, province or stateQQ:;) country of residence, of each
director and proposed director. (l/

(b) State the period or periods ing which each director has served as a
director and when the term of office for e director and proposed director will expire.

(c) Identify the members?.g ch committee of the board.

n%cipal occupation, business or employment of each
NGive the name and principal business of any company in
is carried on. Furnish similar information as to all of the
principal occupation esses or employments of each proposed director within the
5 preceding years ss the proposed director is now a director and was elected to the
present term of?ffi by a vote of securityholders at a meeting, the notice of which was

(d)  State the pres
director and proposed dire
which any such emplo

accompanie information circular.

f a director or proposed director has held more than one position in the
com or a parent or subsidiary, state only the first and last position held.

) State the number of securities of each class of voting securities of the
pany or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly
or indirectly, by each proposed director.

(9) If securities carrying 10% or more of the voting rights attached to all voting
securities of the company or of any of its subsidiaries are beneficially owned, or
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controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by any proposed director and the proposed
director’s associates or affiliates,

0] state the number of securities of each class of voting securities
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by the associates or
affiliates; and (b

(i) name each associate or affiliate whose security holdings aQI Yo

or more. (1/

7.2  If a proposed director (bQ "

(@) is, as at the date of the information circular, or has b within 10 years
before the date of the information circular, a director, chief e ?ve officer or chief
financial officer of any company (including the company @s ct of which the
information circular is being prepared) that,

0] was subject to an order that was lsslgd while the proposed director
was acting in the capacity as director, chief executlvefa.ljcer or chief financial officer; or

(i) was subject to an order th s issued after the proposed director
ceased to be a director, chief executive officgf/ or chief financial officer and which
resulted from an event that occurred whilfNg(hat person was acting in the capacity as
director, chief executive officer or chief fim&gcial officer,

state the fact and d i0e the basis on which the order was made and
whether the order is still in effe@u

(b) is, as at the of the information circular, or has been within 10 years
before the date of the in tion circular, a director or executive officer of any company
(including the comp?_ respect of which the information circular is being prepared)

w

that, while that p as acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person
ceasing to act iath capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation

relating to b tcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings,
arrangem compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or
trustee mted to hold its assets, state the fact; or

%(c has, within the 10 years before the date of the information circular,
e bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or

olvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or
compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to
hold the assets of the proposed director, state the fact.
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7.2.1 Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which they were
imposed, or the terms of the settlement agreement and the circumstances that gave rise
to the settlement agreement, if a proposed director has been subject to

(@) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities
legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlemegt
agreement with a securities regulatory authority; or '\

ody

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulaﬂ?
that would likely be considered important to a reasonable securityholder_in d€ciding
whether to vote for a proposed director. (b 4

7.2.2 Despite section 7.2.1, no disclosure is required of a sen-dment agreement
entered into before December 31, 2000 unless the disclosure w ikely be important
to a reasonable securityholder in deciding whether to vote for sed director.

INSTRUCTIONS
<O

(1) The disclosure required by sections 7.2 anci\f%l also applies to any personal
holding companies of the proposed director. Q

(i) A management cease trade order which ggplies to directors or executive officers
of a company is an "order" for the purwes of paragraph 7.2(a)(i) and must be
disclosed, whether or not the proposed difgCtor was named in the order.

(i) A late filing fee, such as aﬁ,’m fee that applies to the late filing of an insider
report, is not a "penalty or sanctiqqMor the purposes of section 7.2.1.

(iv)  The disclosure in p
director, chief executiv
against the compan
became a directoq '
issued.

aph 7.2(a)(i) only applies if the proposed director was a
er or chief financial officer when the order was issued
do not have to provide disclosure if the proposed director
f executive officer or chief financial officer after the order was

7.2.3 For rposes of subsection 7.2(a), "order" means
Q a cease trade order;
e (b) an order similar to a cease trade order; or

(© an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under
securities legislation,

that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days.
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7.3 If any proposed director is to be elected under any arrangement or understanding
between the proposed director and any other person, except the directors and executive
officers of the company acting solely in such capacity, name the other person and
describe briefly the arrangement or understanding.

Item 8 Executive Compensation

&

Despite section 9.3.1 of the Regulation, if you are sending this infowt n
circular in connection with a meeting (1/

(@) thatis an annual general meeting, (.bQ 4

(b) at which the company’s directors are to be elected, or ~\

(© at which the company’s securityholders will be ﬁ&g vote on a matter
relating to executive compensation, include a completed FO@ 102F6.

Item 9 Securities Authorized for Issuance Undersquity Compensation

Plans '\fb

9.1 Equity Compensation Plan Informatiopllo

(2) Provide the information in subsectbgs(Z) if you are sending this information
circular in connection with a meeting '\

(@) thatis an annual gen eeting,
(b)  atwhich the @) 's directors are to be elected, or

(c) at which t mpany’s securityholders will be asked to vote on a matter
relating to executive ensation or a transaction that involves the company issuing

securities. Q

(2) In the r form under the caption set out, provide the information specified in
section 9. pf the end of the company's most recently completed financial year with
respect_{8§¢tompensation plans under which equity securities of the company are
auth @ or issuance, aggregated as follows:

e (@) all compensation plans previously approved by securityholders; and

(b)  all compensation plans not previously approved by securityholders.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
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Number of securitie to | Weighted-average Number of securities
be issued upon | exercise price of | remaining available for
exercise of outstanding | outstanding options, | future issuance under
options, warrants and | warrants and rights equity compensation

rights (b) plans (excluding
(a) securities reflected in
column (a))
(c) P
Plan Category .
Equity compensation plans N
approved by securityholders ('\Q
Equity compensation plans not 4
approved by securityholders (\ N
Total (N

9.2 Include in the table the following information as of the end e\company's most
recently completed financial year for each category of compens®¥n plan described in
section 9.1:

(@  the number of securities to be issued u Qe exercise of outstanding
options, warrants and rights (column (a)); (b

(b) the weighted-average exercise pri f'the outstanding options, warrants
and rights disclosed under subsection 9.2(a) (cbllytn (b)); and

(c) other than securities to b '&&é’d upon the exercise of the outstanding

options, warrants and rights discloseg insubsection 9.2(a), the number of securities
remaining available for future issu nder the plan (column (c)).

9.3 For each compensatio under which equity securities of the company are
authorized for issuance andWat was adopted without the approval of securityholders,
describe briefly, in narray m, the material features of the plan.

INSTRUCTIONS Q~

0] The di ure under Item 9 relating to compensation plans must include
individual ¢ sation arrangements.
(i) C§07e disclosure with respect to any compensation plan of the company (or
parﬁ bsidiary or affiliate of the company) under which equity securities of the
C ny are authorized for issuance to employees or non-employees (such as
tors, consultants, advisors, vendors, customers, suppliers or lenders) in exchange
\er consideration in the form of goods or services. You do not have to provide disclosure
regarding any plan, contract or arrangement for the issuance of warrants or rights to all
securityholders of the company on a pro rata basis (such as a rights offering).
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@) If more than one class of equity security is issued under the company's
compensation plans, disclose aggregate plan information for each class of security
separately.

(iv)  You may aggregate information regarding individual compensation arrangements
with the plan information required under subsections 9.1(a) and (b), as applicable. (b

(v) You may aggregate information regarding a compensation plan assu in
connection with a merger, consolidation or other acquisition transaction puﬁ?t to
which the company may make subsequent grants or awards of its equity securittes with
the plan information required under subsections 9.1(a) and (b), as appli MDisclose
on an aggregated basis in a footnote to the table the informatiop reduired under
subsections 9.2(a) and (b) with respect to any individual optionss»slarrants or rights
outstanding under the compensation plan assumed in conn (?n with a merger,
consolidation or other acquisition transaction. é

(vij To the extent that the number of securities r r@\ing available for future

issuance disclosed in column (c) includes securities avail&ble for future issuance under
any compensation plan other than upon the exerci&&yof an option, warrant or right,
disclose the number of securities and type of pl parately for each such plan in a
footnote to the table. (l/

(vii) If the description of a compensatiofyeplan set forth in the company's financial
statements contains the disclosure requsgd by section 9.3, a cross-reference to the
description satisfies the requirementgt section 9.3.

(viii)  If an equity compensati@% contains a formula for calculating the number of
securities available for issuggc®&Bnder the plan, including, without limitation, a formula
that automatically increa&he number of securities available for issuance by a
percentage of the nun@ of outstanding securities of the company, describe this
formulain a footnoteQ_L table.

ltem 10 Ingeb®™dness of Directors and Executive Officers

10.1 Ag gﬁte Indebtedness

AGGF(]%A‘rE INDEBTEDNESS ($)
D
PuNose To the Company or its Subsidiaries To Another Entity
% (b) ()
\; hare purchases
Other

(1) Complete the above table for the aggregate indebtedness outstanding as at a
date within 30 days before the date of the information circular entered into in connection
with:
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(@) apurchase of securities; and
(b)  all other indebtedness.

(2) Report separately the indebtedness to (b
(a)  the company or any of its subsidiaries (column (b)); and Q'\
(b)  another entity if the indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee(,]ﬁjpport

agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understandi dvided by
the company or any of its subsidiaries (column (c)),

of all executive officers, directors, employees and for %xecutive officers,
directors and employees of the company or any of its subsidiaré

(3)  "Support agreement” includes, but is not limite n agreement to provide
assistance in the maintenance or servicing of any ind ness and an agreement to
provide compensation for the purpose of maintainingfb servicing any indebtedness of
the borrower. Q

10.2 Indebtedness of Directors and Executiyé Officers under (1) Securities
Purchase and (2) Other Programs '\b‘s

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS UNDER (1)
SECURITIES PURCHASE AND (2) OTHER PRO MS
Name and | Involvement of | Largest mount Financially Security for | Amount
Principal Company  or | Amount Outstanding as | Assisted Indebtedness Forgiven
Position Subsidiary Outstan at [Date within | Securities ) During [Most
(@ (b) Duyfin Most | 30 days] Purchases Recently
Re y ($) During [Most Completed
@ leted (d) Recently Financial
ancial Completed Year]
ear] Financial (©)]
Q (%) Year] (@)
(©) #)
O :
Securitie, ase Programs
s \.J
Ot r\Fgograms
\é

(1) Complete the above table for each individual who is, or at any time during the
most recently completed financial year was, a director or executive officer of the
company, each proposed nominee for election as a director of the company, and each
associate of any such director, executive officer or proposed nominee,
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(@ who is, or at any time since the beginning of the most recently completed
financial year of the company has been, indebted to the company or any of its
subsidiaries, or

(b)  whose indebtedness to another entity is, or at any time since the
beginning of the most recently completed financial year has been, the subject&
guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangen@
understanding provided by the company or any of its subsidiaries, (1/

and separately disclose the indebtedness for security purchase p s and all
other programs. 4%

(2) Note the following:

Column (a) - disclose the name and principal posj $the borrower. If the
borrower was, during the most recently completed fin year, but no longer is a
director or executive officer, state that fact. If the borro& is a proposed nominee for
election as a director, state that fact. If the borro is included as an associate,
describe briefly the relationship of the borrower&n individual who is or, during the
financial year, was a director or executive of who is a proposed nominee for
election as a director, name that individual an ovide the information required by this
subparagraph for that individual. b‘ .

Column (b) - disclose whether_{ke company or a subsidiary of the company is the
lender or the provider of a guar?ae, support agreement, letter of credit or similar
arrangement or understanding

Column (c) - dis the largest aggregate amount of the indebtedness
outstanding at any tlme the most recently completed financial year.

Column (d) % ose the aggregate amount of indebtedness outstanding as at a
date within 30 @ efore the date of the information circular.

e) - disclose separately for each class or series of securities, the sum of
the nu securities purchased during the most recently completed financial year
with & ancial assistance (security purchase programs only).

Column (f) - disclose the security for the indebtedness, if any, provided to the
\ pany, any of its subsidiaries or the other entity (security purchase programs only).

Column (g) - disclose the total amount of indebtedness that was forgiven at any
time during the most recently completed financial year.

3) Supplement the above table with a summary discussion of
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(@) the material terms of each incidence of indebtedness and, if applicable, of
each guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or
understanding, including

0] the nature of the transaction in which the indebtedness wgs
incurred; ,\

(i)  the rate of interest; (I/Q

(i)  the term to maturity; (bQ -\

(iv)  any understanding, agreement or intention to Iimi(-kecourse; and
(v)  any security for the indebtedness; @E

(b) any material adjustment or amendment uring the most recently
completed financial year to the terms of the mdebt&ess and, if applicable, the
guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or smﬁygarrangement or understanding.
Forgiveness of indebtedness reported in colu of the above table should be

explained; and (l/
(© the class or series of the secygies purchased with financial assistance or
held as security for the indebtedness , If the class or series of securities is not

publicly traded, all material termg _pf the securities, including the provisions for
exchange, conversion, exercise, r tion, retraction and dividends.

10.3 You do not need to di§c®nformation required by this Item

@) if you ar
meeting @)

Qhat is an annual general meeting,

sending this information circular in connection with a

Gi) at which the company’s directors are to be elected, or

(i)  at which the company’s securityholders will be asked to vote on a
matQ relating to executive compensation,

(b)  for any indebtedness that has been entirely repaid on or before the date of
the information circular, or

(© for routine indebtedness.
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"Routine indebtedness” means indebtedness described in any of the following
clauses:

0] If the company or its subsidiary makes loans to employees generally,

(A) the loans are made on terms no more favourable than the terms
which loans are made by the company or its subsidiary to employees generally, an H:l)

(B) the amount, at any time during the last completed finan ear,
remaining unpaid under the loans to the director, executive officer gr pMposed
nominee, together with his or her associates, does not exceed $50,000. (b 4

(i) A loan to a person who is a full-time employee of the consgany,
(A) thatis fully secured against the residence borrower, and

(B) the amount of which in total does r}( eed the annual salary of
the borrower.

@ii)  If the company or its subsidiary (?oans in the ordinary course of
business, a loan made to a person other than ime employee of the company

(A)  on substantially the sabg«terms, including those as to interest rate
and security, as are available when a Ioﬁ\ls made to other customers of the company
or its subsidiary with comparable creﬂjkand

(B) with no mor&;the usual risks of collectibility.

(iv) A loan arisin@- reason of purchases made on usual trade terms or of
ordinary travel or exm advances, or for similar reasons, if the repayment
arrangements are in with usual commercial practice.

ltem 11 I@gt of Informed Persons in Material Transactions
Desq\Q¢ briefly and, where practicable, state the approximate amount of any

material Mg®rest, direct or indirect, of any informed person of the company, any

prop @ director of the company, or any associate or affiliate of any informed person

or osed director, in any transaction since the commencement of the company's
t Tecently completed financial year or in any proposed transaction which has
terially affected or would materially affect the company or any of its subsidiaries.

INSTRUCTIONS:

154



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 14, 2013 TO MAY 30, 2013

(1) Briefly describe the material transaction. State the name and address of each
person whose interest in any transaction is described and the nature of the relationship
giving rise to the interest.

(i) For any transaction involving the purchase or sale of assets by or to the company
or any subsidiary, other than in the ordinary course of business, state the cost of the
assets to the purchaser and the cost of the assets to the seller, if acquired by the S&@
within 2 years prior to the transaction. Q

(i)  This Item does not apply to any interest arising from the ownership_of s(e]t{urities
of the company where the securityholder receives no extra or sp Benefit or
advantage not shared on a proportionate basis by all holders of the” §&ame class of
securities or by all holders of the same class of securities who are resident in Canada.

(iv)  Include information as to any material underwriting d@u ts or commissions
upon the sale of securities by the company where any of th Ified persons was or is
to be an underwriter in a contractual relationship with ompany with respect to
securities or is an associate or affiliate of a person ‘tft was or is to be such an

underwriter.
,\‘b

(V) You do not need to disclose the inf@@ion required by this Item for any
transaction or any interest in that transaction if
)
(A) the rates or charges invcﬂ\&j‘ in the transaction are fixed by law or
determined by competitive bids,

(B) the interest of t&iﬁed person in the transaction is solely that of
director of another company ¢h a party to the transaction,

(C) the transa Involves services as a bank or other depositary of funds,
transfer agent, regist@~ stee under a trust indenture or other similar services, or

(D) tr%trg‘nsaction does not directly or indirectly, involve remuneration for

services, anb

) the interest of the specified person arose from the beneficial
owne, , direct or indirect, of less than 10% of any class of voting securities of
anoér company that is a party to the transaction,

e (I the transaction is in the ordinary course of business of the company

or its subsidiaries, and
(1y  the amount of the transaction or series of transactions is less

than 10% of the total sales or purchases, as the case may be, of the company and its
subsidiaries for the most recently completed financial year.
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(vi)  Provide information for transactions not excluded above which involve
remuneration, directly or indirectly, to any of the specified persons for services in any
capacity unless the interest of the person arises solely from the beneficial ownership,
direct or indirect, of less than 10% of any class of voting securities of another company
furnishing the services to the company or its subsidiaries. (b

N

Item 12 Appointment of Auditor Q

Name the auditor of the company. If the auditor was first appointed Withiﬂtﬁe last
5 years, state the date when the auditor was first appointed. (b 4

If action is to be taken to replace an auditor, provide the iﬁt&mation required
under section 4.11 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous&h?esure Obligations.

ltem 13 Management Contracts O

If management functions of the company or an its subsidiaries are to any
substantial degree performed other than by the d}f@)rs or executive officers of the
company or subsidiary, Q

(@) give details of the agreemerﬁl/or arrangement under which the
management functions are performed, igg&{ing the name and address of any person
who is a party to the agreement or arran ent or who is responsible for performing the
management functions;

(b)  give the names a %inces of residence of any person that was, during

the most recently complete ncial year, an informed person of any person with
which the company or sulgi™ry has any such agreement or arrangement and, if the
following information is to the directors or executive officers of the company, give

the names and provi% f residence of any person that would be an informed person
of any person wi ich the company or subsidiary has any such agreement or
arrangement if @ rson were an issuer;

payable company and its subsidiaries to the person since the commencement of

(© Gﬁ any person named under paragraph (a) state the amounts paid or
the Q&Z?\tly completed financial year and give particulars; and

(d) for any person named under paragraph (a) or (b) and their associates or
ﬁ iliates, give particulars of,

0] any indebtedness of the person, company, associate or affiliate to
the company or its subsidiaries that was outstanding, and
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(i) any transaction or arrangement of the person, company, associate
or affiliate with the company or subsidiary,

at any time since the start of the company's most recently completed
financial year.

INSTRUCTIONS: ,\‘b
(1) Do not refer to any matter that is relatively insignificant. (I/Q

(i) In giving particulars of indebtedness, state the largest aggre @a?'nount of
indebtedness outstanding at any time during the period, the nature of theJhdebtedness
and of the transaction in which it was incurred, the amount e indebtedness

presently outstanding and the rate of interest paid or charged o gh?ndebtedness

(i) Do not include as indebtedness amounts due fro particular person for
purchases subject to usual trade terms, for ordinary tra)/< expense advances and
for other similar transactions.

Iltem 14 Particulars of Matters to be Acted&on

14.1 If action is to be taken on any mattep/to be submitted to the meeting of

securityholders other than the approval of Barwal financial statements, briefly describe

the substance of the matter, or related g s of matters, except to the extent described

under the foregoing items, in suffic' t detail to enable reasonable securityholders to

form a reasoned judgment concer he matter. Without limiting the generality of the

foregoing, such matters inclﬁlteraﬁons of share capital, charter amendments,
o]

property acquisitions or di ns, reverse takeovers, amalgamations, mergers,
arrangements or reorgani s and other similar transactions.

14.2 If the action t Qlken IS in respect of a significant acquisition as determined

under Part 8 of R tion 51-102 under which securities of the acquired business are
being exchan r the company’s securities, or in respect of a restructuring
transaction @/hlch securities are to be changed, exchanged, issued or distributed,

include da‘ re for

the company, if the company has not filed all documents required under
Re tion 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations,

\e (b)  the business being acquired, if the matter is a significant acquisition,

(c) each entity, other than the company, whose securities are being changed,
exchanged, issued or distributed, if

(1) the matter is a restructuring transaction, and
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(i) the company’s current securityholders will have an interest in that
entity after the restructuring transaction is completed, and

(d) each entity that would result from the significant acquisition or
restructuring transaction, if the company’s securityholders will have an interest in that
entity after the significant acquisition or restructuring transaction is completed. '\

The disclosure for the company, business or entity must be the d%%ure
(including financial statements) prescribed under securities legislation and_desc¥ibed in
the form of prospectus that the company, business or entity, respectj @Would be
eligible to use immediately prior to the sending and filing of the infogmafi®n circular in
respect of the significant acquisition or restructuring transaction, iola distribution of
securities in the jurisdiction.

14.3 If the matter is one that is not required to b $ﬂitted to a vote of
securityholders, state the reasons for submitting it to yholders and state what
action management intends to take in the event a negative vote by the
securityholders. '\

14.4 Section 14.2 does not apply to an infor(a}%n circular that is sent to holders of
voting securities of a reporting issuer soliciting/proxies otherwise than on behalf of
management of the reporting issuer (a ”"gygident circular"), unless the sender of the
dissident circular is proposing a signi t acquisition or restructuring transaction
involving the reporting issuer and th,%ender, under which securities of the sender, or
an affiliate of the sender, are to iStributed or transferred to securityholders of the
reporting issuer. However, a s%g of a dissident circular shall include in the dissident
circular the disclosure requir, section 14.2 if the sender of the dissident circular is
proposing a significant aa@uon or restructuring transaction under which securities of
the sender or securitie@ n affiliate of the sender are to be changed, exchanged,
issued or dlstrlbuted

%atlsfles section 14.2 if it prepares an information circular in
ualifying Transaction, for a company that is a CPC, or in connection
ake-Over (as Qualifying Transaction, CPC and Reverse Take-Over are
TSX Venture Exchange policies) provided that the company complies
with olicies and requirements of the TSX Venture Exchange in respect of that
Qu%ing Transaction or Reverse Take-Over.

145 A comp
connection
with a Rey
defined |

TRUCTION

For the purposes of section 14.2, a securityholder will not be considered to have an
interest in an entity after an acquisition or restructuring transaction is completed if the
securityholder will only hold a redeemable security that is immediately redeemed for
cash.
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ltem 15 Restricted Securities

15.1 If the action to be taken involves a transaction that would have the effect of
converting or subdividing, in whole or in part, existing securities into restricted
securities, or creating new restricted securities, the information circular must algo
include, as part of the minimum disclosure required, a detailed description of: '\;b

(@) the voting rights attached to the restricted securities that are the %t of
the transaction or that will result from the transaction either directly or_folldving a
conversion, exchange or exercise, and the voting rights, if any, N to the
securities of any other class of securities of the company that are th e or greater
on a per security basis than those attached to the restricted se ies that are the
subject of the transaction or that will result from the transa t?heither directly or
following a conversion, exchange or exercise; é

(b)  the percentage of the aggregate voting rigg; tached to the company's
securities that are represented by the class of restricted Sesurities;

(c) any significant provisions under ap;@ﬁ(gcorporate and securities law, in
particular whether the restricted securities ma ay not be tendered in any takeover
bid for securities of the reporting issuer having wéting rights superior to those attached
to the restricted securities, that do not apfi # the holders of the restricted securities
that are the subject of the transaction'og that will result from the transaction either
directly or following a conversion, exchange or exercise, but do apply to the holders of
another class of equity securities, the extent of any rights provided in the constating
documents or otherwise for the@ion of holders of the restricted securities; and

(d) any rights ur@pplicable corporate law, in the constating documents or
otherwise, of holders of @ fcted securities that are the subject of the transaction either
directly or following gCdfversion, exchange or exercise, to attend, in person or by
proxy, meetings (ﬁ ders of equity securities of the company and to speak at the
meetings to the@ extent that holders of equity securities are entitled.

152 If of restricted securities do not have all of the rights referred to in
section ~the detailed description referred to in section 15.1 must include, in bold-
a statement of the rights the holders do not have.

face?
@ 6 Additional Information

16.1 Disclose that additional information relating to the company is on SEDAR at
www.sedar.com. Disclose how securityholders may contact the company to request
copies of the company's financial statements and MD&A.
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16.2 Include a statement that financial information is provided in the company's
comparative annual financial statements and MD&A for its most recently completed
financial year.

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F5; M.O. 2006-04, s. 42; M.O. 2007-08, s. 8, M.O. 2008-06,
s. 10 and 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 10 and 13; M.O. 2010-17, s. 31; M.O. 2013-01, s. 7. (b

4

’bQ
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FORM 51-102F6 STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION (in respect of
financial years ending before December 31, 2008)

ltem 1 General Provisions

1.1  The purpose of this Form is to provide disclosure of all compensation, whateyer
the source, earned by certain executive officers and directors in connection with X%
or employment by your company or a subsidiary of your company. Wherever thiﬁgm
uses the word "company", the term includes other types of business organizati uch
as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business entities.

The particular requirements in this Form should be interpret ﬁbegard to this
purpose, the definition of "executive officer" in the Regulation, andﬁu a manner that
gives priority to substance over form.

1.2  You should prepare the Form in the prescribed for ﬁ may omit a table or
column of a table if it is not applicable.

1.3  For the purposes of this Form '\

"Chief Executive Officer" or "CEO" me?ﬁach individual who served as chief
executive officer of your company or acted in a ilar capacity during the most recently
completed financial year; '\b‘ .

"Chief Financial Officer" or "CQRO" means each individual who served as chief
financial officer of your company (V,Q d in a similar capacity during the most recently
completed financial year;

"long-term incentiv n" or "LTIP" means a plan providing compensation
intended to motivate p ance over a period greater than one financial year. LTIPs
do not include optio R plans or plans for compensation through shares or units

that are subject to@ ictions on resale;

"mea nt period” means the period beginning at the "measurement point"
which is e jphed by the market close on the last trading day before the beginning of
your cQ 's fifth preceding financial year, through and including the end of your

@Kcorrespond to that time period;
"Named Executive Officers" or "NEOs" means the following individuals:
€) each CEO;

(b) each CFO;
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(c) each of your company's 3 most highly compensated executive officers,
other than the CEO and CFO, who were serving as executive officers at the end of the
most recently completed financial year and whose total salary and bonus exceeds
$150,000; and

(d) any additional individuals for whom disclosure would have been prow’gh(eb
under (c) except that the individual was not serving as an officer of your compath e
end of the most recently completed financial year-end; (1/

"normal retirement age" means normal retirement age as defin @é‘ pension
plan or, if not defined, the earliest time at which a plan participant may,ret{t2 without any
benefit reduction due to age; .\

"options" includes all options, share purchase warrant@yri‘ghts granted by a
company or its subsidiaries as compensation for employ@n services or office. An

extension of an option or replacement grant is a grant gf ew option. Also, options
includes any grants made to a NEO by a third party or n-subsidiary affiliate of your
company in respect of services to your company or Réb)sidiary of your company;

"plan” includes, but is not limited to, any, %gement, whether or not set forth in
any formal document and whether or not applicgéle to only one individual, under which
cash, securities, options, SARs, phantom sP§gck, warrants, convertible securities, shares
or units that are subject to restrictions d?\ esale, performance units and performance
shares, or similar instruments may received or purchased. It excludes the Canada
Pension Plan, similar government and group life, health, hospitalization, medical
reimbursement and relocatio@g that are available generally to all salaried
employees (for example, dogs discriminate in scope, terms or operation in favour of
executive officers or directé

"replacement means the grant of an option or SAR reasonably related to
any prior or poten% ncellation of an option or SAR,;

"reprigi f an option or SAR means the adjustment or amendment of the
exercise q as’e price of a previously awarded option or SAR. Any repricing occurring
through 9 Bperation of a formula or mechanism in, or applicable to, the previously
awar ption or SAR equally affecting all holders of the class of securities underlying
the éion or SAR is excluded; and

e "stock appreciation right" or "SAR" means a right, granted by a company or any
of its subsidiaries as compensation for employment services or office to receive cash or
an issue or transfer of securities based wholly or in part on changes in the trading price
of publicly traded securities.
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If a term is used but not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24) and to
Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this
Form and is defined in both the securities statute of a local jurisdiction and in
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of
Policy Statement to RegulatiOn 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure ObligatioQs
(Decision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12). '\B,)

1.4  In preparing this Form: (I/Q

€) Determination of Most Highly Compensated Executlv éers The
determination of your company's most highly compensated executiv rs is based
on the total annual salary and bonus of each executive officer du nlyour company's
most recently completed financial year.

(b) Change in Status of a NEO During the Ei zﬁaﬂ Year. If the NEO
served in that capacity during any part of a financial for which disclosure is
required, disclose all of his or her compensation for the inancial year.

(c) Exclusion Due to Unusual Co sation or Compensation for
Foreign Assignment. In limited circumstan ou can exclude disclosure of an
individual, other than a CEO or CFO, who is qfe of the 3 most highly compensated
executive officers. Factors to consider in debl(mining to exclude an individual are

(1) a payment or ,a%:rual of an unusually large amount of cash
compensation (such as bonus ? ommission) that is not part of a recurring
arrangement and is unlikely to ue; or

(i) the p@ent of additional amounts of cash compensation for
increased living expens 0 an assignment outside of Canada.

(d) Al ngnsatlon Covered. This Form requires disclosure of all plan
and non-plan cgmp®snsation for each NEO, and each director in accordance with Item

ssly provided, no amount, benefit or right reported as compensation
ar need be reported as compensation for any subsequent fiscal year.

for a finangi
Sources of Compensation. Compensation to officers and directors must
incll% compensation from the company and its subsidiaries. Also, the company must
i e in the appropriate compensation category any compensation paid under an
erstanding, arrangement or agreement existing among
0] any of

(A) the company,
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(B) its subsidiaries, or
(C) an officer or director of the company or its subsidiary, and
(i) another entity,

for the purpose of the entity compensating the officer or directo;\%}
employment services or office. Q

If the company’s executive management is employed or retained by an #ternal
management company (including a subsidiary, affiliate or associate) a tompany
has entered into an understanding, arrangement or agreement of I‘ﬁbklnd for the
provision of executive management services by the external mana ent company to
the company directly or indirectly, the company must disclg y compensation
payable &

(i)  directly by the company to any pe;és)employed or retained by
the external management company who are acting as exeNutive officers and directors of

the company; and
N

(iv) by the external manage Qcompany to such persons that is
attributable to services rendered to the compar%rectly or indirectly.

)

() Compensation FurnisheJ\R‘ Associates. Any compensation to an
associate, under an understanding_&r’ agreement among any of the company, its
subsidiaries or another entity and icer or director of the company or its subsidiary
for the purpose of the compan ?psubsmlary or the other entity compensating the
officer or director for employgeNservices or office, must be included in the appropriate
compensation category. &

(9) AIIoca@_ Compensation — If the company’s executive management
is provided throu xternal management company, and the external management
company has% clients in addition to the company, the company must disclose

either,
O

) the portion of the compensation paid to the officer or director by the
exter anagement company that can be attributed to services rendered to the
comény; or

\e (i) the entire compensation paid by the external management
company to the officer or director.

If the company does allocate the compensation paid to the officer or director, it
should disclose the basis for the allocation.
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Item 2 Summary Compensation Table

2.1 Summary Compensation Table

Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation
Awards Payouts
NEO Year Salary | Bonus | Other Annual | Securities | Shares of | LTIP All O
Name (b) %) ()] Compensation | Under Units Subject | Payouts Compens&)
and (©) (d) %) Options /| to Resale | ($) $)
Principal (e) SARs Restrictions (h) 0] Q
Position Granted ($) (1/
@) #) )
() AR
CEO XXX3 Xe Xl
XXX2 !
XXX1
CFO XXX3

XXX2 \
XXX1

A XXX3 M
XXX2 &

XXX1
B XXX3 (b
XXX2
XXX1 ,\'\
[ XXX3 \ Q)
XXX2 (l/
XXX1
5

1. Complete this table for each qf t% NEOs for your company's 3 most recently
completed financial years. Note the wing:

- Columns (c) and@- include any cash or non-cash base salary and
bonus earned by the NEO. RQr mon-cash compensation, disclose the fair market value
of the compensation at thi#W1e the compensation is earned. Amounts deferred at the
election of a NEO mu tincluded in the financial year in which earned. If the amount
of salary and/or b%%amed in a given financial year is not calculable, that fact must

be disclosed in a f&gtndte and the amount must be disclosed in the subsequent financial
year in the col for the financial year in which earned.

electio a NEO, under a program of your company under which non-cash
com tion may be received in lieu of a portion of annual compensation, need not be
igglu d in the salary or bonus columns. Instead, you may disclose the non-cash

ﬁge&y salary or bonus earned in a covered year that was foregone, at the

ensation in the appropriate column for that year (i.e. columns (f), (g) and (i)). If the

ction was made under a LTIP and therefore is not reportable at the time of grant in

this table, a footnote must be added to the salary or bonus column disclosing this fact
and referring to the table in section 3.1.
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- Commissions can be treated as salary or bonus. You can add a footnote
to the table to indicate that such amounts are paid under a commission arrangement
and disclose details of the arrangement in the compensation committee report (Item 9).

- Column (e) - disclose all other compensation of the NEO that is not
properly categorized as salary or bonus, including (b

@) Perquisites and other personal benefits, securities or prereNy,
unless the aggregate amount of such compensation is less than $50,000 anoﬁm of
the total of the annual salary and bonus of the NEO for the financial year. Gen#rally, a
perquisite is the cost or value of a personal benefit provided to the Mat is not
available to all employees. Examples of things that could be perquisitii

v
- Car lease O®
- Cars &
N

- Corporate aircraft Q

- Car allowance

- Club membership

- Financial assi&ta%; to provide education to children
- Financi@nselling

- P r%%

- X return preparation

&ollowing are not considered perquisites and thus need not be

reported: @
2(} - Contributions to professional dues

Q - Canada Pension Plan or Québec Pension Plan

\e - Dental

- Employee relocation plans available to all employees
- Group life benefits available to all employees

- Long-term benefits available to all employees
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- Medical

Each perquisite or other personal benefit exceeding 25% of the
total perquisites and other personal benefits reported for a NEO must be identified by
type and amount in a footnote to column (e). Perquisites and other personal bene
must be valued on the basis of the aggregate incremental cost to your company a PE

subsidiaries; Q

(b)  The above-market portion of all interest, dividends gl/other
amounts paid concerning securities, options, stock appreciation rights %), loans,
deferred compensation or other obligations issued to a NEO during thg figancial year or

payable during that period but deferred at the election of the NE bove-market or
preferential means a rate greater than the rate ordinarily paid € company or its
subsidiary on securities or other obligations having the same ilar features issued
to third parties. Any above-market portion not reported in c@n e) should be reported

in column (i); &

(© Earnings on LTIP compensation ividend equivalents paid during
the financial year or payable during that period b rred at the election of the NEO;

(d)  Amounts reimbursed during/he financial year for the payment of
taxes; \b‘ﬂ

(e) The difference b,%/een the price paid by a NEO for a security of
your company or its subsidiarie t was purchased from your company or its
subsidiaries and the fair marke % of the security at the time of purchase, unless the
discount was available g , either to all securityholders or to all salaried
employees of your compa@

) quted interest benefits from loans provided to, or debts
incurred on behal he NEO by your company and its subsidiaries as computed in
accordance wit@ ncome Tax Act (R.S.C. 1985, c.1 (5" Suppl.)); and

Qg) The amounts of loan or interest obligations of the NEO to your
compa Qs=subsidiaries or third parties that were serviced or settled by the company
or its |diaries without the substitution of an obligation to repay the amount to the
com@ny or subsidiaries in its place.

e - Column (f) - includes the number of securities under option
(with or without SARs awarded with the options) and, separately, the number of
securities subject to freestanding SARs. The figures in this column for the most recent
fiscal year should equal those reported in the table in section 4.1, column (b). These
figures are not cumulative.
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- If at any time during the most recently completed financial
year your company repriced options or freestanding SARs previously awarded to a
NEO, disclose the repriced options or SARs as new options or SARs grants in
column (f).

- Column (g) - includes the dollar value (net of considerati
paid by the NEO) of any shares or units that are subject to restrictions on rqﬁm
(calculated by multiplying the closing market price of your company's freely
shares on the date of grant by the number of stock or stock units awarded). (1/

- In a footnote to column (g) disclose (bQ 4

- the number and value of the aggregate-hwdings of shares
and units that are subject to restrictions on resale at the en he most recently
completed financial year;

- for any shares or units that @ubject to restrictions on
resale that will vest, in whole or in part, in less than 3 yeXs from the date of grant, the
total number of securities awarded and the vesting 3o\ﬁbiule; and

- whether dividends qg&dend equivalents will be paid on the
shares and units that are subject to restrictions ofresale disclosed in the column.

)
- Column (h) -My&des the dollar value of all payouts under
LTIPs.

- Awar f shares or units that are subject to restrictions on
resale that are subject to rmance-based conditions prior to vesting may be
disclosed as LTIP awardséer the table in section 3.1 instead of under column (g). If
this approach is select ce the share or unit vests, it must be reported as an LTIP

payout in column (h),Q_

If any specified performance target, goal or condition to

payout was regarding any amount included in LTIP payouts, disclose this fact in
a footnoteéiclumn (h).

QO - Column (i) - must include, but is not limited to,
e (@) The amount paid, payable or accrued to a NEO for

(1) the resignation, retirement or other termination
of the NEO's employment with your company or one of its subsidiaries; or
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(i) a change in control of your company or one of
its subsidiaries or a change in the NEO's responsibilities following such a change in
control.

(b) The dollar value of the above-market portion of all
interest, dividends or other amounts earned during the financial year, or calculated wj
respect to that period, excluding amounts that are paid during that period, or pa é%
during that period at the election of the NEO that were reported as other Qn al
compensation in column (e). See the description for column (e), point (h’)l/ an
explanation of the above market portion.

)
(c) The dollar value of amounts af@d on LTIP
compensation during the financial year, or calculated with respect-&ithat period, and
dividend equivalents earned during that period except that amo paid during that
period, or payable during that period at the election of the ust be reported as
other annual compensation in column (e).

(d)  Annual contributions's& other allocations by the
company or its subsidiaries to vested and unves defined contribution plans or
employee savings plans. These benefits are ng &xmdered to be perquisites due to
their all-inclusive nature. ‘-1/6

(e)  The dollafN¢alue of any insurance premium paid by, or
on behalf of, your company or its subsidWles during the financial year with respect to
term life insurance for the bene.u%of a NEO. If there is an arrangement or
understanding, whether formal or @ al, that the NEO has received or will receive or
be allocated an interest in any ca urrender value under the insurance policy, either

(1) the full dollar value of the remainder of the
premiums paid by, or o If of, the company or its subsidiaries; or

gd (i) if the premiums will be refunded to the
company or its gubswdiaries on termination of the policy, the dollar value of the benefit to
the NEO of gﬂwainder of the premium paid by, or on behalf of, the company or its
subsidiari ing the financial year. This benefit must be determined for the period,
project@ﬁan actuarial basis, between payment of premium and the refund.

% () If the NEO's compensation takes the form of a
ribution to assist in the NEO's purchase of shares, the amount of the contribution,

ess the contribution was available generally, either to all securityholders or to all
salaried employees of the company.

- The same method of reporting under this paragraph must be
used for each NEO. If your company changes methods of reporting from one year to the
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next, that fact and the reason for the change must be disclosed in a footnote to
column (i).

- The following need not be reported in column (i):

0] LTIP awards and amounts received on exercise Qf
options and SARs; and ,\(?)

(i) information on defined benefit and actuarial M@

2. The $150,000 threshold only applies to the most recent fiscal yea;'B@e’termining
the NEOs.

3. If, during any of the financial years covered by the table, r company or its
subsidiaries did not employ a NEO for the entire financial year,¢g| se this fact and the

number of months the NEO was so employed during the ye@n footnote to the table.

4. If during any of the financial years covere y the table, a NEO was
compensated by a non-subsidiary affiliate of your ch:)any, disclose in a note to the

table
Q

(@) the amount and nature of such Co‘r:lﬂensation; and

)
(b)  whether the compensation N?gluded in the compensation reported in the
table.

5. Information with respeg& financial year-end prior to the most recently
completed financial year-engn not be provided if your company was not a reporting
issuer at any time during s rior financial year.

Item 3 LTIP AQLQTabIe

3.1 LTIP Awardsyin Most Recently Completed Financial Year

7~

Estimated Eygg)Payouts Under

Non-Sec Price-Based Plans

NEO @?\e Securities, Units | Performance or | Threshold Target Manimum
(@ or Other Rights Other Period | ($ or #) ($or#) (Sor#)

# Until  Maturation | (d) (e) 4)

é (b) or Payout
N\ (©

CEO

CFO

A

B

C
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1. Complete this table for each LTIP award made to the NEOs during the most
recently completed financial year. Note the following:

- Column (b) - Include the number of securities, units or other rights
awarded under any LTIP and, if applicable, the number of securities underlying any
such unit or right.

the estimated payout or range estimated payouts under the award (threshold, t and

- Columns (d) to (f) - For plans not based on stock price, the doIIarﬂ&'}of
maximum amount), whether such award is denominated in stock or cash.

)
- Threshold is the minimum amount payable for a c&ﬁiin level of
performance under the plan. .\

- Target is the amount payable if the specified @gr‘nance target(s) is
reached. You should provide a representative amount basdo the previous financial

year's performance if the target award is not determinabl

- Maximum is the maximum payout pos;i\ﬁbunder the plan.
2. Describe in a footnote to the table, the p@ial terms of any award, including a
general description of the formula or criterial/applied in determining the amounts

payable. You are not required to disclose Wwﬁdential information that would adversely
affect your company's competitive positioh\

under an LTIP, need be reportedMy in the table applicable to the other instrument.

ltem 4 Options and@ﬂs

4.1  Option/SAR Q@During The Most Recently Completed Financial Year
pa

3. A grant of 2 instrumen@junction with each other, only one of which is

é

NEO Name | Seguriti®s, | % of Total | Exercice of Base | Market Value of | Expiration
@ r Options /| Price Securities Date

Op§dns /| SARs Granted | ($/Security) Underlying Options / | (f)

Q_ S to Employees | (d) SARs on the Date of
Granted in Financial Grant
O #) Year ($/Security)
Q (b) (©) (e)

go\
B
C
1. Complete this table for individual grants of options to purchase or acquire

securities of your company or any of its subsidiaries (whether or not in conjunction with
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SARs) and freestanding SARs made during the most recently completed financial year
to each of NEO. Note the following:

- The information must be presented for each NEO in groups according to
each issuer and class or series of security underlying the options or SARs granted and
within these groups in reverse chronological order. For each grant, disclose in
footnote the issuer and the class or series of securities underlying the optlon&%
freestanding SARs granted. Q

- If more than one grant of options or freestanding SARs was ma¥e to a
NEO during the most recently completed financial year, a separate row & used to
provide the particulars of each grant. However, multiple grants during, a’ QUgle financial
year to a NEO can be aggregated if each grant was made on th&ame terms (eg.
exercise price, expiration date and vesting thresholds, if any).

- A single grant of options or freestanding §must be reported as
separate grants for each tranche with a different exerC| se price, expiration date
or performance-vesting threshold.

exercisability, the number of SARs, dividend alents, performance units or other
instruments granted in conjunction with optiog8, a performance-based condition to
exercisability, a re-load feature or a tax-rev@slrsement feature must be disclosed in a
footnote to the table.

- Each material term of the grant, isiﬁﬁng but not limited to the date of

- Options or freestand??.gARs granted in an option repricing transaction
must be disclosed.

- If the exerci
freestanding SAR in a
footnote to the table,

base price is adjustable over the term of an option or
nce with a prescribed standard or formula, include in a
Cription of the standard or formula.

grovision of an option or SAR (other than an anti-dilution provision)
could cause @ermse or base price to be lowered, a description of the provision and
its potenté equences must be included in a footnote to the table.

In determining the grant date market value of the securities underlying

Optl% or freestanding SARS, use either the closing market price or any other formula

bed under the option or SAR plan. For options or SARs granted prior to the

Ilshment of a trading market in the underlying securities, the initial offering price
may be used.

4.2 Aggregated Option/SAR Exercises During The Most Recently Completed
Financial Year And Financial Year-End Option/SAR Values
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NEO Name | Securities, Aggregate Value | Unexercised Value of Unexercised
@ Acquired on | Realized Options / SARs at | in-the-Money Options /
Exercice (3) | ($) FY-End SARs at FY-End
(b) (€) #) (%)
Exercisable /| Exercisable /
Unexercisable Unexercisable
(d) (e)
CEO R ”')
CFO NS
A \D
B ‘
C
1. Complete this table for each exercise of options (or SARS W(;Ried with the

options) and freestanding SARs during the most recently compl
each NEO and the financial year-end value of unexercised o

aggregated basis. Note the following:

Column (c) - the aggregate dollar value re

value is equal to column (b) times the difference

and the exercise or base price of the options or

securities underlying the options or SARs at exerci?%

Column (d) - the total number, of
and SARs held at the end of the most,r
identifying the exercisable and unextis%le

é‘*

é'dttlnanmal year by

and SARS, on an

upon exercise. The dollar

n the market value of the
inancial year-end, respectively,

qurities underlying unexercised options
Atly completed financial year, separately
options and SARs.

Column (e) - the gate dollar value of in-the-money, unexercised
options and SARs held at t of the financial year, separately identifying the

exercisable and unexercisalle ®ptions and SARs. The dollar value is calculated the

same way as in column
year-end if the market
exercise or base pri

C@n and SAR Repricings

ltem 5

5.1 Ta@ Option and SAR Repricings

tions or freestanding SARs are in-the-money at financial
ue of the underlying securities on that date exceeds the
e option or SAR.

N\
NE @te of | Securities Market Exercise Price | New  Exercise | Length of Original
Na& Repricing | Uner Price of | at Time of | Price Option Term
(b) Options /| Securities Repricing  or | ($/Security) (f) Remaining at Date
AN SARS at Time of | Amendment of Repricing or
N Repriced Repricing or | ($/Security) Amendment
or Amendment | (e) (9)
Amended ($/Security)
#) (©) (d)
CEO
CFO
A
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B

C

1. Complete this table if at any time during the most recently completed financial
year, your company has repriced downward any options or freestanding SARs held by
any NEO.

2. State the following information for all downward repricings of options oré’N%s
held by any NEO during the shorter of (1/

(@) the 10 year period ending on the date of this Form; and Q )
(b) the period during which your company has been a rep ing issuer.

3. Information about a replacement grant made during thgq ncial year must be
disclosed even if the corresponding original grant was can in a prior year. If the
replacement grant is not made at the current market va escribe this fact and the
terms of the grant in a footnote to the table.

4. The information must be presented in groupg(g:cording to issuer and class or
series of security underlying options or SA d within these groups in reverse
chronological order.

)
5. In a narrative immediately before baﬁter this table, explain in reasonable detall
the basis for all downward repricings ring the most recently completed financial year
of options and SARs held by any o EOs.

ltem 6 Defined Beneﬂt@ tuarial Plan Disclosure

6.1 Pension Plan T
,:@s

Remuneration Q@s of Service
15

(%) . 20 25 30 35

125,000 $/.
150,000 C Y

175,000 AN

200 ooo,\\("
250,000 )

E

}fhsert additional rows as appropriate for additional increments]

1. Complete this table for defined benefit or actuarial plans under which benefits are
determined primarily by final compensation (or average final compensation) and years
of service. The estimated annual benefits payable upon retirement (including amounts
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attributable to any defined benefit supplementary or excess pension awards plan) for
the specified compensation and years of service should be disclosed .

2. Immediately following the table disclose

(@) the compensation covered by the plan(s), including the relationship of the
covered compensation to the compensation reported in the table in section 2.1; '\

(b)  the current compensation covered by the plan for any NEO w otal
compensation differs substantially (by more than 10%) from that set out |n th able in

section 2.1; (b

(© a statement as to the basis upon which benefits computed (for
example; straight-life annuity amounts), and whether or not efits listed in the
table are subject to any deduction for social security or othe@& amounts such as
Canada Pension Plan or Québec Pension Plan amounts; a

(d)  the estimated credited years of service for'e h NEO.

3. Compensation disclosed in the table mlﬁ‘w ow for reasonable increases in
existing compensation levels or, alternatel u may present, as the highest
compensation level in the table, an amount eq¥él to 120% of the amount of covered
compensation of the most highly compensabg»of the NEOs.

4. For defined benefit or actua,ﬂ% plans which are not reported in the table in
section 6.1 because the benefits a%,n t determined primarily by final compensation (or
average final compensation) or of service, state in narrative form

(@) the formula b@hich benefits are determined; and

(b) the esy d annual benefits payable upon retirement at normal
retirement age for of the NEOs.
Item 7 ination of Employment, Change in Responsibilities and
Employm ntracts

foII

(@) any employment contract between your company or its subsidiaries and a
NEO; and

g contracts or arrangements which are in existence at the end of the most

cribe the terms and conditions, including dollar amounts, of each of the
;:y completed financial year:
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(b) any compensatory plan, contract or arrangement, where a NEO is entitled
to receive more than $100,000 from the issuer or its subsidiaries, including periodic
payments or instalments, in the event of

(1) the resignation, retirement or any other termination of the NEO's
employment with your company and its subsidiaries; (b

(i) a change of control of your company or any of its subsidiarie@r

(i)  achange in the NEO's responsibilities following a char& iﬂ&)ntrol.
)

7.2 A cross reference to disclosure already made of any payme s,(bstalments or
contributions to defined benefit pension plans under Items 2 or 6 is itted.

Item 8 Composition of the Compensation Committe@E

8.1 If any compensation is reported in Items 2 to 6 f @most recently completed
financial year, under the caption "Composition of t&Compensation Committee”,
identify each member of your company's compe %on committee (or other board
committee performing equivalent functions orin t &asence of any such committee, the
entire board of directors) during the most rg@ly completed financial year. Also,
indicate each committee member who

)
(@ was, during the most recéq?; completed financial year, an officer or
employee of your company or any of_j,&subsidiaries;

(b)  was formerly an off of your company or any of its subsidiaries;
(c) had or has ﬁsrelaﬁonship that requires disclosure by your company
under Form 51-102F5 ation Circular, Item 10 "Indebtedness of Directors and

Executive Officers" 11 "Interest of Informed Persons in Material Transactions";

d w a?executive officer of your company and also served as a director or
dii

member of ompensation committee (or other board committee performing
equivalent ons or, in the absence of any such committee, the entire board of
director nother issuer, one of whose executive officers served either

Q 0] on the compensation committee (or other board committee
%orming equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the entire
\Q rd of directors) of the issuer; or

(i) as a director of the issuer.

8.2 If the composition of the compensation committee changed during the year or
before the report in Item 9 "Report on Executive Compensation” is prepared, then
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disclose the change in membership as well as any of the relationships described in
section 8.1, if any.

Item 9 Report on Executive Compensation

9.1 If any compensation is reported in Items 2 to 6 for the most recently completgd
financial year, describe under the caption "Report on Executive Compensatlon ffb
policies of the compensation committee or other board committee performing eqy nt
functions, or in the absence of any such committee then of the entire board of tors
of your company, during the most recently completed financial year, for_dete¥mining
compensation of executive officers. Boilerplate language should be avoi%) 4

9.2  This report should include a discussion of ~\

(@) the relative emphasis of your company on cas%gp‘ensation, options,
SARSs, securities purchase programs, shares or units that @: ject to restrictions on

resale and other incentive plans, and annual versus long- ompensation;

(b)  whether the amount and terms of out |ng options, SARs, shares and
units subject to restrictions on resale were tiﬁ Into account when determining
whether and how many new option grants wou ade;

(© the specific relationship of PWux company's performance to executive
compensation, and, in particular, deM Ing each measure of your company's
performance, whether quantitative ogdualitative, on which executive compensation was
based and the weight assigned to W easure, e.g. percentage ranges; and

(d)  the waiver or ment of the relevant performance criteria and the
bases for the decision if a rd was made to a NEO under a performance-based plan
despite failure to mee relevant performance criteria. For example, you should
explain how bonuse arned and why they were awarded this period, if applicable.

9.3 The Qshould state the following information about each CEO's

compensatlob

he bases for the CEO's compensation for the most recently completed
finangi ear, including the factors and criteria upon which the CEO's compensation
Was%sed and the relative weight assigned to each factor;

(b)  the competitive rates, if compensation of the CEO was based on
assessments of competitive rates, with whom the comparison was made, the nature of,
and the basis for, selecting the group with which the comparison was made and at what
level in the group the compensation was placed. Disclose if different competitive
standards were used for different components of the CEO's compensation; and
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(© the relationship of your company's performance to the CEO's
compensation for the most recently completed financial year, describing each measure
of your company's performance, whether quantitative or qualitative, on which the CEO's
compensation was based and the weight assigned to each measure, for example,
percentage ranges.

9.4 Name each member of your company's compensation committee (or other b gb
committee performing equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such cong:gt&e,
the entire board of directors). If the board of directors modified or reject any
material way any action or recommendation by the committee with respect_to d&cisions
in the most recently completed financial year, the report should indicate t 'Qd, explain
the reasons for the board's action and include the names of all of E bers of the
board.

9.5 If a compensation committee member dissents conc@st‘he content of the
report, the report must identify the dissenting member and ike Neasons provided to the
committee for the dissent. &

9.6 Disclosure of target levels with respect to Sbf?cific quantitative or qualitative
performance-related factors considered by the c ittee (or board), or any factors or
criteria involving confidential information is not ed.

9.7 If compensation of executive off\gexs is determined by different board
committees, a joint report may be prég nted indicating the separate committee's
responsibilities and members of eaghQicommittee or alternatively separate reports may
be prepared for each committee. v

Item 10 Performance ér
10.1 If any compensa@ reported in response to Items 2 to 6 for the most recently
completed financial 7 immediately after Item 9, provide a line graph called
"Performance Gragf), Somparing

@) @)@yearly percentage change in your company's cumulative total
r

sharehold n on each class or series of equity securities that are publicly traded,
as mea in accordance with section 10.2, with
( the cumulative total return of a broad equity market index assuming

%/estment of dividends, that includes issuers whose securities are traded on the
e exchange or are of comparable market capitalization, provided that, if your
company is within the S&P/TSX Composite Index, you must use the total return index
value of the S&P/TSX Composite Index.

10.2 The yearly percentage change in your company's cumulative total shareholder
return on a class or series of securities must be measured by dividing
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(@  the sum of

0] the cumulative amount of dividends for the measurement period,
assuming dividend reinvestment, and

(i) the difference between the price for the securities of the cla@
series at the end and the beginning of the measurement period, by Q

(b)  the price for the securities of the class or series at the be inni%of the
measurement period. (;Q )

At the measurement point, which is the beginning of the me.lgurement period,
the closing price must be converted into a fixed investment of $ ¥ your company's
securities (or in the securities represented by a given index), Wg mulative returns for
each subsequent financial year measured as a change fron@a investment.

10.3 In preparing the required graphic comparisons, &

@) use, to the extent feasible, comp@ﬂe methods of presentation and
assumptions for the total return calculations, d that, if your company constructs
its own peer group index under section 10.5(b), ¥fe same methodology must be used in
calculating both your company's total returrwml that of the peer group index;

(b) assume the reinvestm,ekwof dividends into additional securities of the
same class or series at the frequw ith which dividends are paid on the securities
during the applicable financial ye&g\and

(© each financi@ar should be plotted with points showing the cumulative
total return as of that p The value of the investment as of each point plotted on a
given return line is t@_ ber of securities held at that point multiplied by the then-
prevailing security gpce.

10.4 You esent information for your company's last 5 most recently completed
financial yg and may choose to graph a longer period but the $100 measurement
point repy &S the same. A period shorter than 5 years may be used if the class or series
of se pS forming the basis for the comparison has been publicly traded for a shorter
tim rod.

.5 You also may elect to include in the graph a line charting the cumulative total
return, assuming reinvestment of dividends, of

(@) a published industry or line-of-business index which is any index that is
prepared by a party other than your company or its affiliate and is accessible to your
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company's securityholders, provided that, you may use an index prepared by your
company or its affiliate if such index is widely recognized and used;

(b) peer issuer(s) selected in good faith. If you do not select your company's
peer issuers on an industry or line-of-business basis, you must disclose the basis for

your selection; or (b
D3

(c) issuer(s) with similar market capitalization(s), but only if you do nogs
published industry or line-of-business index and do not believe you can reﬁE/ ably
identify a peer group. If you use this alternative, the graph must be accompani¥d by a
statement of the reasons for this selection. (bd 4

10.6 If you use peer issuer comparisons or comparisons with ieAgers with similar
market capitalizations, the identity of those issuers must be discl nd the returns of
each component issuer of the group must be weighted ac to the respective
issuer's market capitalization at the beginning of each [@'o for which a return is

indicated. &

10.7 Any election to use an additional index undeﬁion 10.5 is considered to apply
a

in respect of all subsequent financial years un andoned by your company in
accordance with this section. To abandon theg , your company must have, in the
information circular or AIF for the financial year igfnediately preceding the most recently

completed financial year '\b‘ .
(@) stated its intention to aQandon the index;
(b) explained the rea@&or this change; and

(© compared ya@ompany's total return with that of the elected additional
index.

10.8 You may i %comparisons using performance measures in addition to total
return, such ag retwrn on average common shareholders' equity, so long as your
company's cgsdggnhsation committee (or other board committee performing equivalent
functions QI\J/ the absence of any such committee the entire board of directors)
describeg = link between that measure and the level of executive compensation in the
@» ired by Item 9.

repc%
@ 1 Compensation of Directors

11.1 Disclose the following under the "Compensation of Directors" heading:

(@) any standard compensation arrangements, stating amounts, earned by
directors of your company for their services as directors from your company and its
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subsidiaries during the most recently completed financial year, including any additional
amounts payable for committee participation or special assignments;

(b)  any other arrangements, stating the amounts paid and the name of the
director, under which directors were compensated for their services as directors from
your company and its subsidiaries during the most recently completed financial ye‘ag
and

N
(© any other arrangements, stating the amounts paid and the na g the
director, under which directors of your company were compensated for_serWCes as
consultants or experts, by your company and its subsidiaries during th @st recently
completed financial year. ?b

11.2 If information required by section 11.1 is provided in resp r?ﬁo another item of
this Form, a cross-reference to where the information is provid isfies section 11.1.

Item 12 Unincorporated Issuers &O

12.1 Unincorporated issuers must report '\fb

(@) a description of and amount of p@or other compensation paid by the
issuer to individuals acting as directors or trustg€s of the issuer for the most recently
completed financial year; and \b‘ﬂ

(b) a description of and arm%nt of expenses reimbursed by the issuer to such
individuals as directors or trusteesw g the most recently completed financial year.

12.2 The information requj e$ this Item may be disclosed in the issuer's annual
financial statements insteaé

Item 13 VenturQQers
13.1 A ventur isger may omit the disclosure required by Items 5, 6, 8, 9 and 10. A
venture issu t, in a narrative that accompanies the table required in section 4.1,
disclose w, 'é};rants of options or SARs result from repricing and explain in reasonable
detail thé is for the repricing.
ItenQ4 Issuers Reporting in the United States

.1 Except as provided in section 14.2, SEC issuers may satisfy the requirements of

this Form by providing the information required by Item 402 "Executive Compensation”
of Regulation S-K under the 1934 Act.
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14.2 Section 14.1 is not available to an issuer that, as a foreign private issuer,
satisfies Item 402 of Regulation S-K by providing the information required by Iltems 6.B
"Compensation" and 6.E.2 "Share Ownership" of Form 20-F under the 1934 Act.

M.O. 2005-03, Form 51-102F6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 43; M.O. 2008-18, s. 11 and 13.
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FORM 51-102F6 STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION (in respect of
financial years ending on or after December 31, 2008)

ITEM 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

1.1 Objective

D

All direct and indirect compensation provided to certain executive offic d
directors for, or in connection with, services they have provided to the comnﬁ@or a
subsidiary of the company must be disclosed in this form.

The objective of this disclosure is to communicate the nsatlon the
company paid, made payable, awarded, granted, gave or otherwwsc‘irowded to each
NEO and director for the financial year, and the decision-mak] ocess relating to
compensation. This disclosure will provide insight into executi pensation as a key
aspect of the overall stewardship and governance of mpany and will help
investors understand how decisions about executive com @tion are made.

A company’s executive compensation disclo nder this form must satisfy this
objective and subsections 9.3.1(1) or 11.6(1) of t gulation.

1.2 Definitions (l/

)
If a term is used in this form 'N?‘is not defined in this section, refer to
subsection 1.1(1) of the Regulation_hr to Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions
(chapter V-1.1, r. 3).

In this form, @

"CEQ" means a idual who acted as chief executive officer of the company,
or acted in a similar y, for any part of the most recently completed financial

year; Q

"CFO; s an individual who acted as chief financial officer of the company,
or acted i iphilar capacity, for any part of the most recently completed financial year;

sing market price" means the price at which the company’s security was last
sold\@n the applicable date,

\e €)) in the security’s principal marketplace in Canada, or

(b) if the security is not listed or quoted on a marketplace in Canada, in the
security’s principal marketplace;
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"company" includes other types of business organizations such as partnerships,
trusts and other unincorporated business entities;

"equity incentive plan” means an incentive plan, or portion of an incentive plan,
under which awards are granted and that falls within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment;

"external management company" includes a subsidiary, affiliate or assode\of
the external management company; (1/

"grant date" means a date determined for financial statement rep @‘purposes
under IFRS 2 Share-based Payment; ?5

“incentive plan” means any plan providing compensaji hat depends on
achieving certain performance goals, or similar conditions withi ecified period;

"Incentive plan award" means compensation aw% earned, paid, or payable
under an incentive plan;

"NEQ" or "named executive officer" mean565‘oh of the following individuals:

@) a CEQ; (l/
ol

(c) each of the 3 most hi ~Kompensated executive officers of the company,
including any of its subsidiarie he 3 most highly compensated individuals acting in
a similar capacity, other than CEO and CFO, at the end of the most recently
completed financial year@ose total compensation was, individually, more than
$150,000, as determine®1 accordance with subsection 1.3(6), for that financial year;

and Q_

(d) e;h Individual who would be an NEO under paragraph (c) but for the fact

(b) aCFO;

that the indiy as neither an executive officer of the company or its subsidiaries,
nor acting ? imilar capacity, at the end of that financial year;

-equity incentive plan" means an incentive plan or portion of an incentive
pIarQat iS not an equity incentive plan;

e "option-based award" means an award under an equity incentive plan of options,

including, for greater certainty, share options, share appreciation rights, and similar
instruments that have option-like features;
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"plan” includes any plan, contract, authorization, or arrangement, whether or not
set out in any formal document, where cash, securities, similar instruments or any other
property may be received, whether for one or more persons;

"replacement grant” means an option that a reasonable person would consider to
be granted in relation to a prior or potential cancellation of an option; (b

“repricing” means, in relation to an option, adjusting or amending the exe r
base price of the option, but excludes any adjustment or amendment that equ ects
all holders of the class of securities underlying the option and occurs ta%h the
operation of a formula or mechanism in, or applicable to, the option; (.b

"share-based award" means an award under an equity incend‘e plan of equity-
based instruments that do not have option-like features, including, greater certainty,
common shares, restricted shares, restricted share units, defe are units, phantom
shares, phantom share units, common share equivalent uni@n stock.

1.3 Preparing the form &

N

(1) All compensation to be included Q

(@  When completing this form, the &pany must disclose all compensation
paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, orf§therwise provided, directly or indirectly, by
the company, or a subsidiary of the pany, to each NEO and director, in any
capacity, including, for greater certaigfy, all plan and non-plan compensation, direct and
indirect pay, remuneration, eco iC or financial award, reward, benefit, gift or
perquisite paid, payable award&nted, given, or otherwise provided to the NEO or
director for services provideamgYor services to be provided, directly or indirectly, to the
company or a subsidiary o@company.

(b) Despit%@;raph (@), in respect of the Canada Pension Plan, similar
government plans group life, health, hospitalization, medical reimbursement and

relocation plangsthaddo not discriminate in scope, terms or operation and are generally

available to laried employees, the company is not required to disclose as
compensﬁ)

Q 0] any contributions or premiums paid or payable by the company on
behQ a

n NEO, or of a director, under these plans, and

e (i) any cash, securities, similar instruments or any other property
received by an NEO, or by a director, under these plans.

(c) For greater certainty, the plans described in paragraph (b) include plans
that provide for such benefits after retirement.
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(d) If an item of compensation is not specifically mentioned or described in
this form, it is to be disclosed in column (h) ("All other compensation™) of the summary
compensation table in section 3.1.

(2) Departures from format

(@)  Although the required disclosure must be made in accordance with,t\ﬁb
form, the disclosure may Q

0] omit a table, column of a table, or other prescribed informgkn, if it
does not apply, and (bQ 4

(i) add a table, column, or other information if 4

(A)  necessary to satisfy the objective ir@ 1.1, and

(B) to a reasonable person, ble, column, or other
information does not detract from the prescnbed ormation in the summary
compensation table in section 3.1. '\

(b) Despite paragraph (a), a companr&t not add a column in the summary
compensation table in section 3.1.
b‘ .

3) Information for full financial ye

If an NEO acted in that cap or the company during part of the financial year
for which disclosure is requwe% summary compensation table, provide details of
all of the compensation that O received from the company for that financial year.
This includes compensati&e NEO earned in any other position with the company
during the financial yearo

Do not annﬂ compensation in a table for any part of a year when an NEO
was not in the% of the company. Annualized compensation may be disclosed in a
footnote.

O

(4) al management companies

(a If one or more individuals acting as an NEO of the company are not
loyees of the company, disclose the names of those individuals.

\ (b) If an external management company employs or retains one or more
individuals acting as NEOs or directors of the company and the company has entered
into an understanding, arrangement or agreement with the external management
company to provide executive management services to the company directly or
indirectly, disclose any compensation that:
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0] the company paid directly to an individual employed, or retained by
the external management company, who is acting as an NEO or director of the
company;

and

(i) the external management company paid to the individual@{}‘is
attributable to the services they provided to the company directly or indirectly.

(c) If an external management company provides the comp Bxecutive
management services and also provides executive management serv to another
company, disclose the entire compensation the external managemescompany paid to
the individual acting as an NEO or director, or acting in a similar ity, in connection
with services the external management company provided e company, or the
parent or a subsidiary of the company. If the manage t ¥Xompany allocates the
compensation paid to an NEO or director, disclose the,{ or methodology used to
allocate this compensation. ('b

N

Commentary Q

An NEO may be employed by an exterrfl management company and provide
services to the company under an under ing, arrangement or agreement. In this
case, references in this form to the CEC"Q CFO are references to the individuals who
performed similar functions to that gf{the CEO or CFO. They are generally the same
individuals who signed and file?a ual and interim certificates to comply with
Regulation 52-109 respecting C cation of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim
Filings (chapter V-1.1, r. 27).

(5) Director and NE@pensaﬁon

Disclose a gﬁpensation awarded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to each
director and NO,Nn any capacity with respect to the company. Compensation to
directors an&) s must include all compensation from the company and its

subsidiarié
@cose any compensation awarded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to, an
NE(glor director, in any capacity with respect to the company, by another person or

@p ny.
k) Determining if an individual is an NEO

For the purpose of calculating total compensation awarded to, earned by, paid to,
or payable to an individual under paragraph (c) of the definition of NEO,
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(@) use the total compensation that would be reported under column (i) of the
summary compensation table required by section 3.1 for each executive officer, as if
that executive officer were an NEO for the company’s most recently completed financial
year, and

(b)  exclude from the calculation,

0] any compensation that would be reported under column (g@ﬁe
summary compensation table required by section 3.1, (1/

(i) any incremental payments, payables, and benefits %éxecutive
officer that are triggered by, or result from, a scenario listed in section,6.1_hat occurred
during the most recently completed financial year, and l

(i)  any cash compensation that relates to fogg] Eassignments that is
specifically intended to offset the impact of a higher cost of Jign® in the foreign location,
and is not otherwise related to the duties the exec officer performs for the

company.
N

Commentary Q

The $150,000 threshold in paragraph (cpof the definition of NEO only applies
when determining who is an NEO in a c@ypany’s most recently completed financial
year. If an individual is an NEO in the mcb\ ecently completed financial year, disclosure
of compensation in prior years mustRe provided if otherwise required by this form even
if total compensation in a prior yeav.l ss than $150,000 in that year.

(7 Compensation to asgoo\tes
Disclose any aw Y earnings, payments, or payables to an associate of an

NEO, or of a directo@. result of compensation awarded to, earned by, paid to, or
payable to the NE he director, in any capacity with respect to the company.

(8) New rcﬁﬂng issuers
isclose information in the summary compensation table for the 3 most
rece& mpleted financial years since the company became a reporting issuer.
(b) Despite paragraph (a), do not provide information for a completed financial
r if the company was not a reporting issuer for any part of that financial year, unless
the company became a reporting issuer as a result of a restructuring transaction.
(c) If the company was not a reporting issuer at any time during the most

recently completed financial year and the company is completing the form because it is
preparing a prospectus, discuss all significant elements of the compensation to be
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awarded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to NEOs of the company once it becomes a
reporting issuer, to the extent this compensation has been determined.

Commentary

1. Unless otherwise specified, information required to be disclosed under this fo
may be prepared in accordance with the accounting principles the company us
prepare its financial statements, as permitted by Regulation 52-107 reS@t g
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25

2. The definition of "director” under securities legislation includes a '@/Tdual who
acts in a capacity similar to that of a director. ! I}B

(9)  Currencies ?~

Companies must report amounts required by this fo Qanadian dollars or in
the same currency that the company uses for its financi ments. A company must
use the same currency in the tables in sections 3.1, 471N4.2, 5.1, 5.2 and 7.1 of this

form. '\fb

If compensation awarded to, earned by % to, or payable to an NEO was in a
currency other than the currency reported in the fgfescribed tables of this form, state the
currency in which compensation was awaygd, earned, paid, or payable, disclose the
currency exchange rate and describé\the methodology used to translate the
compensation into Canadian dollaﬁk)r the currency that the company uses in its
financial statements.

(10) Plain language @
Information r%&e disclosed under this form must be clear, concise, and
of,

presented in such that it provides a reasonable person, applying reasonable
effort, an understag@i

(@) C)%decisions about NEO and director compensation are made; and

ow specific NEO and director compensation relates to the overall
stev& Ip and governance of the company.

@umentary
A\

Refer to the plain language principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations
(Decision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12) for further guidance.
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ITEM 2 COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
2.1 Compensation discussion and analysis

(2) Describe and explain all significant elements of compensation awarded to,
earned by, paid to, or payable to NEOs for the most recently completed financial yegy.
Include the following: '\%

(@) the objectives of any compensation program or strategy; (I/Q
(b)  what the compensation program is designed to reward, (bQ 4

(© each element of compensation; 4

(d)  why the company chooses to pay each element; @v

(e) how the company determines the amouK , Where applicable, the
formula) for each element; and

() how each element of compensatiogﬁg)the company’s decisions about
that element fit into the company’s overall com tion objectives and affect decisions
about other elements.

)
(2) If applicable, describe any new m?o‘ns, decisions or policies that were made
after the end of the most recen%completed financial year that could affect a
reasonable person’s understandi an NEO’s compensation for the most recently
completed financial year. n?o,

3) If applicable, clearl e the benchmark and explain its components, including
the companies included benchmark group and the selection criteria.

4) If applicabl@ose performance goals or similar conditions that are based on
objective, identjiab®e measures, such as the company’s share price or earnings per
share. If pe ce goals or similar conditions are subjective, the company may
describe t @formance goal or similar condition without providing specific measures.

@e company discloses performance goals or similar conditions that are non-
GA Inancial measures, explain how the company calculates these performance
@s or similar conditions from its financial statements.

Exemption

The company is not required to disclose performance goals or similar conditions
in respect of specific quantitative or qualitative performance-related factors if a

190



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM MAY 14, 2013 TO MAY 30, 2013

reasonable person would consider that disclosing them would seriously prejudice the
company’s interests.

For the purposes of this exemption, a company’s interest’s are not considered to
be seriously prejudiced solely by disclosing performance goals or similar conditions if
those goals or conditions are based on broad corporate-level financial performange
metrics which include earnings per share, revenue growth, and earnings before inte&
taxes, depreciation and amortization. Q

This exemption does not apply if it has publicly disclosed the performan(r]égoals
or similar conditions. (b 4

If the company is relying on this exemption, state this faeb‘@nd explain why
disclosing the performance goals or similar conditions would e?usly prejudice the
company’s interests. é

If the company does not disclose specific ance goals or similar
conditions, state what percentage of the NEO’s tota&ompensation relates to this
undisclosed information and how difficult it could b ﬁjhe NEO, or how likely it will be
for the company, to achieve the undisclosed perf@)ace goal or similar condition.

(5) Disclose whether or not the board of ‘dléctors, or a committee of the board,
considered the implications of the risks af§p@iated with the company’s compensation
policies and practices. If the implications'w re considered, disclose the following:

(@) the extent and natur he board of directors’ or committee’ role in the
risk oversight of the company’s_c ensation policies and practices;

(b) any practice company uses to identify and mitigate compensation

policies and practices t uld encourage an NEO or individual at a principal business
unit or division to tak ropriate or excessive risks;

(c) any iasntified risks arising from the company’s compensation policies and
practices tha %easonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the company.

D'QGSe whether or not an NEO or director is permitted to purchase financial
@ s, including, for greater certainty, prepaid variable forward contracts, equity
collars, or units of exchange funds, that are designed to hedge or offset a
@e se in market value of equity securities granted as compensation or held, directly
‘Q indirectly, by the NEO or director.

Commentary

1. The information disclosed under section 2.1 will depend on the facts. Provide
enough analysis to allow a reasonable person, applying reasonable effort, to
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understand the disclosure elsewhere in this form. Describe the significant principles
underlying policies and explain the decisions relating to compensation provided to an
NEO. Disclosure that merely describes the process for determining compensation or
compensation already awarded, earned, paid, or payable is not adequate. The
information contained in this section should give readers a sense of how compensation
is tied to the NEO’s performance. Avoid boilerplate language.

2. If the company’s process for determining executive compensation is very @'ﬁe
for example, the company relies solely on board discussion without arﬂl/ mal
objectives, criteria and analysis, then make this clear in the discussion.

)
3. If the company used any benchmarking in determining co e(rbation or any
element of compensation, include the benchmark group and scribe why the
benchmark group and selection criteria are considered by the co&?ﬂ/ to be relevant.

4. The following are examples of items that will usuallypedsignificant elements of
disclosure concerning compensation: &

- contractual or non-contractual arrangeﬁ?‘uts, plans, process changes or
any other matters that might cause the amo & Isclosed for the most recently
completed financial year to be misleading(i&ed as an indicator of expected
compensation levels in future periods;

)
- the process for determining'pgc‘quisites and personal benefits;

- policies and decisi bout the adjustment or recovery of awards,
earnings, payments, or payab@h‘e performance goal or similar condition on which
they are based are restateS djusted to reduce the award, earning, payment, or

payable;

- the bag selecting events that trigger payment for any arrangement
that provides for nt at, following or in connection with any termination or change

of control; @

- waiver or change to any specified performance goal or similar
conditio ayout for any amount, including whether the waiver or change applied to
one grimgre specified NEOs or to all compensation subject to the performance goal or
simifgf condition;

- whether the board of directors can exercise a discretion, either to award
compensation absent attainment of the relevant performance goal or similar condition or
to reduce or increase the size of any award or payout, including if they exercised
discretion and whether it applied to one or more named executive officers;
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- whether the company will be making any significant changes to its
compensation policies and practices in the next financial year;

- the role of executive officers in determining executive compensation; and

- performance goals or similar conditions in respect of specific quantitatiye
or qualitative performance-related factors for NEOs. '\?é)

5. The following are examples of situations that could potentially encoﬂ'@ an
executive officer to expose the company to inappropriate or excessive risks;
)
- compensation policies and practices at a principal bu in(e'é unit of the
company or a subsidiary of the company that are structured significasl\/ differently than
others within the company;

- compensation policies and practices for certaj e%ﬂive officers that are
structured significantly differently than other executive oﬁ){ ithin the company;

- compensation policies and practices do not include effective risk
management and regulatory compliance as parb&\t e performance metrics used in
determining compensation; (l/

- compensation policies and prigtices where the compensation expense to
executive officers is a significant percent of the company’s revenue;

- compensation polici practices that vary significantly from the overall
compensation structure of the @’y;

licies and practices where incentive plan awards are
nt of a task while the risk to the company from that task
longer period of time;

awarded upon accomplj
extends over a signify

- C [gsation policies and practices that contain performance goals or
similar cond} that are heavily weighed to short-term rather than long-term

objectives'2
O incentive plan awards that do not provide a maximum benefit or payout
Iimi@ executive officers.

The examples above are not exhaustive and the situations to consider will vary
depending upon the nature of the company’s business and the company’s
compensation policies and practices.

2.2 Performance graph
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(@) This section does not apply to
(1) venture issuers,

(i) companies that have distributed only debt securities or non-
convertible, non-participating preferred securities to the public, and (b

(i)  companies that were not reporting issuers in any jurisdighQn™in
Canada for at least 12 calendar months before the end of their most recently ted

financial year, other than companies that became new reporting issuers as_a redult of a
restructuring transaction. (b S

(b) Provide a line graph showing the company’s cumulative\gotal shareholder
return over the 5 most recently completed financial years. that $100 was
invested on the first day of the 5-year period. If the comp s been a reporting
issuer for less than 5 years, use the period that the corﬁn as been a reporting

issuer. &

Compare this to the cumulative total r%n of at least one broad equity
market index that, to a reasonable person, woul n appropriate reference point for
the company’s return. If the company is inc in the S&P/TSX Composite Total
Return Index, use that index. In all cases, assum¢’that dividends are reinvested.

)
Discuss how the trend shoM by this graph compares to the trend in the
company’s compensation to executb@officers reported under this form over the same

period. @v

Commentary
For section 2.2, @es may also include other relevant performance goals or

similar conditions. Q_

2.3 Share-b@ nd option-based awards

Desq\Q¢ the process the company uses to grant share-based or option-based
awards_t8¢executive officers. Include the role of the compensation committee and
exec u@ officers in setting or amending any equity incentive plan under which a share-
bas&¢ or option-based award is granted. State whether previous grants are taken into
@unt when considering new grants.

2.4 Compensation governance

(2) Describe any policies and practices adopted by the board of directors to
determine the compensation for the company’s directors and executive officers.
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(2) If the company has established a compensation committee

(@) disclose the name of each committee member and, in respect of each
member, state whether or not the member is independent or not independent;

(b)  disclose whether or not one or more of the committee members has
direct experience that is relevant to his or her responsibilities in exec,&%
compensation; Q

(c) describe the skills and experience that enable the commitiee t¥ make
decisions on the suitability of the company’s compensation policies and as: and

(d) describe the responsibilities, powers and operation of te@committee.

3) If a compensation consultant or advisor has, at any t@gn‘ce the company’s
most recently completed financial year, been retained to asﬁ t e board of directors or

the compensation committee in determining compensay r any of the company’s
directors or executive officers

(a) state the name of the consultan J?\advisor and a summary of the
mandate the consultant or advisor has been gi

(b)  disclose when the consultant w‘advisor was originally retained; and

(© if the consultant or adygpr has provided any services to the company, or
to its affiliated or subsidiary er%.e, or to any of its directors or members of
management, other than or in g( n to compensation services provided for any of the
fficers,

company’s directors or execgti
0] stat@ fact and briefly describe the nature of the work,

(i) &)se whether the board of directors or compensation committee
must pre-apprgre dther services the consultant or advisor, or any of its affiliates,
provides to t pany at the request of management, and

Wor each of the two most recently completed financial year, disclose,

0] under the caption "Executive Compensation-Related Fees", the

ge ate fees billed by each consultant or advisor, or any of its affiliates, for services

ted to determining compensation for any of the company’s directors and executive
officers, and

(i) under the caption "All Other Fees", the aggregate fees billed for all
other services provided by each consultant or advisor, or any of its affiliates, that are not
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reported under subparagraph (i) and include a description of the nature of the services
comprising the fees disclosed under this category.

Commentary

For section 2.4, a director is independent if he or she would be independegt
within the meaning of section 1.4 of Regulation 52-110 respecting Audit Commi’\

(chapter V-1.1, r. 28). Q
Q o
go

ITEM 3 SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

3.1 Summary compensation table

Despite paragraph 1.3(8)(a), for each NEO in the m s?scently completed
financial year, complete this table for each of the company’s recently completed
financial years that end on or after December 31, 2008. O

£

Name and | Year | Salary Share- Option- Non-equity incenti\ﬂe\\Pension All other | Total
principal (b) (%) based based plan compensatiops ($) | value compensation | compensation
position ©) awards awards (f) N (%) (©)] %)
() (%) (%) Annual ANT | @ (h) 0]
(d) (e) incentive
plans entive
(f1) lans
A (f2)
CEO \\)‘\
CFO J~

— i
A — “Q‘
— i O§\

<t

Commentar

g:gr-subsection (1), a company is not required to disclose comparative period
dis in accordance with the requirements of either Form 51-102F6, which came

i ce on March 30, 2004, as amended, or this form, in respect of a financial year
\ g before December 31, 2008.

(2) In column (c), include the dollar value of cash and non-cash base salary an NEO
earned during a financial year covered in the table (a covered financial year). If the
company cannot calculate the amount of salary earned in a financial year, disclose this
in a footnote, along with the reason why it cannot be determined. Restate the salary
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figure the next time the company prepares this form, and explain what portion of the
restated figure represents an amount that the company could not previously calculate.

3) In column (d), disclose the dollar amount based on the fair value of the award on
the grant date for a covered financial year.

4) In column (e), disclose the dollar amount based on the fair value of the awar, ((b
the grant date for a covered financial year. Include option-based awards both gw{h™or
without tandem share appreciation rights. (1/

5) For an award disclosed in column (d) or (e), in a narrative after th%.g@e‘,'

(@) describe the methodology used to calculate the fair valukof the award on
the grant date, disclose the key assumptions and estimates us a?seach calculation,
and explain why the company chose that methodology, and é

(b) if the fair value of the award on the grar@ is different from the fair
value determined in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-ba®dd Payment (accounting fair
value), state the amount of the difference and expla}n\ft'ty reasons for the difference.

Commentary (l/Q
1. This commentary applies to subsect@g&@), (4) and (5).

2. The value disclosed in columu%((jd) and (e) of the summary compensation table
should reflect what the compan , made payable, awarded, granted, gave or
otherwise provided as compenﬁfm the grant date (fair value of the award) as set
out in comment 3, below. Ths e might differ from the value reported in the issuer's
financial statements. &

3. While comp@@n practices vary, there are generally 2 approaches that
boards of directorsgs when setting compensation. A board of directors may decide the
e

value in secupi of the company to be awarded or paid as compensation.
Alternatively %ﬁrd of directors may decide the portion of the potential ownership of
the comp be transferred as compensation. A fair value ascribed to the award will
normaﬂb t from these approaches.

A company may calculate this value either in accordance with a valuation
odology identified in IFRS 2 Share-based Payment or in accordance with another
thodology set out in comment 5 below.

4. In some cases, the fair value of the award disclosed in columns (d) and (e) might
differ from the accounting fair value. For financial statement purposes, the accounting
fair value amount is amortized over the service period to obtain an accounting cost
(accounting compensation expense), adjusted at year end as required.
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5. While the most commonly used methodologies for calculating the value of most
types of awards are the Black-Scholes-Merton model and the binomial lattice model,
companies may choose to use another valuation methodology if it produces a more
meaningful and reasonable estimate of fair value.

6. The summary compensation table requires disclosure of an amount even |N
accounting compensation expense is zero. The amount disclosed in the tableﬁ
reflect the fair value of the award following the principles described under co

and 3, above.

ts 2

7. Column (d) includes common shares, restricted shares, restrjc share units,
deferred share units, phantom shares, phantom share units, comm share equivalent
units, stock, and similar instruments that do not have option-like fs

(6) In column (e), include the incremental fair value if, at, aQy ¥me during the covered
financial year, the company has adjusted, amended, ca, replaced or significantly
modified the exercise price of options previously awafdMd to, earned by, paid to, or
payable to, an NEO. The repricing or modificati date must be determined in
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment. a@methodology used to calculate the
incremental fair value must be the same methop@y used to calculate the initial grant.

This requirement does not apply to fepricing that equally affects all holders of
the class of securities underlying the obq ns and that occurs through a pre-existing
formula or mechanism in the plan orglvard that results in the periodic adjustment of the
option exercise or base price, tidilution provision in a plan or award, or a
recapitalization or similar transac ?@

(7 Include a footnote@we table quantifying the incremental fair value of any
adjusted, amended, c , replaced or significantly modified options that are
included in the table

(8) In colu mclude the dollar value of all amounts earned for services
performed d %me covered financial year that are related to awards under non-equity
incentive %ﬁnd all earnings on any such outstanding awards.

If the relevant performance goal or similar condition was satisfied during a
cov financial year (including for a single year in a plan with a multi-year
%ormance goal or similar condition), report the amounts earned for that financial year,

n if they are payable at a later date. The company is not required to report these

amounts again in the summary compensation table when they are actually paid to an
NEO.

(b) Include a footnote describing and quantifying all amounts earned on non-
equity incentive plan compensation, whether they were paid during the financial year,
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were payable but deferred at the election of an NEO, or are payable by their terms at a
later date.

(c) Include any discretionary cash awards, earnings, payments, or payables
that were not based on predetermined performance goals or similar conditions that were
communicated to an NEO. Report any performance-based plan awards that include pyg-
determined performance goals or similar conditions in column (f).

N
(d) In column (f1), include annual non-equity incentive plan com g{ion,
such as bonuses and discretionary amounts. For column (fl), annual noM-equity
incentive plan compensation relates only to a single financial year. tmn (f2),
include all non-equity incentive plan compensation related to a perio &)her than one
year.

(9) In column (g), include all compensation relating to de{ benefit or defined
contribution plans. These include service costs and other ﬁ nsatory items such as

plan changes and earnings that are different from the ted earnings for defined
benefit plans and abovemarket earnings for defined contridition plans.

This disclosure relates to all plans that pr%&e(?or the payment of pension plan
benefits. Use the same amounts included in c (e) of the defined benefit plan table
required by Item 5 for the covered financial year ghd the amounts included in column (c)
of the defined contribution plan table as ryauired by Item 5 for the covered financial
year.

(20) In column (h), include all otl%@bmpensation not reported in any other column of
this table. Column (h) must inclu ut is not limited to:

(@) perquisites, i@ding property or other personal benefits provided to an
NEO that are not gener@ vailable to all employees, and that in aggregate are worth
$50,000 or more, or, orth 10% or more of an NEO'’s total salary for the financial
year. Value these &n the basis of the aggregate incremental cost to the company
and its subsidigsies™ Describe in a footnote the methodology used for computing the
aggregate inc%ehtal cost to the company.

g‘State the type and amount of each perquisite the value of which
exce % of the total value of perquisites reported for an NEO in a footnote to the
tabléprovide the footnote information for the most recently completed financial year

(b) other post-retirement benefits such as health insurance or life insurance
after retirement;

(c) all "gross-ups" or other amounts reimbursed during the covered financial
year for the payment of taxes;
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(d) the incremental payments, payables, and benefits to an NEO that are
triggered by, or result from, a scenario listed in section 6.1 that occurred before the end
of the covered financial year;

(e) the dollar value of any insurance premiums paid or payable by, or
behalf of, the company during the covered financial year for personal insurance fq(%
NEO if the estate of the NEO is the beneficiary; Q

() the dollar value of any dividends or other earnings paid or pagllﬁle on
share-based or option-based awards that were not factored into the gl e of the
award on the grant date required to be reported in columns (d) and (e);,

() any compensation cost for any security that the bought from the
company or its subsidiaries at a discount from the market pri e security (through

deferral of salary, bonus or otherwise). Calculate this cost ajtQeMate of purchase and in
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment; and &

(h) above-market or preferential earnings oﬁy)mpensation that is deferred on
a basis that is not tax exempt other than for def} éxcontribution plans covered in the
defined contribution plan table in Item 5. Abo rket or preferential applies to non-
registered plans and means a rate greater thame rate ordinarily paid by the company
or its subsidiary on securities or other oblmtions having the same or similar features
issued to third parties.

0] any company C(@ to a personal savings plan like a registered

retirement savings plan made gQn alf of the NEO.

Commentary @

1. Generally, the@@be no incremental payments, payables, and benefits that are
triggered by, or re om, a scenario described in section 6.1 that occurred before the
end of a coveped Ninancial year for compensation that has been reported in the
summary co ation table for the most recently completed financial year or for a
financial y: fore the most recently completed financial year.

e vesting or payout of the previously reported compensation is accelerated,

or %performance goal or similar condition in respect of the previously reported

nsation is waived, as a result of a scenario described in section 6.1, the

{sremental payments, payables, and benefits should include the value of the
accelerated benefit or of the waiver of the performance goal or similar condition.

2. Generally, an item is not a perquisite if it is integrally and directly related to the
performance of an executive officer's duties. If something is necessary for a person to
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do his or her job, it is integrally and directly related to the job and is not a perquisite,
even if it also provides some amount of personal benefit.

If the company concludes that an item is not integrally and directly related to
performing the job, it may still be a perquisite if the item provides an NEO with any
direct or indirect personal benefit. If it does provide a personal benefit, the item isa
perquisite, whether or not it is provided for a business reason or for the comp %
convenience, unless it is generally available on a non-discriminatory basi Il

employees. (1/

Companies must conduct their own analysis of whether a part] tem is a
perquisite. The following are examples of things that are often considegrederquisites or
personal benefits. This list is not exhaustive: i

- Cars, car lease and car allowance; @E

- Corporate aircraft or personal travel financg{ e company,

- Jewellery; '\fb
- Clothing; (I/Q

- Artwork; Y
,\b‘

- Housekeeping services'_\

- Club membershi@
- Theatre ticke@

- Financ @Qstance to provide education to children of executive officers;

P ki

- @rsonal financial or tax advice;

O Security at personal residence or during personal travel; and

‘$ - Reimbursements of taxes owed with respect to perquisites or other
‘Q onal benefit.

(1) In column (i), include the dollar value of total compensation for the covered
financial year. For each NEO, this is the sum of the amounts reported in columns (c)
through (h).
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(12) Any deferred amounts must be included in the appropriate column for the
covered financial year in which they are earned.

(13) If an NEO elected to exchange any compensation awarded to, earned by, paid

to, or payable to the NEO in a covered financial year under a program that allows the

NEO to receive awards, earnings, payments, or payables in another form, the

compensation the NEO elected to exchange must be reported as compensation wNée)

column appropriate for the form of compensation exchanged: Do not report it in threJo¥m

in which it was or will be received by the NEO. State in a footnote the form o(‘ll{ rds,
I

earnings, payments, or payables substituted for the compensation the NEO el&Cted to
exchange. ‘b -
3.2  Narrative discussion ~\

Describe and explain any significant factors nece Eto understand the
information disclosed in the summary compensation table re@ir by section 3.1.

Commentary &

The significant factors described in secg .2 will vary depending on the
circumstances of each award but may include: (l/

- the significant terms of @@h NEO’s employment agreement or
arrangement;

- any repricing or othe?Tgxﬁﬁcant changes to the terms of any share-based
or option-based award progra g the most recently completed financial year; and

- the significau@ﬂs of any award reported in the summary compensation
table, including a gen escription of the formula or criterion to be applied in
determining the amo?. ayable and the vesting schedule. For example, if dividends
will be paid on sh state this, the applicable dividend rate and whether that rate is
preferential.

3.3 (Re d)
3.4 Q@cers who also act as directors
If an NEO is also a director who receives compensation for services as a
ctor, include that compensation in the summary compensation table and include a
footnote explaining which amounts relate to the director role. Do not provide disclosure
for that NEO under Item 7.

ITEM 4 INCENTIVE PLAN AWARDS
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4.1 Outstanding share-based awards and option-based awards

(2) Complete this table for each NEO for all awards outstanding at the end of the
most recently completed financial year. This includes awards granted before the most
recently completed financial year. For all awards in this table, disclose the awards that
have been transferred at other than fair market value.

Option-based Awards Share-based Awards f'aN \
Name | Number of | Option Option Value of | Number | Market or et or
@ securities exercice | expiration | unexercised | of payout g@ﬁut
underlying price date in-the- shares value Qxalue of
unexercised | ($) (c) (d) money or units | share ) vested
options options of basgd share-
#) (%) shares amsds based
(b) (e) that w have | awards
have not‘\ t not paid
veste » vested out or
(#)O %) distributed
2% (9) ()
(h)
CEO O‘g
CFO N~
A O
B (1~
C y

b‘ﬂ
(2) In column (b), for each awarg, close the number of securities underlying
unexercised options.

3) In column (c), disclose&rcise or base price for each option under each
If

award reported in column (b e option was granted in a different currency than that
reported in the table, in a footnote describing the currency and the exercise or
base price.

4) In column @ gisclose the expiration date for each option under each award
reported in col (D).

S;% (e), disclose the aggregate dollar amount of in-the-money unexercised

at the end of the year. Calculate this amount based on the difference
e market value of the securities underlying the instruments at the end of the
nd the exercise or base price of the option.

ygar
g In column (f), disclose the total number of shares or units that have not vested.

(7 In column (g), disclose the aggregate market value or payout value of share-
based awards that have not vested.
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If the share-based award provides only for a single payout on vesting, calculate
this value based on that payout.

If the share-based award provides for different payouts depending on the
achievement of different performance goals or similar conditions, calculate this value
based on the minimum payout. However, if the NEO achieved a performance goal Qr
similar condition in a financial year covered by the share-based award that on ve&ﬁ%
could provide for a payout greater than the minimum payout, calculate this valu d
on the payout expected as a result of the NEO achieving this performance’&l or

similar condition.

(8) In column (h), disclose the aggregate market value or payout me of vested
share-based awards that have not yet been paid out or distributed.

4.2 Incentive plan awards — value vested or earned durir@cz year

(2) Complete this table for each NEO for the most res@ompleted financial year.

Name Option-based  awards- | Share-based awardsfbalue Non-equity incentive plan

€) Value vested during the | vested during the compensation - Value
year (%) earned during the year
() (c) Q, ()

— (b) s (d)

CFO N

A |

B ~

C Y

(2) In column (b), disclgs
if the options under the
Compute the dollar v.

he aggregate dollar value that would have been realized

-based award had been exercised on the vesting date.

at would have been realized by determining the difference

between the mark of the underlying securities at exercise and the exercise or

base price of the%tions under the option-based award on the vesting date. Do not

include the va@of any related payment or other consideration provided (or to be
ompany to or on behalf of an NEO.

provided)
(3) Qé‘mn (c), disclose the aggregate dollar value realized upon vesting of share-
bas ards. Compute the dollar value realized by multiplying the number of shares or
y the market value of the underlying shares on the vesting date. For any amount
ed upon vesting for which receipt has been deferred, include a footnote that states
the amount and the terms of the deferral.

4.3 Narrative discussion

Describe and explain the significant terms of all plan-based awards, including
non-equity incentive plan awards, issued or vested, or under which options have been
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exercised, during the year, or outstanding at the year end, to the extent not already
discussed under sections 2.1, 2.3 and 3.2. The company may aggregate information for
different awards, if separate disclosure of each award is not necessary to communicate
their significant terms.

Commentary

The items included in the narrative required by section 4.3 will vary depen@'g\)n
the terms of each plan, but may include: (1/

- the number of securities underlying each award or receive@\?esting or
exercise;

- general descriptions of formula or criteria that r?aeed to determine
amounts payable; -exercise prices and expiry dates; é

- dividend rates on share-based awards; &O

whether awards are vested or unvested,fb

N

- performance goals or similar coanl}&, or other significant conditions;

- information on estimated fufNgex payouts for non-equity incentive plan
awards (performance goals or similar coddions and maximum amounts); and

- the closing market pr the grant date, if the exercise or base price is
less than the closing market pric the underlying security on the grant date.

ITEM 5 PENSION PI@BENEFITS

5.1 Defined bene@@ns table

(2) Completgrthidtable for all pension plans that provide for payments or benefits at,
following, or } %ﬂnection with retirement, excluding defined contribution plans. For all
disclosure 4 is table, use the same assumptions and methods used for financial
stateme orting purposes under the accounting principles used to prepare the
com financial statements, as permitted by Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acc§ghtable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards.

\\% Number | Annual Opening Compensatory | Non- Closing present
of years | benefits present change compensatory | value of defined
credited | payable ($) | value of | ($) change benefit

Name | service | (c) defined (e) ()] obligation
(@) #) At At benefit Q) $)
(b) year age obligation 9)
end 65 %)
) [(c2 [(d)
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CEO

CFO

A

B

C

(2) In columns (b) and (c), the disclosure must be as of the end of the compar(y§
most recently completed financial year. In columns (d) through (g), the disclosure
be as of the reporting date used in the company's audited annual financial st @nts
for the most recently completed financial year. ?1/

(3) In column (b), disclose the number of years of service credited tq@l‘éo under
the plan. If the number of years of credited service in any plan is gliffefent from the
NEO's number of actual years of service with the company, in a footnote that
states the amount of the difference and any resulting benefit au %ation, such as the
number of additional years the NEO received.

4) In column (c), disclose &O

(@ the annual lifetime benefit payable (bhe end of the most recently
completed financial year in column (cl) based ears of credited service reported in
column (b) and actual pensionable earning at the end of the most recently
completed financial year. For purposes of this Calculation, the company must assume
that the NEO is eligible to receive payme;t\&r'benefits at year end, and

(b) the annual lifetime beﬁéﬁt payable at age 65 in column (c2) based on
years of credited service as of age\@>and actual pensionable earnings through the end
of the most recently completedeiQet¥icial year, as per column (cl).

Commentary O®

For purpose uantifying the annual lifetime benefit payable at the end of the
most recently c m&ted financial year in column (cl1), the company may calculate the
annual IifetinC efit payable as follows:

annua&s payable at the presumed X years of credited service at year end
age used to calculate the years of credited service at the

retir,
cl % present value of the defined presumed retirement age
sﬁefit obligation

The company may calculate the annual lifetime benefit payable in accordance
with another formula if the company reasonably believes that it produces a more
meaningful calculation of the annual lifetime benefit payable at year end.
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(5) In column (d), disclose the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the
start of the most recently completed financial year.

(6) In column (e), disclose the compensatory change in the present value of the
defined benefit obligation for the most recently completed financial year. This includes
service cost net of employee contributions plus plan changes and differences betwe
actual and estimated earnings, and any additional changes that have retroactive imp\
including, for greater certainty, a change in valuation assumptions as a consequemgedof
an amendment to benefit terms. q/

Disclose the valuation method and all significant assumption @‘Company
applied in quantifying the closing present value of the defined bene iti’aBligation. The
company may satisfy all or part of this disclosure by referring t: e disclosure of
assumptions in its financial statements, footnotes to the fi %al statements or
discussion in its management's discussion and analysis. é

(7 In column (f), disclose the non-compensatory cha the present value of the
defined benefit obligation for the company's most receMly completed financial year.
Include all items that are not compensatory, such a flbnges in assumptions other than
those already included in column (e) because th Bere made as a consequence of an
amendment to benefit terms, employee contritgﬁs and interest on the present value
of the defined benefit obligation at the start of¢fhe most recently completed financial

year. \b‘ﬂ
(8) In column (g), disclose the pn&ﬂnt value of the defined benefit obligation at the
end of the most recently complete(vn,a cial year.

5.2 Defined contributio table

(1) Complete this ta Or all pension plans that provide for payments or benefits at,
following or in con b with retirement, excluding defined benefit plans. For all
disclosure in this?b , use the same assumptions and methods used for financial
statement repggingd purposes under the accounting principles used to prepare the
company’s al statements, as permitted by Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptabl unting Principles and Auditing Standards.

(@) start of year %) end
($) (c) ($)
(b) (d)

V__ N
Naz‘ ) Accumulated value at | Compensatory Accumulated value at year

N
CEO

CFO
A
B
C
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(2) In column (c), disclose the employer contribution and above-market or
preferential earnings credited on employer and employee contributions. Above-market
or preferential earnings applies to non-registered plans and means a rate greater than
the rate ordinarily paid by the company or its subsidiary on securities or other
obligations having the same or similar features issued to third parties.

3) (Paragraph repealed) ,\(b

(4) In column (d), disclose the accumulated value at the end of the mos(‘l}gntly
completed financial year. Q
4

Commentary

pension; and (ii) the accumulated value of a defined contrib nsion, companies
should disclose the global value of the pension plan in th etved beneflt plans table
under section 5.1.

1. For pension plans that provide the maximum of: (i) the va!u a defined benefit

For pension plans that provide the sum of med benefit component and a
defined contribution component, companies sho% close the respective components
of the pension plan. The defined benefit comp should be disclosed in the defined
benefit plans table under section 5.1 and the d ed contribution component should be
disclosed in the defined contribution plans tWa under section 5.2.

2. Any contributions by the con’u%ﬂly or a subsidiary of the company to a personal
savings plan like a registered retir savings plan made on behalf of the NEO must
still be disclosed in column (r@ﬁe summary compensation table, as required by
paragraph 3.1(10)(i).
5.3 Narrative discu5@§

Describe arétylain for each retirement plan in which an NEO participates, any
significant factges Mecessary to understand the information disclosed in the defined
benefit plan %ﬂ section 5.1 and the defined contribution plan table in section 5.2.

Comm

Slgnificant factors described in the narrative required by section 5.3 will vary, but

@k

- the significant terms and conditions of payments and benefits available
under the plan, including the plan’s normal and early retirement payment, benefit
formula, contribution formula, calculation of interest credited under the defined
contribution plan and eligibility standards;
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- provisions for early retirement, if applicable, including the name of the
NEO and the plan, the early retirement payment and benefit formula and eligibility
standards. Early retirement means retirement before the normal retirement age as
defined in the plan or otherwise available under the plan;

- the specific elements of compensation (e.g., salary, bonus) included |
applying the payment and benefit formula. If a company provides this informa’i\
identify each element separately; and Q

- company policies on topics such as granting extra years_of ®edited
service, including an explanation of who these arrangements relate to a?@}? they are

considered appropriate. 4

5.4 Deferred compensation plans

Describe the significant terms of any deferred compe $ plan relating to each
NEO, including: &6

(@) the types of compensation that can b%i%rred and any limitations on the
extent to which deferral is permitted (by percenta% compensation or otherwise);

(b)  significant terms of payouts, With(s:lm/als and other distributions; and

)
(c) measures for calculating infsggt or other earnings, how and when these
measures may be changed, and ether an NEO or the company chose these
measures. Quantify these measur erever possible.

ITEM 6 TERMINATIO;;A CHANGE OF CONTROL BENEFITS

6.1 Termination and@ ge of control benefits

(1) For each ccgrI t, agreement, plan or arrangement that provides for payments to
an NEO at, fgllodng or in connection with any termination (whether voluntary,
i tructive), resignation, retirement, a change in control of the company
an NEO'’s responsibilities, describe, explain, and where appropriate,
llowing items:

(a the circumstances that trigger payments or the provision of other benefits,
@ Ing perquisites and pension plan benefits;

(b) the estimated incremental payments, payables, and benefits that are

triggered by, or result from, each circumstance, including timing, duration and who
provides the payments and benefits;
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(c) how the payment and benefit levels are determined under the various
circumstances that trigger payments or provision of benefits;

(d)  any significant conditions or obligations that apply to receiving payments
or benefits. This includes but is not limited to, non-compete, non-solicitation, non-
disparagement or confidentiality agreements. Include the term of these agreements apd
provisions for waiver or breach; and ,\B,)

(e) any other significant factors for each written contract, agreemer“q/ n or
arrangement.
)

(2) Disclose the estimated incremental payments, payables, and b n‘ehs even ifitis
uncertain what amounts might be paid in given circumstances und e various plans
and arrangements, assuming that the triggering event took plage the last business
day of the company’s most recently completed financial year.@s aluing share-based
awards or option-based awards, use the closing markgh pNce of the company’s
securities on that date. &

If the company is unsure about the provision dr’gmount of payments or benefits,
make a reasonable estimate (or a reasonable ¢ lhm e of the range of amounts) and
disclose the significant assumptions underlyin estimates.

3) Despite subsection (1), the company& Kot required to disclose the following:

(@) Perquisites and oth personal benefits if the aggregate of this
compensation is less than $50, State the individual perquisites and personal
benefits as required by paragr 1(10)(a).

(b) Information @t possible termination scenarios for an NEO whose
employment terminatetq the past year. The company must only disclose the
consequences of the termination.

(© In rgtion in respect of a scenario described in subsection (1) if there will
be no incre payments, payables, and benefits that are triggered by, or result
from, thatﬁ)rio.

Com ary
Subsection (1) does not require the company to disclose notice of termination
Nhout cause, or compensation in lieu thereof, which are implied as a term of an
employment contract under common law or civil law.

2. Item 6 applies to changes of control regardless of whether the change of control
results in termination of employment.
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3. Generally, there will be no incremental payments, payables, and benefits that are
triggered by, or result from, a scenario described in subsection (1) for compensation
that has been reported in the summary compensation table for the most recently
completed financial year or for a financial year before the most recently completed
financial year.

If the vesting or payout of the previously reported compensation is acceler tga)
or a performance goal or similar condition in respect of the previously r %ﬁd
compensation is waived, as a result of a scenario described in subsectior(‘ﬁ the
incremental payments, payables, and benefits should include the value Yof the
accelerated benefit or of the waiver of the performance goal or similar co .

4, A company may disclose estimated incremental paymeﬁt-k payables and

benefits that are triggered by, or result from, a scenario describe bsection (1), in a
tabular format.

ITEM 7 DIRECTOR COMPENSATION &O
7.1 Director compensation table '\(b

(2) Complete this table for all amounts of ¢ nsation provided to the directors for
the company’s most recently completed financialifear.

Nal

Name Fees Share- Option;\ Non-equity Pension | All other | Total
€) earned based base incentive plan | value compensation | ($)
($) awards aw compensation | (%) ($) ()
(b) (%) ( ($) (f) (9)
(€) g) (e)
N
A n\
B N
C o
5 - v<v
E &

(2) AIQ,SZof compensation must be included in this table.

(3) anlete each column in the manner required for the corresponding column in
the sSMmmary compensation table in section 3.1, in accordance with the requirements of
\ 3, as supplemented by the commentary to Item 3, except as follows:

(@) In column (a), do not include a director who is also an NEO if his or her
compensation for service as a director is fully reflected in the summary compensation
table and elsewhere in this form. If an NEO is also a director who receives
compensation for his or her services as a director, reflect the director compensation in
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the summary compensation table required by section 3.1 and provide a footnote to this
table indicating that the relevant disclosure has been provided under section 3.4.

(b) In column (b), include all fees awarded, earned, paid, or payable in cash
for services as a director, including annual retainer fees, committee, chair, and meeting

fees.
'?:b

(c) In column (g), include all compensation paid, payable, awarded, d,
given, or otherwise provided, directly or indirectly, by the company, or a suba:@y of

the company, to a director in any capacity, under any other arrangement. This if€ludes,
for greater certainty, all plan and non-plan compensation, direct an @h’rect pay,
remuneration, economic or financial award, reward, benefit, gift o uisite paid,
payable awarded, granted, given, or otherwise provided to the dﬁlgtor for services
provided, directly or indirectly, to the company or a subsidiary, e company. In a
footnote to the table, disclose these amounts and describe t ure of the services
provided by the director that are associated with these amoyk{s.

(d) In column (g), include programs Where't& company agrees to make
donations to one or more charitable institutions in ctor's name, payable currently
or upon a designated event such as the retirem@w death of the director. Include a
footnote to the table disclosing the total dollar aq/ t payable under the program.

7.2 Narrative discussion '\b‘s

Describe and explain any_ffctors necessary to understand the director
compensation disclosed in section?].,

Commentary

Significant factor@ﬁbed in the narrative required by section 7.2 will vary, but

may include: Q_
di I(gJ

- re for each director who served in that capacity for any part of the
most recentlt:) leted financial year;

- Q%tandard compensation arrangements, such as fees for retainer,
com‘%i service, service as chair of the board or a committee, and meeting
atteNgance;

e - any compensation arrangements for a director that are different from the

standard arrangements, including the name of the director and a description of the
terms of the arrangement; and
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- any matters discussed in the compensation discussion and analysis that
do not apply to directors in the same way that they apply to NEOs such as practices for
granting option-based awards.

7.3 Share-based awards, option-based awards and non-equity incentive plan
compensation

Provide the same disclosure for directors that is required under Item 4 for @3

ITEM 8 COMPANIES REPORTING IN THE UNITED STATES (1/
)

8.1 Companies reporting in the United States (b

(1) SEC issuers may satisfy the requirements of this@by providing the

information required by Item 402 "Executive compensation” gulation S-K under
the 1934 Act. O

(2)  Subsection (1) does not apply to a company tHaM\as a foreign private issuer,
satisfies Item 402 of Regulation S-K by providing th ormation required by Items 6.B
"Compensation” and 6.E.2 "Share Ownership" of 0-F under the 1934 Act.

ITEM 9 EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSQON

o

(1) This form comes into force ~&cember 31, 2008.

9.1 Effective date

(2)  This form applies to c%any in respect of a financial year ending on or after
December 31, 2008. é

9.2 Transition Q_O

(2) Form 51-@0 6, which came into force on March 30, 2004, as amended,

(@) G,des not apply to a company in respect of a financial year ending on or
after De Qrber 31, 2008, and
Q@ for greater certainty, applies to a company that is required to prepare and
g’!;gxecutive compensation disclosure because

(1) the company is sending an information circular to a securityholder
under paragraph 9.1(2)(a) of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. 24), the information circular includes the disclosure
required by Item 8 of Form 51-102F5, and the information circular is in respect of a
financial year ending before December 31, 2008, or
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(i) the company is filing an AlF that includes the disclosure required by
Item 8 of Form 51-102F5, in accordance with Item 18 of Form 51-102F2, and the AIF is
in respect of a financial year ending before December 31, 2008.

(2) A company that is required to prepare and file executive compensati
disclosure for a reason set out in paragraph (1)(b) may satisfy that requiremer)(%
preparing and filing the disclosure required by this form.

M.O. 2008-18, s. 12; Erratum, 2009, G.O. 2, 55; M.O. 2010-17, s. 32; M.O. 2¥11-05,

|2

v
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TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS
M.O. 2010-17, 2010 G.O. 2, 3918

35. This Regulation only applies to documents required to be prepared, filed,
delivered or sent under Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations for periods relating to financial years beginning on or after January 1, 201}5

However, an issuer may apply the amendments set out in this Regulatiogo Il
documents required to be prepared, filed, delivered or sent under Regulatio(l{ 2102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for periods relating to a financial y€ar that
begins before January 1, 2011 if the immediately preceding financiag%r“ends no
earlier than December 21, 2010 and if the issuer is relying on the @xemption in
section 5.3 of Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Accounés& Principles and

Auditing Standards. ?~

TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS &
M.O. 2011-05, 2011 G.O. 2, 3006 '\(b

4. This Regulation only applies to doc @s required to be prepared, filed,
delivered or sent under Regulation 51-10%” respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations for periods relating to financial Wrs ending on or after October 31, 2011.

TRANSITIONAL PROVISION&
1

M.O. 2012-05, 2011 G.O. 2,

5. The effect of this lation applies only to documents required to be prepared,
filed, delivered or der Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations for pe&laﬂng to a financial year ending on or after April 20, 2012; for
documents reguireddto be prepared, filed, delivered or sent under that Regulation for
periods relat'&o’a financial year ending before April 20, 2012, the provisions of that

Regulatioa’ ce on April 19, 2012 apply.

—QQ—

ANSITIONAL PROVISIONS
M.O. 2013-01, 2013 G.O. 2, 248

8. Despite section 9.1.1 of the Regulation, as enacted by section 5, a person must

not use notice-and-access to send proxy-related materials to a registered holder of
voting securities of a reporting issuer in respect of a meeting of the reporting issuer that
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takes place before March 1, 2013.

9. A reporting issuer must not rely on section 9.1.5 of the Regulation, as enacted by
section 5, in respect of a meeting that takes place before February 15, 2013.

Decision 2005-PDG-0113, 2005-05-09 Q
Bulletin de 'Autorité: 2005-06-03, Vol. 2 n° 22 (1/
M.O. 2005-03, 2005 G.O. 2, 1507

Erratum: 2005 G.O. 2, 3727 (.bQ .

Amendments

Decision 2005-PDG-0360, 2005-11-15 &

Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2005-12-16, Vol. 2 n° 50
M.O. 2005-25, 2005 G.O. 2, 5221 &O

Decision 2006-PDG-0218, 2006-12-12 0y
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2007-01-05, Vol. 4 n° 1 N
M.O. 2006-04, 2006 G.O. 2, 4125 Q/Q

Decision 2007-PDG-0208, 2007-11-30 ¢ »
Bulletin de '‘Autorité: 2008-01-11, Vol. 5 AR
M.O. 2007-08, 2007 G.O. 2, 4091

Decision 2008-PDG-0058, 2008- 25
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2008-03-1 ol.5n° 10
M.O. 2008-06, 2008 G.O.

Decision 2008-PDG-#008-06-10
Bulletin de I'Autori% 08-07-04, Vol. 5 n° 26
M.O. 2008-10,@ .0. 2, 2569

Decision _PDG-0260, 2008-11-17
Bulletin dfd™utorité: 2008-12-12 Vol. 5 n ° 49
M.0.,2003-17, 2008 G.O. 2, 5482

ision 2008-PDG-0255, 2008-11-20
lletin de I'Autorité: 2008-12-19, Vol. 5 n ° 50
M.O. 2008-18, 2008 G.O. 2, 5493 Erratum: 2009 G.O. 2, 55

%

Decision 2009-PDG-0118, 2009-09-04
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2009-09-25, Vol. 6 n ° 38
M.O. 2009-05, 2009 G.O. 2, 3362A
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Decision 2010-PDG-0216, 2010-11-22
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2010-12-17, Vol. 7 n° 50
M.O. 2010-17, 2010 G.0O. 2, 3918

Decision 2011-PDG-0070, 2011-05-30
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2011-07-01, Vol. 8 n° 26 '\(b

A.M. 2011-02, 2011 G.O. 2, 1418 Q
Decision 2011-PDG-0145, 2011-09-20 (1/
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2011-10-28, Vol. 8 n° 43 Q o
A.M. 2011-05, 2011 G.O. 2, 3006 (b

Decision 2012-PDG-0037 — 2012-03-01 ?:\
Bulletin de I'Autorité : 2012-04-20, Vol. 9 n° 16 @
M.O. 2012-05, 2012 G.0O. 2, 1171 O
Decision 2013-PDG-0234 — 2012-12-20 &

Bulletin de I'Autorité : 2013-02-07, Vol. 10 n° 5 (b

M.O. 2013-01, 2013 G.O. 2, 248 N

Decision 2013-PDG-0052 — 2013-04-03 (1/

Bulletin de I’Autorité : 2013-05-09, Vol. 10 rbg.?(
M.O. 2013-04, 2013 G.0O. 2, 1152
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